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Dear Shareholders,

I closed last year's annual letter to shareholders by
stating our belief that 2006 would be a vear marked
by extreme challenges in the winter, due to high
energy costs, followed by the chance for earnings
improvement over the second half of the year. We
certainly experienced the challenges, as extraordi-
narily high natural gas prices caused by hurricanes
Katrina and Rita cost us $11 million more than in
the winter of 2004/2005. But we came through
these months in good financial shape, and managed
to reduce net debt by $29 miilion in the first six

months of the year.

Then we started making the higher earnings we
expected as we moved into the second half of the
year. We made $.30 per share in the third quarter,
as natural gas costs returned to pre-Katrina and
Rita levels and all of our paperboard mills capiral-
ized on our investments of the last few years and
began earning consistent profits. Then we carned
$.57 per share in the fourth quarter, far eclipsing
our Company’s previous record of §.45 per share

back in 1996, as the hard work our emplovees have

JAMES A. RUBRIGHT

Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

done across our businesses bore fruit as energy costs
moderated, our operating performance improved

]

and conditions in our recycled paperboard and

display businesses improved.

We have started out fiscal 2007 seeing strong
demand for all of our products and, most impor-
tantly, what we believe to be a new paradigm
emerging in our paperboard business. During the
extended period of time from the 1970s through
ic mid-1990s when our Company consistently
grew and prospered, industry conditions generally
favored manufacturers of recycled paperboard.
Beginning with the acquisition of our Chattanooga
uncoated specialty mill in 1973, we grew in the mill
business to 12 recycled mills with annual capacity

of over 1.2 million tons.

But in the late 1990s, industry conditions shifted to
an extended period when supply outstripped demand,
which brought about a corresponding long period of
reducing margins. Despite the tireless efforts of our

employees to increase our productivity and reduce
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our costs, and our substantial capital investments in
our physical assets, the profitability of our recycled
mills declined, hitting a low point in the winter of
2005/2006 when energy prices shot through the
roof. Fortunately, free markets tend to work over
time and the paperboard supply-demand balance

has swung around to our favor.

We first saw a shift in favor of uncoated specialty
grades (which we define to exclude integrated
tube and core capacity and gypsum linerboard)
where the 2000-2001 recession and the
globalization of much of the supply and use of
uncoated recycled paperboard stressed conditions
beyond the breaking point. In those two years,
16% of United States uncoated recycled paper-
board mill capacity closed for lack of business. With
stabilizing demand and our low cost structures, our
uncoated mills have again become consistent, good
performers for Rock-Tenn, and this performance
continued in the last half of fiscal 2006. The next
paperboard grade to right itself was bleached paper-
board, where growth in demand, including demand
for exports and substitution for high-cost plastics
products, has resulted in high operating rates and
improved pricing for the last several years. We
capitalized on this trend when we acquired the
425,000-ton-per-year Demopolis mill in June 2005
as part of our Gulf States acquisition, about which
more follows below. In addition, published index
pricing for corrugated medium increased $130
per ton in September 2006 over September 2005
on strengthening demand for container board. In
fiscal 2006, we produced 181,000 rons of corrugated

medium at our St. Paul, Minnesota mill.

Through June 2006, coated recycled paperboard

(used mainly in folding cartons) remained troubled.
Onr five coated recycled mills with 575,000 tons of
annual capacity lost money in the first half of fiscal
2006, running at 91% of capacity and suffering
from hurricane-induced high natural gas prices.
This was in spite of the fact that we run low-cost
mills, produce a broad variety of grades, serve a
diverse customer base and have very high customer
satisfaction. Then market forces finally caught up to
coated recycled paperboard and four mills with 11%
of North America’s coated recycled capacity closed
in the months of December 2005, June 2006 and
August 2006. The result? Rock-Tenn's coated recy-
cled mills ran effectively at capacity in the three
months ending September 2006, and again in
October 2006, and we expect them to run at very
high operating rates for the foreseeable future.

The result of all these factors is that our realized
pricing for all paperboard and pulp grades increased
$38 per ton from the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006
over the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005. Thirty-cight
dollars per ton turns inte a lot of dollars when you

make 1,461,000 tons, as our Company did last year.

We believe that the current market conditions for
paperboard can continue for a long, indefinite time,
because of the permanent reduction of supply and
because demand for folding cartons, the critical
paperboard grade for Rock-Tenn, has continued

to increase, albeit at a low GDP minus rate, for

a long time. There are risks, to be sure. For one
thing, the United States economy could slow down

or contract — and with it demand for food and




{1 Rock-Tenn offers a variety of cup and canister sizes and shapes for
frozen product applications. § 2 § Rock-Tenn supplies Haagen-Dazs® ice
cream and frozen novelty packaging in the U.S.
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{1 {lin 2006, Alliance assisted with Procter & Gamble's launch of the Gillette®
Fusion® razor — one of the largest and most successful new product introduc-
tions ever. ]2 JJAlliance developed 34 different Gillette® Fusion® display
designs and produced more than 100000 units to satisfy a wide variety of
retail needs. -
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AVERAGE DAILY
TRADING VOLUME**

STOCK PRICE*

INSTITUTIONAL
OWNERSHIP***

(in dollars) (in thousands of shares} (in percent of shares outstanding)
19.80 218 655
: 57
15-74 15.10 52 ]
102
64
L | L L L L
2004 2005 2006 2004 2005 2006 ' 2004 ) 2005 " 2006

*At September 30

consumer non-durables could decline. Rapidly
expanding Asian paperboard capacity could outstrip
Asia’s economic growth and Asian economies also
could falter, making U.S. markets attractive to Asian
exporters. This in turn would put pressure on domestic
producers, notwithstanding the high costs of trans-
porting Astan paperboard across the Pacific to

American markets.

Rock-Tenn’s strategy to meet these threats is the
same one that has led to the current period of
profitability. Qur employees are relentless in their
devotion to exceed our customers’ expectations every
time they deal with us. They are relentless about pro-
ducing high quality paperboard at low cost, and then
reducing those costs each year — ever mindful that it
is the high-cost mills that they have watched close
around them throughout the last years of stress.

And Rock-Tenn's employees know that we will

“Yuly 1 through September 30

v At fiscal year end
& From most recent filings,
as of November 29, 2006

[invest in the assets they operate to give them the

competitive advantage they need to succeed.

Rock-Tenn also has 7,000 employees who work in
our folding carton, partition, merchandising display
and corrugared packaging businesses, They share the
same passion and relentless commitment to customer
‘satisfaction as our paperboard employees ~ and they
also achieved strong performance in 2006, particu-

larly in the June and September quarters.

Our folding carton plants recorded record sales

of $1.1 billion in fiscal 2006, outpacing industry
growth of 1.9%. Driven by strong demand, low
Icosts and by the June 2005 acquisition of the

11 Gulf States’ folding carton plants and three
Caraustar partition plants in February 2006, Pack-
aging Products segment operating income increased
$11.6 million over fiscal 2005. As we planned when

wh
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we made those acquisitions, we closed three folding
carton plants and one partition plant, which we
needed to do to get critical plant sales volumes and
capacity utilization up where we need them to be.
What we did not plan for was that we would retain
all of the Gulf States folding carton business and
that it would grow strongly as it did, putting severe
stress on our employees to meet the increased
demands. We did expect to experience some oper-
ating inefliciencies while we put in place our capital
plans to support the increased business demands,

but those inefficiencies cost us more than we

FOLDING CARTON - BIO-PAK®:

GSD Packaging, of which Rock-Tenn owns 60%,
produces take-out containers that cater to any-
thing from leftovers to full-meal entrees. Fold-Pak®
food pails are the predominant package for
Chinese takeout, SMARTServ™ containers are

a versatile package for all types of takeout and

Bio-Pak® containers are upscale packages for the

foadservice and grocery industries. GSD products
are consumer friendly, stack well and offer leak

resistance and minimal heat loss. All have unique
closures that eliminate the need for separate lids.
GSD has locatiens in Fresno, California, Celumbus,

Georgia, and Hazletan, Pennsylvania.

expected — several million dollars of lost operating
margins in fiscal 2006. Those inefficiencies and
LIFO charges of $2.5 million in the Packaging
Products segment in fiscal 2006 masked a lot of the
solid operating gains we achieved in our plants. By
the end of 2007 we will have up and running over
$19 million in Gulf States acquisition-related capital
projects in our folding carton plants that will elimi-
nate bottlenecks, reduce overall costs and generally
let our employees see the benefit of their efforts in

further improving results.




The key drivers to income growth in the packaging
sector are the same commitment to customer
satisfaction that forms the basis of our Company’s
culture, a very well invested and diverse plant net-
work and our dedication to achieving operational
excellence in all of our plants. With 26 folding car-
ton plants acquired in many different acquisitions,
we are focused on standardizing and optimizing all
of our common processes. We believe that with
this focus we can significantly reduce our operating

costs in 2007 and for years to come.

Our Merchandising Displays segment also strug-
‘glcd over the first half of 2006 as demand slackened

from many of our core customers. Only great efforts

'to secure new customers and introduce new innova-

tive displays enabled our employees to achieve a
modest sales increase of $6.9 million over 2005 and |
hold to a small income decline to $16.4 million

from $17.6 million in fiscal 2005. Both our display
business and our corrugated packaging business
should benefit in 2007 from higher selling prices

and, particularly in our display business, from

mmmmmmﬁm

§ 1§ GSD Packaging’s Sonoma Big-Pak® container is
the take-home package of choice for fine-dining
restaurants. ff 2 f/ Bio-Pak® containers are available
in classic white, black, Kraft and two upscale

prints, Napa and Scnoma.
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strengthening demand and new product ofterings
like theft-deterrent displays and global brand man-

agement services,

The ﬁr’lancia] results of the Guif States acquisition,
which we closed in June 2005, have been excellent.
In last year’s letter, [ stated our belief that the acqui-
sition would add earnings of $.50 to 8.55 per share
in fiscal 2006. Although after-the-fact accretion
analysis requires numerous judgments, because over
time you start to scramble the egg, as we certainly
did with this acquisition, our best estimate is that
the acquisition added $.53 per share to earnings

in fiscal 2006. Significantly, we do not think the
acquisition has run out of steam. First of all, there

is plenty of room for improvement in the operating
performa;lce of the bleached paperboard mill.

We have a new team of leaders committed to
empowering a very capable and dedicated team

of high performers in the miil. Second, mill opera-
tions improved greatly in the second half of fiscal
2006, compared to the first half. We also expect

net synergies in the acquired folding carton business
to increase as the acquisition-related capital takes
hold and our employees have time to wring out
some current operating inefficiencies. In fact, we
now expect full run rate acquisition synergies of

835 million compared to the $20 million we

announced in June 2005.

Although our recycled paperboard businesses are
performing much better than we expected when
we decided to acquire the Gulf States assets in

2005, we still think we will benefit over the long

term from our decision to add a virgin bleached
paperboard mill to our system. As we have acknowl-
edged many times, the recycled paperboard business
relies on the availability and cost of recycled fiber
and our mills are heavily dependent on natural gas
for process energy. Bleached paperboard is made
from trees, and you get about 70% of your energy
requirements as a waste stream when you debark,
chip and pulp the logs. The net result is that the
input costs of recycled and virgin paperboard are

subject to different and non-correlated input risks.

The happy circumstance for our sharcholders is that
both grades are performing well now, with good
industry fundamentals and well invested assets. But
over the long term, our Company's overall risk
position is lower due to the diversification we have

achieved across multiple paperboard grades.

We have about 246 home office and division staff
employees, whose jobs, like mine, are to serve our
plant employees, who are the ones who make our
products, and our money. Last year 1 wrote that we
expected to undertake a major process overhaul to
simplify and reduce the costs of our financial pro-
cesses. | believed at the time that replacing our
aging financial software system with a modern ERP
solution would be the best way to drive change
and to quickly move to a more efficient state. After
a lot of work and planning, we decided that we
could achieve a better end result, with less cost and
less risk, along with more cost savings early on, by
artacking our financial processes first and deferring

the systemn change to a later stage in the process,
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In 2006 we began centralizing a number of financial
functions, standardizing others, implementing
software features already embedded in the systems
we use and improving the most deficient of our
financial processes, These initial efforts have created
results and our costs are down and the reliability
of our data is up. We reduced Sarbanes-Oxley com-
pliance costs alone by $3 million. We reduced
administrative and I'T staffing levels by 27 people at
year-end, and this was after absorbing 12 plants
and $500 million in sales from the Gulf States acqui-

sition without increasing the home office

administrative staff by as much as one person. Our
financial process improvement efforts are a multiz
year journey with much of the work ahead, but we
have demonstrated that we can reduce the costs of
serving our plants at the same time as we Improve

the service we give them — and we believe that there

is much more we can do.

It is nice to conclude this letter with our earnings
up, our stock price up as well, and the new year
starting out strong. It causes me to reflect on all the

hard work and dedication of the 9,500 employees

of Rock-Tenn Company that have put our
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" PART I l

ltem 1. BUSINESS o

Unless the context otherwise requires, “we,” “us,” “our” or “Rock-Tenn” refers to the business of Rock-Tenn

Company and its consolidated subsidiaries, including RTS Packaging, LLC( “RTS”)and GSD Packaging, LLC,
(“GSD.”) We own 65% of RTS and conduct our interior packaging business through RTS. We own 60% of GSD and
conduct some of our folding carton operations through GSD. These terms do not include Seven Hills Paperboard,
LLC (“Seven Hills.”). We own 49% of Seven Hills, a manufacturer of gypsum paperboard liner, which we do not
consolidate. All references in the accompanying financial statements and this Annual Report 1o data regarding sales
price per ton and fiber, energy, chemical and freight costs with respect to our recycled paperboard mills excludes
that data with respect to our Aurora, lllinois, recycled paperboard mitl, which sells only converted products which
would not be muterial. All other references herein to operating data with respect to our recvcled paperboard mills,
including, tons data and capacity urrhzanon rates, includes operarmgl data from our Aurora mill,
. A L . [ .

General" , R ‘

‘We are pnmanly a manufacturer of packagmg products, paperboard and merchandmmg dlsplays We operate a
total of 92 facilities Iocaled in 26 states, Canada, Mexico, Chile and Argentma

Products . e . ' E t

We repon our results.of operauons in four segmems (1) Packaging Products, (2) Paperboard, (3) Merchan-
dising Displays, and (4) Corrugaled For segment financial information, see’ltem '8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.” For non-US financial mformatlon operations, see “Note 19. Segment Informauon” of the
Notes to Consolldaled Financial Sla[ements

Packaging Pmducrs Segment

1

In our Packaging Products segment we manufacture folding cartons and solid fiber-interior packaging.

Folding Cartons. 'We believe we are one of the’ largest manufacturers of folding cartons in North America’
measured by net sales. Customers use our folding cartons to package dry, froZen and perishable foods for the retail
sale and quick-serve markets; beverages; paper goods; automotive products; hardware; health care and nutritional

food supplement products; household goods; healthcare and beauty aids; recreauonal products; apparel; and other
~ preducts. We also manufacture express mail enve]opes for the ovemlghl courier industry. Folding cartons typlcally
protect customers’ products during shtpment ‘and, dlsmbuuon and employ graphics to promote them at retail: We
manufacture folding cartons from- recycled and v1rgm paperboard lamlnated paperboard and various substrates
wrth specrally characteristics such as grease maskmg and microwaveability.. We print, coat, die-cut and glue the
paperboard to customer specifications. We ship ﬁmshed cartons to customers for assembling, filling and sealing.
We employ a broad range of offset, flexographic, gravure -backside pnntmg, and double coaung technologies, We
support our customers with new product development graphic demgn and packaging systems seivices. Three of ouf
plants are part of the GSD joint venture that manufactires take-out food products. Sales of folding cartons to
external customers accounled for 51 9% 49 1%, and 48. 8% of our net sales in fiscal 2006 2005, and 2004,
respectively.

{nterior Packaging. Our-subsidiary, RTS, designs and manufactures fiber partitions and die—cut paperboard
components. We believe we are the largest manufacturer of solid fiber partitions in North America measured by net
sales. We sell our solid fiber partitions principally to glass container manufacturers and producers of beer, food,
wine, cosmetics and pharmaceiticals. We also mamifacture specialty agricultural packaging for specific fruit and
vegetable markets and sheeted separation products. We manufacture solid fiber interior packaging primarily from
recycled paperboard. Our solid fiber intefior packaging is made from varying thicknesses of single ply and
laminated paperboard to meet different structural requirements, mcludmg those required for high speed-casing, de-
casing and filling lines. We employ pnmanly proprietary manufacturing equipment developed by our engineering
services group. This equipment delivers high-speed production and rapid turnaround on large jobs and specialized
capabilities for short-run, custom applications. RTS operates in. United States, Canada, Mexico, Chile, and

<
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Argentina. Sales of interior packaging products to external customers accounted for 7.3%, 8.0%, and 8.4% of our
net sales in fiscal 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. ‘ '

Paperboard Segment

In our Paperboard segmem we produce virgin and recycled paperboard corrugated medlum and market pulp,
and buy and sell recycled fiber.

Paperboard. ' We believe we are one - of the largest U.S. manufacturers of 100% recycled paperboard

“measured by tons produced. We sell our coated and specialty recycled paperboard to manufacturers of folding

cartons, solid fiber interior packaging, wbes and cores, and other paperboard products. We manufacture bleached

“papérboard and market pulp. We believe our bleached pap_r;rboard 'mill'is one of the lowest cost solid bleached
sulphate paperboard mills in North America because of cost advantages achieved through:original designiprocess,

flow, retative age of its recovery boiler and hardwood pulp line replaced in the early*1990s and access to-hardwood
and softwood fiber. We also manufacture recycled corrugated:-medium, which we sell to corrugated sheet
manufacturers. Through our Seven Hills joint venture we manufacture gypsum paperboard liner for sale to our
joint venture partner. We also convert specialty paperboard into book cover and laminated paperboard products for
use in furniture, automotive components, storage, and other industrial products. Sales of pulp, paperboard, recycled
corrugated medium, book covers, and laminated paperboard products to external customers accounted for 21.5%,
19.7%, and 19.0% of our net sales in fiscal 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectwely

Recycled Fiber. Qur paper. recovery facilities collect prlmanly waste paper from factories, warehouses,
commercial printers, office complexes, retail stores, document storage facilities, and paper converters, and from
other wastepaper collectors. We handle a wide variety of grqde_é of recovered paper, including old corrugated
containers, office paper, box clippings, newspaper and print shop scraps. After sorting and baling, we transfer
collected paper to our paperboard mills for processing, or sell it, principally to U.S. manufacturers of paperboard,
tissue, newsprint, roofing products and insulation. We also operate a fiber marketing and brokerage group that
serves large regional and national accounts. Sales of recovered paper to external customers accounted for 2.8%,

4.1%, and 4.0% of our net sales in fiscal 2006, 2003, and 2004, respectively.

© Merchandising Display:? Segment -

We manufacture temporary and permanent point-of-purchase dlsplays We beheve that we are one of the
largest manufacturers of temporary promotional point-of-purchase displays in North America measured by net
sales. We design, manufacture and, in most cases, pack temporary displays for sale to consumer products
companies. These displays are used as marketing tools to support new product introductions and specific product
promotions in mass merchandising stores, supermarkets, convenience stores, home improvement stores and other
retail locations. We also design, manufacture and, in some cases, pre-assemble permanent'clisplays for the same
categones of ‘customers. We make temporary displays primarily from corrugated paperboard. Unlike temporary
displays. permanent displays are restocked and, therefore, are constructed primarily from metal, plastic, wood and
other durable materials. We provide contract packing services such as multi-product promotional packing. We
manufacture lithographic laminated packaging for sale to our customers that require packaging with high quality
graphics and strength characteristics. Sales of our merchandlsmg displays, lithographic laminated packaging and
contract packaging services to external customers accounted for 10.9%, 13.1%, and 15.0% of our net sales in ﬁscal
2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. . L . ’

Corrugated Segment .
* LS .

We manufacture corrugated packaging for sale to industrial and consumer products-manufacturers and
corrugated sheet stock for sale to corrugated box manufacturers located primarily in the southeastern United States.
To make corrugated sheet stock; we feed linerboard and corrugated medium into a corrugator that flutes the medium
to- specified sizes, glues the linerboard and fluted medium together and slits and cuts the resulting corrugated
paperboard into sheets to customer specifications. We also convert corrugated sheets into corrugated products
ranging from one-color protective cartons to graphically brilliant point-of-purchase containers and displays. We

4




T
S o .o o [
b - . . ) I v
! l
f provrde structuraI desrgn and engmeemng services. Sales of corruga' d packaging and sheet stock to external
. customers accoumed for 5.6%, 6 O% and 4. 8% of our net sales in fi scal 2006 2005 and 2004, respecuvely
- . ' - . ' - l
Raw Materials P ‘ ' |

The pnmary raw materrals that our paperboard operauons use are recycled fi ber-at our recycled paperboard

" mills and virgin fibers from hardwoods and softwoods at our bleached paperboard mill. The average cost per ton of

recycled fiber that our recycled paperboard mills used during fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $88, $102, and $98,
respectively. Recycled fiber prices can fluctuate significantly, ‘While virgin fiber prices are generally more stable
than recycled fiber prices, they also fluctuate, particularly during prolonged periods of heavy rain. Pursuant to a five
year agreement entered into in June 2005, Gulf States Paper Corporation (“Gulf States”, currently known as the
Westervelt Company) has essentially agreed to continue to sell to our bleached paperboard mill the supply of soft
wood chips that it made available to the mill before our acquisition of Gulf States in June 2005 (the “GSPP
Acquisition™), which represents approximately 75% to 80% of the mill’s historical soft wood chip supply
requirements and 30% of the mill’s total wood fiber supply requirement.

Recycled and virgin paperboard are the primary raw materials that our paperboard converting operations use.
One of the primary grades of virgin paperboard, coated unbleached kraft, used by our folding carton operations, has
only two domestic suppliers. While we believe that we would be able to obtain adequate replacement supplies in the
market should either of our current vendors discontinue supplying us coated unbleached kraft, the failure to obtain
these supplies or the failure to obtain these supplies at reasonable market prices could have an adverse effect on our
results of operations. We supply substantially all of our needs for recycled paperboard from our own mills and
consume approximately 50% of our bleached paperboard production, although we have the capacity to consume it
all. Because there are other suppliers that produce the necessary grades of recycled and bleached paperboard used in
our converting operations, management believes that it would be able to obtain adequate replacement supplies in the
market should we be unable to meet our requlremems for recycledl or bleached paperboard through internal
productlon Lo TR e o .- o ; .

. A . “ . . . + A

. ! i ‘ l '

Energy

Energy 1s one of the most srgmﬁcam manufaclunng costs of our paperboard operations. We use natural gas,
" electricity, fuel oil and coal to operate our mills and to generate steam 1o mak‘e paper. We use primarily electricity
for our convemng equipment. We generally purchase these products from suppliers at markel rates. Occasionally,
" we enter’into agreéments-to purchase natural gas at fixed prices. In recent years, the cost of natural gas, oil and
. electricity has fluctuated significantly. The average cost of energy used by our recycled paperboard mills to produce
_ aton of paperboard during fiscal 2006 was $86 per ton, compared to $73 per ton during fiscat 2005 and $67 per ton

" in fiscal 2004. Our bleached paperboard mill uses wood by products and pulp process wastes to supply a substantial
portion of the mill’s energy needs. K

.k
%

We are a party toa supply contract endlng June 2007 pursuant to which we purchase steam from a nearby
.power plant for our St. Paul, Minnesota mills. The steam supplier has advised us'that by September 2007 it will no
. longer provrde steam to the St. Paul mills, In such event, we intend, subject to obtaining final regulatory permits, to
. use our eXisting on-site steam géneration plant to generate energy for our St: Paul mills after the existing energy
supply contract expires. We expect to spend approximately $3.5 million during fiscal 2007 to utilize our existing
on-site steam generation plant. The steam generation plant will be powered by burning natural gas and/or fuel oil,
which we believe will cost more than the cost of our current steam supply.

Transportation

" Inbound and outbound freight is a significant expenditure for us. Factors that influence our freight expense are
distance between our shipping and delivery locations, distance from suppliers, mode of transportation (rail, truck,
~ intermodal} and freight rates which are influenced by supply and demand and fuel costs.
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Sales and Marketing.

Our top 10 external customers represented approximately 25% of consolidated net sales in fiscal 2006, none of
which individually accounted for more than 10% of our consolidated net sales. We generally manufacture our
products pursuant to customers’ orders. The foss of any of our larger customers could have a material adverse effect
on the income attributable to the applicable segment and, depending on the significance of the product line, our
results of operations. We believe that we have good relationships with our customers.

[n fiscal 2006, we sold:

* packaging products to approximately 3,100 customers the top 10 of whlch represented approx1mately 32%
of the external sales of our Packaging Products segment; - :

paperboard products to dpproxrmately 1 400 customers, the top 10 of Wthh represented approx1mately 35%
of the external sales of our Paperboard segment. R

imately 76% of the external sales of cur Merchandising Display segment.

+ corrugated packaging products to approximately 600 customers, the top 10 of which represented approx-

imately 50% of the external.sales of our Corrugated segment. . o ,
i H

During fiscal 2006, we sold approximately 36% of our Paperboard segmeol sales to internal customers,
primarily to our Packaging Products segment. OQur Paperboard segment’s sales volumes mady therefore be drrectly
impacted by changes in demand for our packaging products. Under the terms of our Seven Hills joint venture
arrangemeni, our joinl venture partner is required to purchase all of the qualifying gypsum paperboard liner
produced by Seven Hills. ‘

i 1

We market our products, other than our gypsum paperboard liner, primarily through our own sales force. We
also market a number of our products through either independent sales representatives or independent distributors,
or both. We pay our paperboard products sales personnel a base salary, and we generally pay our packaging
products, merchandising displays and corrugated packaging sales personnel a base salary plus commissions. We
pay our independent sales representatives on a commission basis.

Competition .

The packaging products and paperboard industries are highly competitive, and no single ¢ompany dominates
either industry. Our competitors'include large, vertically integrated packaging products.and paperboard companics
and numerous smaller non-integrated companies. In the folding carton and corrugated packaging markets, we
compete with a significant number of national, regional and local packaging suppliers in North America. In the solid
fiber interior packaging, promotional point-of-purchase display, and converted paperboard products rnarkets we
compete with a smaller number of national, regional and local companies offering highly specialized products. Our
paperboard operations compete with integrated and non-integrated national and regional companies operating in
North America that manufacture various grades of paperboard and, to a limited extent, manufacturers outside of
North America.

Because all of our businesses operate in highly competitive industry segments, we regularly bid for sales’

opportunities to customers for new business or for renewal of existing businéss. The loss of business or the award of
new business from our larger customers may have a significant impact on our results of operations.

The primary competitive factors in the packaging products and paperboard industries are price, design, product
innovation, quality and service, with varying emphasis on these factors depending on the product line and customer
preferences. We believe that we compete effectively with respect to each of these factors and we evaluate our
performance with annual customer service surveys. However, to the extent that any of our competitors becomes
more successful with respect to any key competitive factor, our business could be materially adversely' affected.

Qur ability to pass through cost increases can be limited based on competitive market conditions for our
products and by the actions of our competitors. In addition, we sell a significant portion of our paperboard and
paperboard-based converted products pursuant to term contracts that provide that prices are either fixed for
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specrﬁed terins or provide for, price adjustments based on negotlated terms including, changes in- specrﬁed
paperboard 1ndex prices. The effect of these contractual provisions generally 15 to either limit the amount of the

increase or delay our. abillty to recover announced prlce mcreases]for our paperboard and paperboard based

converted products R . EARUEEEEIR N ;

The packaging products and recycled paperboard mdusmes have undergone srgniﬂcant consohdauon in recent
years. Wrthln the packagmg products industry, larger corporate customers w1th an expanded geographlc presence

have tended in recent years to seek suppliers who can, because of their broad geographic presence, efficieritly and
economically supply all-or a-range of the customers’ packagmg needs.'In addltlon during recent years, purchasers

of paperboard and packaging products have demanded higher quality products meeting stricter quality control
requirements. These market trends could adversely affect our results of cperations or, alternatively, favor our
products depending on our compelitive position in specific product lines.

Our paperboard packaging preducts compete with plastic and corrugated packaging and packaging made from
other materials. Customer shifts away from paperboard packaging to packaging from other materials could
adversely affect our results of operations.

Governmental Regulation
Health and Safety Regulations

Our operations are subject to federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations relating to workplace safety
and worker health including the Occupational Safety and Health Act (“OSHA™) and related regulations. OSHA,
among other things, establishes asbestos and noise standards and regulates the use of hazardous chemicals in the
workplace. Although we do not use ashestos in manufacturing our products, some of our facilities contain asbestos.
For those facilities where asbestos is present, we believe we have properly contained the asbestos and/or we have
conducted training of our employees to ensure that no federal, state or local rules or regulations are violated in the

* maintenance of our facilities. We do not believe that future compliance with health and safety laws and reguiations

wil have ‘a matefial adverse effect on our results of operatlons ﬁnanc1al cpndmon or cash ﬂows o
| - i_' } e ) . .’r_.‘

I . L ..’ Fl

Enwronmental Regul’atzon

We ate sub]ect to various federal, state, local and foreign envrronmental laws and regulations, mcludrng,
among others, the Comprehenswe Envrronmental Response, Compensatlon ;and Liability Act (“CERCLA”), the
Clean Air Act (as amendéd in 1990), the Clean Water Act, the Résource Conservation and Recovery Act and the
Toxic Substances Contro} Act. These environmental regulatory programs dre primarily administered by the US
Envrronmental Protection Agency, In addition, some states in which we operate have ‘adopted equrvalent or'more
stringent-¢ envrronmental laws and regulations or have enacted their own parallel envrronmental programs wh1ch are
enforced through varlous state administrative agcnmes S | :

l

 We belleve that future compliance with these envrronmental laws and regulations will not have a materlal
dverse effect on.our results of operations, financ1al condition or cash flows However, our- comphance and

. remedranon costs could increase materially. In addltlon we cannot currently assess with certainty the impact that

i
) the future emissions standards and enforcement practices assoc1ated with changes to regulations promulgated under
' the Clean Arr Act will have on our operatlons or capital expendlture requirements. However, we believe that any

such 1mpact or capital expendrtures will not have a material adverse effect.on,our results of operatlons financial

I
condmon or cash flows, - . , o o L

! - “ ' ’ ° ) |
- We esnmate that. we will spend approxrmately $3.0 million for, capital expenditures dunng fiscal, 2007 in

|
‘ Connectlon with mattérs relatmg to environmental compllance Additionally, to comply with emissions regulations

i
under the Clean Air Act, we may be required to modify or replace a coal ﬁred boiler at one of our facilities, which
we estimate would cost approxrmately $2. 0 10 $3.0 mllhon If necessary, we antlcrpate that we will incur those costs

durmg ﬁscal 2007 and 2008 ) : 1)

\ For addrtronal 1nf0rmanon concerning env1ronmental regulatlon see “Note I18. Commttments and Contm-

gencres” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, ‘ ST
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Patents and Other Intellectual Property

We hold a substantial number of patents and pending patent applications in the United States and in certain
foreign countries. Qur patent portfolio consists primarily of utility and design patents relating to our various
products as well as certain process and method patents and patent applications relating to our manufacturlng
operauons Certain of our products are also protected by trademarks such as MillMask®, Millennium' Board®,
AdvantaEdge@’ BlueCuda®, BillBoard®, CitruSaver®, Duraframe®, DuraFreeze™, ProduSaver®, WineGuard®,
MAXPDQ™, and MAXLitePDQ™. Qur patents and other intellectual property, particularly our patents relating to
our mterlor packagmg, retail dlsplays and folding carton operanons are lmporhml to our operations as a whole.

Employees ‘ . o -

At September 30 2006, we had approximately 9,500 employees Of thése employecs approxnmately 7.300

were hourly and approximately 2,200 were salaried. Approximately-3,300 of our hourly employees are covered by

* union collective bargammg agreements, which generally have three-year terms. We have not experienced any work

stoppages in the past 10 years other than a three-week work stoppage at our Aurora, lllinois, paperboard facility
during fiscal 2004. Management believes that our relations with our employees are good.

Available lnforh']ationj :

Our Internet address is www.rocktenn.com. Our Internet address is included herein as an inactive textual
reference only. The information contained on our website is not incorporated by reference herein and should not be
considered part of this report. We file annual, quarterly and current-reports, proxy statements and other information
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC™) and we make available free of charge most of our SEC
filings through our Internet website as soon as reasonably practicable after filing with the SEC. You may access
these SEC filings via the hyperlink that we provide on our website to a third-party SEC filings website. We dlso
make available on our website_the charters of our audit committee, our compensation committee, and our
nominating and corporate governance committee, as well as the- corporate governance guidelines adopted by
our board of directors, our Code of Business Conduct for employees, our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for
directors and our Code of Ethical Conduct for CEC and senior financial officers. We will also provide copies of
these documents, without charge, at the written request of any shareholder of record. Requests for copies shou;!d be
mailed to: Rock-Tenn Company, 504 Thrasher Street, Norcross, Georgia 30071, Attention: Corporate Secretary.

Forward-Looking Information

. We, or our executive officers-and directors on our behalf, may from time to time make “forward-looking
statements” within'the meaning of the federal securities laws. Forward-looking statements include ‘statements
preceded by, followed by or that‘include the words “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “plans,” estlmates or
similar expressions. These statements may be contained in reports and other documents that we file with the 'SEC or
may be oral statements made by our executive officers and directors to the press, potential investors, secuntles
analysts and others. These forward-looking statements could involve, among other things, statements regarding any
of the following: our results of operations, financial condition, cash flows, liquidity or capital resources, including
expectations regarding sales growth, our production capacities, our ability to achieve operating efficiencies, and our
ability to fund our capital expenditures, interest payments, estimated tax payments, stock repurchases, dividends,
working capital needs, and repayments of debt; the consummation of acquisitions and financial transactions, the
effect of these transactions on our business and the valuation of assets acquired in these transactions; our
competitive positien and competitive conditions; our ability to obtain adequate replacement supplies of raw
materials or 'energy; our relationships with our customers; our relationships "with our employees; our plans and
objectives for future operations and expansion; amounts and timing of capital expenditures and the impact of such
capltal expenditures on our results of operations, financial condition, or cash flows; our compliance obligations with
réspéct to health and safety laws and environmental laws, the cost of such compliance, the timing of such costs, or
the impact of any liability under such laws on our results of operations, financial condition or cash flows, and our
right to indemnification with respect to any such cost or liability; the impact of any gain or loss of .a customer’s
business; the impact of announced price increases; the scope, costs, timing and impact of any restructuring of our
operations and corporate and tax structure; the scope and timing of any litigation or other dispute resolutions and the

LTINS LU [ IRTY
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- 1mpact of any such litigation: or other, dispute: resolutrons on our results of. operatlons financral condrtlon or, cash
flows; factors considered in connection with any. 1mpa1rment analysis, the outcome of any, such analysrs and the . -

anttctpated 1mpact of any such analys1s on our results of operattons ﬁnancral condmon or cash flows; pensron and

a
fetirement plan obhganons contr1butrons the factors used to. evaluate and estlmate such obligations and expenses .

the impact of amendments to our pensron and retlrement plans the 1mpact of govemmental regulatrons on our
‘results of dperations, financial condition or cash flows; and pension 'and retrrement ‘plan asset investment strategies;
the financial condition of our insurers and the impact on our results of operations, financial condition or cash flows
in the event of an insurer’s default on their obligations; the impact of any market risks, such as interest rate risk,
pension plan risk, foreign currency risk, commodity price risks, energy price risk, rates of return, the risk of
investments in derivative instruments, and the risk of counterparty nonperformance, and factors affecting those
risks; the amount of contractual obligations based on variable price provisions and variable timing and the effect of
contractual obligations on liquidity and cash flow in future periods; the implementation of accounting standards and
the impact of these standards once implemented; factors used to calculate the fair value of options, including
expected term and stock price volatility; our assumptions and expectations regarding critical accounting policies
.and estimates; the adequacy of our system of internal controls over financial reporting; and the effectiveness of any
actions we may take with respect to our system of internal controls over ﬁnancral reportmg

Any forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations and beltefs at the time of the statements
and would be subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results of operations, financial condition,
acquisitions, financing transactions, operations, expansion and other events to differ materially from those
expressed or implied in these forward-looking statements. With respect to these statements, we make a number

" oof assumptrons regardmg, among other things, expecled ¢conomic, competmve and market conditions generally,

expected volumes and prlce levels of purchases by customers competmve condmons in our; busrnesses possible
adverse actlons of our customers our competltors and supphers labotr costs the amount and tlmmg of expected
cap1tal expendrtures mcludmg mstallauon Costs, prO_]eCt development and 1mplementatlon costs, -severance and
other shutdown ‘costs; restructuring costs; ‘thé expectéd sutilization of real property that is* subject. 16 the

restructurings due to’ ‘realizable values from the sale of that property; ant1c1pated eammgs that “will be avarlable K

for offset against net. operatmg loss cairy-forwards; expected credit availability; raw material and energy costs;
replacement energy supply alternatives and related capital expenditures; and expected year- -end i inventory levels and

costs. These assumptions also could be-affected by changes in management s plans; such as delays or changes m‘

_.anticipated capital -expenditure$' or changes in ouf operations. We believe that our assumptrons are “reasonable;
" however, undue reliance should not be placed on these assumptions, whrch are based ofi current expectauons These

”

forward-looking statemenis are subject to certain risks including, among others that our. assumptions will prove to
be inaccurate. There are- many factors that impact these forward-lookmg statements that ‘we cannot predict

B
»

accurately. Actual results may vary materially from current expectations, in{part because we manufacture most of .

our products agamst customer orders with short lead times and small backlogs, while our earnings are dependent on
volume due to price levelsiand our genera]ly hrgh fixed operating costs. Forward-looking statements.speak only as

of the date they are made, and we, and our executive officers and directors, have no duty under the federal securmes
laws and undertake no obligation to update any such information as futurei évents unfold. a

Further our business is subject to a number of general risks that would’ affect any forward-looking statements,
including the risks discussed under “Item IA. — Risk Factors.”

Item 1A, RISK FACTORS
- We.May Face Increased Costs and -Redu'ced Supply of Raw Materials

-, Historically, the cost of recovered paper and virgin paperboard, our prmclpal extemally sourced raw ‘materials,
have fluctuated significantly- due to market and industry conditions. Increasmg demand for products packaged in
100% recycled paper and the shift by virgin paperboard, tissue, newsprmt and corrugated packaging manufacturers
to the productron of. products with some recycled paper content have and may continue to increase demand for

. recovered paper. Furthermore there has been a substantial i 1ncrease in demand for U.S. sourced recovered paper by
_Asian countries. These-increasing demands may result i in cost increases. In recent years, “the cost of natural gas,

which we use in many of our manufactunng operations, includinig most of our paperboard mills, and other energy
costs (including energy generated by burning natural gdS) have also ﬂuctuated significantly. There can be no
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assurance that we will ‘be able to recoup any past or future increases’in the cost of recovered paper or other raw
materials or of natural gas or other energy through price increases for our products. Further, a reduction in supply of
recovered paper; vrrgm paperboard or other raw materials due to increased demand or other factors could have an
adverse effect on our results of operations "and financial condttlon

. We Ma_y Experzergce Pricing Variability .

The paperboard and converted products industries historically have experienced significant fluctuations in
selling prices, If we are unable to maintain the selling prices of products within these industries, that inability may
have a'material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. We are not able to predict with
certamty market condltlons or the selling prices for our products !

- ‘e Our Earmngs are Hrghly Depeudent on Volumes

Our operations generally have hlgh fixed operating cost compo'nents and therefore our camnings are highly
dependent on volumes, wh:ch tend to fluctuate: These ﬂuctuanons make it difficult to predrct our results with any
degree of certamty : : ’ : -

« We Face Intense Competition

Our businesses are in industries that are highly competitive, and no single company dominates an industry; Qur
" competitors include large, vertically integrated packaging products and paperboard companies and numerous non-
integrated smaller companies. We generally compete with companies operating in North America. Competition
from'foreign manufacturers in the future could negatively impact our sales volumes and pricing. Because all of our
businesses operate in highly competitive industry segments, we regularly bid for sales opportunities to customers
for new business or for renewal of existing business. The loss of business from our larger customers may have a
significant impact on our results of operations. Further, competitive conditions may prevent us from fully
recovering increased costs and may continue to inhibit our ability to pass on cost increases to our customers.

Our paperboard segment’s sales volumes may be directly, 1mpacted by changes in demand for our packaging
products and our tarninated paperboard products. See “Business — Competition.”

< . We Have Been Dependent on Certam Customers

Each of our segments has certain large customers, the loss of which could have a material adverse effect on the
segment s sales and, depending on the significance of the loss, our results. of operations, financial condition or cash
flows. .

"« We May Incur Business Disruptions:

The occurrence of a natural disaster, such as a hurricane, tropical storm, earthquake, tornado, flood, fire, or
other unantlclpated problems could cause operational disruptions or short term rises in raw material or energy costs
* that could materially adversely affect our eamings. Any losses due to these events may not be covered by, our
existing insurance policies or be ‘'subject 1o certain deductibles:

» We May be Unable to Complete and Finance Acquisitions.

_ - We have completed several acquisitions in recent years and may seek additional acquisition opportunities.
There can be no assurance that we will successfully be able to identify suitable acquisition candidates, complete and .
finance acquisitions, integrate acquired operations into our existing operations or expand into new markets. There
can also be no assurance that future acquisitions will not have an adverse effect ‘upon our operating results. Acquired
operations may not achieve levels of revenues, profi tablirty or productivity comparable with those our existing
operations achieve, or otherwise perform as expected. In addition, it is possible that, in connection with acqui-
sitions, our capltal expenditures could be higher than we antlclpated and that we may not realize the expected
benefits of such capltal expenditures. : -

s We are Subject to Extenszve Envrmnmental and Other Governmental Regulation

We are subject to various federal, state, local and foreign environmental laws and- regulattons 1nclud1ng those
regulating.the discharge, storage, handlmg and dtsposal of a variety of substances as well as other financial and
non- ﬁnancral ‘regulations. :
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We regularly ‘make- capital - expendltures to maintain eomphance witht apphcable enwronmental laws and

' regulauons However, environmental faws and regulations are’ becomlng mcreasmgly stringent. Consequently, our
: eomphance and remediation costs could in¢rease materlally In addition, we eannot currently assess the impact that

the future emissions. standards and “enforcement .practices will have on our operdnons or capital expenditure

- requ1rements | Furthier,' we have been identified as a potentially responsible: party at various “superfund” sites

pursuant o CERCLA or comparable state statutes. See “Note 18. Comm;tme!nts and Contingencies” of the Notes
to Consohdated Financial Statements. There can be no assurance that any llab1l1ty we may incur in connection with

 these superfund sites or other governmental regulation will not be material to our results of operations, financial

condition or cash flows.
» We May Incur Additional Restructuring Costs

" We have restructured portions of our operations from time to time in recent years and it is possible that we may

engage in- additional restructuring opportunities. Because we are not able to predict with certainty market

conditions, the loss of large customers, or the selling prices for our products, we also may not be able to predict
with certainty-when it will be appropriate to undertake restructurings. It is also possible, in connection with these
restructring efforts, that our costs could be higher than we anticipate and that we may not realize the expected
benefits.

» We May Incur Increased Transportation Costs

We distribute our products primarily by truck and rail. Reduced availability of truck or rail carriers could
negatively impact our ability to ship our products in a timely manner. There can be no assurance that we will be able
to recoup any past or future increases in transportation rates or fuel surcharges through price increases for our
products [

C o . . . -
| L R

. We May Incur 'Increased Employee Benef‘ t Casts : . ' :

“Oury pens1on and health care beneﬁts are dependent upon multlple factors!resulting from actual plan expenence
and assumptions of future experience. Our pension plan assets are prlman]y made up of equity and fixed income
investments. Fluctuauons in‘markét performance and changes in interest rates may result in increased or decreased
pension costs in future periods. Changes in assumptions regarding expected long term rate of return on plan assets,
c¢hanges in our discount rate or expected compensation levels could also increase or decrease pens1on costs. Future

pensmn fundmg requ1rements and the t1mmg of fundmg paymems may be subject to changes in leglslatlon
|

ltem 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS : '
j
!

Not appllcable'—;there are no unresolved staff comments.

1

Item 2. PROPERTIES

~ We operate.at a total of 92 locations.. Thesé fac1l1tles are located in 26 states’ (mainly in the Eastern and

Midwestern U.S.), Canada, Mexico, Chile. ‘and Argentina. We own our prmelpal executive offices in Norcross,

Georgia. There are 30 owned and 12 leased facilities used by operatlons in:our Packaging Products segment 23
owned and 1 leased facility'used by operations in our Paperboard segment, 1 owned and 17 leased facilities used by
operations in our Merchandlslng Displays segment, ‘and 5 owned and 2 leased facilities used by operations in our

~ Corrugated segment. We believe that our ‘existing ‘production capacity is adequate to serve existing demand for our

products. We' consider. our plants and equlpment to be in good eondmon

I3
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The followmg table shows mformauon ahout our paperboard rmlls We own all of our m1lls

Annual Productmn

) o : . Capacity . . .

) Location of Mill | ' (m tons al 9/30/2006) Paperboard Produced

Demopolis, AL . .. .. e 327,000 Bleached p‘aperboard‘and
SEERTIPIE R h - 97,500  Market pulp .

St.Paul, MN ... ........... B 180,000 Recycled corrugated medium
St Paul, MN .. .... ... L T 160,000 - . . Co.ued recycled paperboard ‘
Battle Creek, Ml ; 144000 - Coated recycled paperboard
Sheldon Springs, VT (Missis_d‘uoi‘Mi]l) ........ I L lOS,OOO " Coated recycled paperboard R
Dallas, TX......-.. e P S ~ - 96000 . Coated.recycled paperboard : -
Stroudsburg, PA....0..... U R o 67,000~  Coated recycled paperboard
Chattanooga, TN .. ............. E ‘ 130,000 _Specialty recycled paperboard
Lynchburg, VA ....... e A ) . 88,000(1) Specialty reeyc]ed paperboard
Eaton, IN .......ooiein el I 60,0000 Specialty recycled paperboard
Cincinnati, OH . /... ... . ... ... ............. ) 53,000 . Spemal[y recycled paperboard
Aurora, IL............ T 32 0()0 Specialty recycled paperboard

{1) Reflects the productron capacity of a paperboard machine that manufactures Bypsum paperboard lrner and is
owned by our Seven Hills joint venture, r

t

The following is a list of our significant facilities other than our paperboard mills:

Type of Facility Locations - . ; Owned or Leased
Merchandising Display Operations . ..  Winston-Salem, NC o - Owned
(sales, design, manufacturing and contract packmg) M
Headquarters ... ................ Norcross, GA *" QOwned

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are a party to litigation incidental to our business from time to time. We are not currently a party to any

litigation that management believes, if determined adversely to us, would have a material adverse effect on our
- results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. For additional information regarding litigation to which we

are a party, which is incorporated by reference into this jtem, see “Note 18 Commitments and Contingencies” of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Slatemen[e : .

'’
v g

Item 4. SUBMISSIONJOF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

Not applicable — there were no matters submitted to a vote of 'secu:'rity holders in our fourth fiscal quarter.
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Item 5 MARKET FOR THE. REGISTRANT’S COMMON FQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDFR
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF FQUITY SECUR}ITIES .

-

Common Stock
Our Class A common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Common Stock™), trades on the New York Stock

Exchange under the symbol RKT. As of November 2. 2006, there were approximately 366 shareholders of record of
our Common Stock.

Price Range of Common Stock

Fiscal 2006 Fiscal 2005
High Low High Low
First QUarter . . ... .. e e $15.12  $11.70  $16.60 $14.68
Second QUAMET . .. ... .t $15.19 %1254 $1540 $13.05
Third QUAIET . . ..o ottt e e $16.74 $1388 $13.60 $ 9.75
Fourth QUATIET . . . .ot et et e et e e e $20.75  $15.37  $16.00 §12.28

Dmdends P

+ . . . . .
R . 1 . R :

Durmg fi scal 2006 and 2005, we pard a quarterly dw1dend on our Common Stock of $0.09 per share ($0 36 per ;

share annually) _
For additiona] di‘vidend' information, see ltem 6, “Selected Financial Data.”
. I

Securities Authorized fer- lssuance Under Eqbity Compensation 'Plans
| .
‘The section under the heading “ercutwe Compensatmn” entll]ed “Equrty Compensation Plan Informa-
tion” in the: Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on January 26, 2007, which will be

filed wrth the SEC on-or before December 31, 2006, is incorporated herem by reference.
i

For addrtlona] mform.mon concernmg our capnalrzanon see “Note 15. Shareholders ? Equity” of the Notesto

- Consolidated Financial Statements. '

- »
v
3 o

Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

.

" The followmg selected consolrdated financial data should be’ read in conjunction with our Consolidated
Financial Statements'and Notes thereto and “Management’s Discussion ana’ Analysrs of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” inclided herein. We derived the consolidated slatemems of income and consolidated
statements of cash flows data for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, and the consolidated balance

4 qheet data as of September 30, 2006 and 2005 from the- Comohdated Fmancral Statemenv; included herein. We | :
.derived the: consohdated statements of income:; and conso]rdated slatements1 of cash flows data for the years ended -

o Seplember 30, 2003, and 2002, and the consohdated balance sheet data as of September 30, 2{)04 2003, and 2002,
+ < from audited Consohdated Financial Statements not mcluded in this report‘ We reclassified our plastic packaging
. operations, which we sold in October 2003, as a discontinued operation on 'the consolidated statements of income
for all periods présented. We have also presented the assets and liabilities of our plastic packaging operations as
assets and liabilities held for sale for all periods presented on our consblidated balance sheets. The table that follows
"is consistent with those presentations. '
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On June 6, 2005, we acquired from Gulf States substantially all of the GSPP assets. The GSPP Acquisition was
the primary reason for the changes in the selected financial data beginning in ﬁscal 2005. The results of operations
shown below may not be indicative of future results.

. Year Ended September 34,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

. (In millions, except per share amounts)
Netsales . .................. oo oo $2,13801 $1,7335 $1,5813  $14333  $1,369.0
Restructuring and other costs, net . ... . 78 75 . 327 1.5 182
Income from continuing operations before the cumulative - ) e a

effect of a change in accounting principle . . . ... .. ... e . 283 176 96 29.5 299
Income from discontiniued operations, net of tax . . .- ....... — — 8.0 0.1 2.6
Income before the cumulative effect of a change'in accounting :

principle .. ... L 8.7 176 176 29.6 325
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of ' ' :

L e e e e —_ —_ .o— — (5.9)
Netincome (a) . ... ... i i 28.7 - 17.6 17.6 29.6 26.6
Diluted earnings per common share from conlinuing operations : :

before the cumulative effect of a change in accountmg i o

principle . .. ... LT 0.77 0.49 0.27 0.85 "0.87
Diluted earnings per common share before the cumulative ‘ '

effect of a change in accounting principle . . . . . . e 077 - 0.49 0.50 085 - 094
Diluted earmings (loss) per common share from cumu]atlve :

effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax . .. ... —_ — — — .17
Diluted earnings per common share.. . . . ................ 0.77 0.49 0.50 0.85 '0.77
Dividends paid per common share. ... ................. . 036 036 . 034 0.32 '0.30
Book value per common share .. .............. .. ..... 13.49 12.57 12.28 12.07 . 11.80
Total assets. . .. .............. e e 1,784.0 1,798.4 12838 . 1,29i.4 1,176.2
Current portionof debt. .. ......... ... .. ........ e 40.8 ©71 - 1858 12.9 62.9
Total long-term debt . . ... .. 1. ... ... 7653 9080 3983 5130 4101
Total debt (b) . ... ot L. 8061 9151 4341 5259 4730
Shareholders’ equity. . ... ......... ... . ... L T 5l08.6. 4562 T 4376 4220 405.1
Net cash provided by operating activities (c). . . Ceee . "153.5 1533 . 935 112.5 113.7
Capital expenditures. . . . . ........ P e 646 543 .60.8. 574 72.7
Cash paid for joint venture investment (d) .. ........ e 0.2 0.1 02 .- 03 1.7

Cash paid for purchase of businesses, net of cash received . . . . 7.8 552.3 15.0 - 81.8 25.4

Notes (in millions):

{a) Netincome includes expense of $5.9 million, net of tax, or $0.17 per diluted share, for the cumulative effect of |

a change in accounting prmc1ple from a goodwill write-off due to the adoption of Statement of Financial
- Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”).

(b) Total debt includes fair value aggregate hedge adjustments resulting from terminated and/or existing fair value
interest rate derivatives or swaps of $10.4, $12.3, $18.5, $23.9, and $19.8 dunng fiscal 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003,
and 2002, respectively. - o

(c) Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended September 30, 2004 was reduced by approx-
imately $9. 9 in cash taxes paid from the gam on the sale of discontinued operations. .

(d) Ofthe total cash paid for the joint venture investment, contributions for capital expendltures amounted to $O
$0.1, $0.2,$0.3, and $0.4 during fiscal 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectlvc‘:ly\.
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) Item 7. rMAMlGEM’ENT’S’ DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS ‘ R l
Segment and Market Information '
Tt O .
At the end of fiscal 2006 we révised our segment disclosures lo separately presem a Corrugated segment
previously included in the Merchandising Dlsplay segment The Corrugated segmem includes our corrugated

packaging operations that primarily consist of our corrugatorsand sheet plants. Our St. Paul. recycled corrugated
medium mill remains in our Paperboard segment. The financial statements presented have been reclassified to .

reflect this revision.

We report our results in four segments: (1) Packagmg Products, (2) Paperboard (3) Merchandising Displays,
and (4) Corrugated.

The following table shows certain operating data for our four segments. We do not aliocate certain of our
income and expenses to our segments and, thus, the information that management uses to make operating decisions
and assess performance does not reflect such amounts. We report these items as non-allocated expenses or in other
line items in the table below after Total Segment Income.

Year Ended September 30,

2006 2005 2004
(In millions)

Net sales {aggregate):

Packaging Products ... ... .. ... ... .. P $1,2678 § 9940 3 908.1
Paperboard . .. ... ... ... 819.7 615.4 539.9
Merchandising Displays. . . ... ... oo 233.2 226.3 237.8
Corrugated . ... ... e 135.7 118.5 89.9
Total .. e e $2,456.4 $19542 $1,775.7
Net sales (intersegment): .
Packaging Products . . ............ R TR e 829 8 34 8 35
Paperboard .. ... ...l S 4.0 2989 ' -202:3 _ . 176.8 °
Merchandising Displays. . .©....... 0. . 0., PO S U (-
Corrugated ... ..., DT . 164 - 148 137
Total ...v..... o et 1008 3183 0§ 2207  $° 1944
_ Net sales (apafﬁlliated_customers)-: ' S o o 3 - .
Packaging Products . ... .. ... 0o ol e . $1,2649  $.9906 $ 9046
Paperboard .. .......... e T E . . 5208 *  413.1 ; 363.1
Merchandising Displays. . . . . . . . . . ] SR . 2331 261 2374
Cormugated ... ...l e .. __ 193 103.7 - 76.2.
Total ....oviininiii, e e o $2,138.1 . $1.7335 $1,581.3
Segment income: o _
Packaging Products . ... [0 ..o .8 450 $ 334 7§ 380
Paperboard ........... ... ... i e . 62.2 316 157
Merchandising Displays. . [ ......... T A 16.4 17.6 24.0°
Corrugated . ................. et 40 .35 5.1
. " i
Total Segment Income .. . .. .. R T 1276 - 86.1 828
Restructuring and other costs, net ... ... ... ... ... oo " (7.8) A (32.7y
. Non-allocated expenses .. . . . e e e e s 20.8) . (17.8) (12.5)
Interest expense . ...... R S T CLL (55.6) (36.6) (23.6)
t i
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. Year Ended September 30,

2006 - 2005 2004
R i . ‘ ) {In millions)
Interest and other income (expense). ... ............... .16 0.5 0.1}
Mmorlty interest in’ 1ncome of consolrdated sub51d1ar1es. e (6.4) 4.8) . 3.4y
Income from eontmu_mg operations before income taxes. [ 3 _‘ . 38.6 . .19.9 10.5
Income tax expense. . ... .. PR S S . (99) (2.3) . (0.9)
Income from continuing OperatiOns ...... O L. 287 17.6 9.6
* Income from d1scontmued operations. .....:......... i — . — 8.0

Net income. ... ......... S R Ll $ 287 $ 176 $ 176

Overview

Segment income increased $41.5 million in fiscal 2006 based on the performance in our two largest business
segments, synergies we continue to realize from the GSPP Acquisition and lower fiber prices. Good demand and
pricing improvements for recycled paperboard, and the full year impact of the acquisition of our bleached
paperboard mill, resuited in much higher eamnings in our paperboard mills and increased Paperboard segment
income approximately 96.8% over the prior year. Sales growth in our core folding carton business and the
contributions from the foldmg carton plants acquired in June 2005 as part of the GSPP Acquisition increased
Packaging Products segmént income 34.7% over the prior year. Partially offsetting these improvements were
increased energy costs, a mechanical failure of the white llquor clarifier at our bleached paperboard mill and
operating losses at our Mexico dtsplay facility that we sold i in October 2006.

Due to capacity closurea of competrng coated recycled paperboard mills in fiscal 2006 we began to see
improved operating rates at our coated recycled paperboard mills: We expect this trend to continue in the near
future. We expect to realize higher pnces in fiscal 2007 for recycled paperboard and corrugated medium.

u

Our Net Debt (as hereinafter deﬁned se¢ “Non-GAAP Measure” below) was $788 8 million at September 30,
2006 compared to $876.0 at September 30, 2005.-We reduced Net Debt by $87.2 million in fiscal 2006. During
fiscal 2006 we paid $7.8 million for the purchase of businesses and contrlbuted $20.6 mllhon 1o our pension plans.

On October 1,.2005, we adopted the falr value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting -
Standards No. 123 {revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)_”) using the modified prospective
imethod, and thereby recognized combined employee stock-purchase plan expense and stock option expense of
$0.6 million (net of $0.4 million income taxes) or $0.02 per share durmg fiscal 2006. See “Note 15. Shareholders’
Equu‘y” of the Notes to Consohdated Fmancral Statements . .

Results of Operations

We provide below quarterly information to reflect trends in our results of operations. For additional discussion
of. quarterly information, see our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC and “Note 20. Financial .
Results by Quarter ( Umt_udrted)” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

-

Net Sales (Unaffi hated Customers ),

Net sales for fiscal 2006 1ncreased 23.3% to $2 138.1 million compared to $1,733.5 million in fiscal 2005
primarily due to the June 2005 GSPP Acqu151t10n. Excluding the net increase of $324.5 million of net sales from the
acqurred assets, our sales increased by 5.1%. :

Net sales for fiscal 2005 mcreased 9.6% to $1,733. 5 mllhon compared to '$1,581.3 million in fiscal 2004
primarily due to the June 2005 GSPP Acqulsluon Excluding the net increase of $ 176. 2 million of net sales from the
acquired assets, our sales decreased by 1.5%. .

£}
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Net Sales (Aggregate) — Packagmg Products Segment )
First Quarter Second Quar(er Third Quarter Fourth Quhrter Fis'cal Year |

[ -, R (In mllllmns)

2004 ... ... S S $2089, - SB1F . SB16  $2359 . 5 9081
2005 ;... ... L8 T 2188 .- 239.2 3142 . 9940
2006 .. ... P JE 3010 0 3197 326.2 3208 1,267.8

The 27.5% increase in net sales before intersegment eliminations for the Packaging Products segment in fiscal
2006 compared to fiscal 2005 was primarily due to sales resulting from the GSPP Acquisition, the partition business
we acquired and higher demand for consumer packaging.

The 9.5% increase in Packaging Products segment net sales before intersegment eliminations in fiscal 2005
compared to fiscal 2004 was primarily due to net sales resulting from the GSPP Acquisition, which accounted for
net sales of $119.6 million.

A

. Net Sales (Aggregate) — Paperboard Segment ] _ ) ‘
First Quarter ‘Second Quarter . Third Quarter Fourth Quarter . Fiscal Year
(In millions) )

2004 ...l $128.3 $136.1 $138.6 $136.9 $539.9
2005 ...l 128.7 131.8 155.0 199.9 615.4
2006, .. ............ 187. 7 oL 2057 204 1 2222 . 8197

“The 33:2% increase in-Paperboard segment net sales before mtersegment ellmmauons in ﬁsca] 2006 compared
to fiscal 2005 was primarily due to bleached paperboard and market pulp net sales from our GSPP Acquisition,

_strong demand for recycled paperboard in part-due to capacity closures of competing coated recycled miils and

higher pricing.-Recycled paperboard tons shipped increased 4.3% compared to the same period last year. We expect
to see some further price increases in the early part of fiscal 2007 as a result of price increases we previously
announced. However, the i impact of announced board pricé increases will be dictated, in part, by market forces that
determine the timing and extent of our récovery of the increases. During fiscal 2006, our recycled mills operated at
96% of capacity compared to 92% in fiscal 2005. Recycled paperboard tons shipped infiscal 2006 for the segmeit
were 1,063,115 tons compared to 1,019,139 tons shipped in fiscal 2005. We sold 320,249 tons' of ‘bleached
paperboard and 86,569 tons of market pulp.in fiscal 2006, compared to 110,882 tons of bleached paperboard and
30,037 tons of market pulp in the four months we owned the contﬁpuling assets in fiscal 2005.

The 14.0% increase in Paperboﬁrd segment net sales before intersegment eliminations in fiscal 2005 compared

1o fiscal 2004 was-primarily due to net sales from the GSPP Acquisition and higher selling prices for recycled

paperboard The effect of the higher sales prices during the period ‘was more than offset by a decrease in tons
shipped by our coated recycled and specialty paperboard mills. During fiscal 2005, our recycled mills operated at
92% of capacity compared to 96% in fiscal 2004. Recycled paperboard tons shipped in fiscal 2005 for the segment
were 1,019,139 tons compared to 1,130,004 tons shipped in fiscal 2004. As a result of the GSPPAcqmsmon we sold
110,882 tons of bleached paperboard and 30,037 tons of market pulp, respectively.
J
Net Sales (Aggregate) — Merchandising Disp_lays Segment
First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter Fiscal Year
: (In r'hillions)

2004 ... $55.7 -'$58.2: $56.6 %673 $237.8
2005 .. 527 & 590 . 57.0 576 2263
. 2006 ... ... e - 49.2 - 558 58.8 694 2332

The 3.0% increase in Merchandlsmg DlSplayS segmem net sales before mtersegment ehmmatlons for fiscal
*2006 compared 1o fiscal 2005 was primarily due to increased display sales driven by a strong-fourth quarter for
_promotional orders from some of our largest customers. We continue' to seek to broaden our permanent and multi-

"material display capabilities as well as to continue developing theft deterrent solutions for high theft products. We .

17

[ S




have made significant progress in the marketplace with our MAX PDQ™ display. We ;dl'so expect revenues to grow
from our new brand management group.

The 4.8% decrease in Merchandismg Dlsplays segment net sales before mtersegment ehmmatnons for fiscal
2005 compared to ﬁscal 2004 resulted prlmarlly from a decrease in spending for promonona! dlsplays

Net Sales (Aggregate) — Corrugated Segment

Flrst Quarter  Second Quarter . Third Quarter Fourth Quarter - Fiscal Year
(In millions} - -

2004 ...l L8197 “$215 .$215°  $272° . § 899

2005 ..., 28.8 302 29,8 297 118.5
2006.:.;.- ......... 284 ' —319 366 © 388 1357

. |
The 14. 5% increase in Corrugated segment net sales before mtersegment eliminations for flscaI 2006
compared to fiscal 2005 was primarily due to increased sales of corrugated sheet stock and higher prices.

The 31.8% increase in Corrugated segment net sales before mtersegment e]lmmatmns ‘for fiscal 2005
-compared to fiscal 2004 resulted primarily from our acqu1smon of the Athens corrugator in August 2004 (“Athens
Acquisition”), which had net saies of $30.5 million in fiscal 2005.-

Cost of Goods Seld

Cost of goods sold increased to $1,789.0 million (83.7% of net sales) in fiscal 2006 from $1,459.2 million
(84.2% of net sales) in fiscal 2005 primarily due to the GSPP Acquisition, the partition business we acquired, higher
raw material prices in many of our businesses, increased freight costs, and higher energy prices that were partially
offset by lower fiber prices. On a volume adjusted basis, energy and freight costs at our recycled paperboard mills
increased $13, 0 million and $1.7 million, respectively, and were offset by a $14.8 million decrease in fiber costs.
Excluding amounts attributable to the GSPP Acquisition, workers’ compensation expense increased $3.0 million
and group insurance expense decreased $4.4 million during fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005. We have foreign
currency transaction risk primarily due to our operations in Canada. See “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
About Market Risk — Foreign Currency” below. The impact of foreign currency transactlons in fiscal 2006
compared to-fiscal 2005 decreased costs of goods sold by $0. 6 million:

Cost of goods sold increased to $1, 459.2 million (84. 2% of net sales) in fiscal 2005 from $1,314.0 million
(83.1% of net sales) in fiscal 2004 primarily due to the GSPP Acquisition. Fiber, energy, chemical and freight costs
at our recycled paperboard mills increased $4.1 million, $6.6 million, $2.2 million,.and $8.4 million, respectively,
on-a volume adjusted basis. Excluding amounts attributable to the GSPP Acquisition, group-insurance expense
increased $1.1 million, and workers’ compensation expense and pension expense decreased $2.3 million ‘and
$1.3 million, respectively..The impact of foreign currency transactions in ﬁscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004
1ncreased costs of goods sold by $0.8 mllllon

We value the majonty of our U.S. inventories at the lower of cost or market with cost determmed on the last-in
first-out (“LIFOQ”), inventory valuation method, which we believe generally results in a better matchmg of current
costs and revenues than under the first-in first-out (“FIFQ”), inventory valuation method. In periods of increasing

costs, the LIFO method generaily results.in highei cost of goods sold than under the FIFO method. In periods of

decreasing costs, the results are generally the opposite.

The following table illustrates the’ comparanve effect of LIFO and FIFO accounting on our resu]ts of
.operanons This supplemental FIFO edrnmgs 1nf0n‘nat10n reflects the after-tax effect of ehmmalmg the LIFO
" adjustment each year. : ‘

'

Fiscal 2006 ' Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004

LIFO - FIFO LIFO . FIFO . LIFO . FIFO
. . _ (In n_lill_ions) ] L )
‘Cost of goods sold ... ... $1,780.0 .$1,784.7 $1459.2 $1.4636  $13140 $1,311.8
Net income-. ... ......... . 287 33 L 176. .0 149 - 076 19.0
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Net)mcome in fiscal 2006 and 2004 is higher under the FIFO method since we experienced periods of rising
costs. Net income is higher in fiscal 2005  under the LIFO method than the FIFO method. Generally accepted
accounting principles requires that inventory acquired in an acqmsmon be valued at selling price less costs to sell,
dispose and comp]ele This value is generally higher than the cost to manufacture inventory. For the GSPP
Acquisition in fiscal 2005, the inventory value computed in this manner was $7.3 million higher than the cost to
manufacture. This step-up would have been expensed under the FIFO method. Under our LIFO inventory method,
this higher cost remains in inventory until the inventory layer represe;nted by this inventory is consumed. To the
extent inventory levels acquired in the GSPP Acquisition are lowered in the future, cost of goods sold could be
higher than the normal cost to manufacture. '

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, generai and administrative (“SG&A™) expenses decreased as a percentage of net sales to 11.4% in
fiscal 2006 from 11.8% in fiscal 2005 primarily as a result of the synergles we realized following the GSPP
Acqmsmon and our continued focus on cost reductions and efficiency. SG&A expenses were $39.2 million higher
than in the prior year primarily as a result of SG&A expenses from the GSPP locations and the partition business we
acquired.: Additionally, excluding amounts attributable to the GSPP Acquisition, bonus expense increased $7.6 mil-
lion; SG& A salaries increased $5.0 million primarily due to the partition business we acquired and to support other
product offerings; stock-based compensation expense increased $1.7 million primarily due to the adoption of
SFAS 123(R) and bad debt expense increased $1.4 million compared to the prior year resulting from mcreased total
exposure to and decreases in the credit quality of several customers.'

SG&A eéxpenses decreased as a percentage of net sales to' 1 1.8% in fiscal.2005 from 12.5% in fiscal 2004
primarily as a result of the synergies we realized following the GSPP Acquisition and our continued focus on cost
reductions and efficiency. SG&A expenses were $7.9 million higher than fiscal 2004 primarily as a result of SG&A
from the GSPP locations we acquired, the third party costs we mcurred to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
which were approxlmdtely $3.4 million, and increased amomzallon expense of $1.1 million from the GSPP
Acguisition. Bad debt expense decreased $2.5 million, and bonus expense and commission expense, excluding the
impact of the GSPP Acquisition, decreased $2.9 million and $2.0 million, respectively.

Acquisitions
. . 1 .

On February 27, 2006, our RTS subsidiary completed the acquisition of the partition business of Caraustar
Industries, Inc. for an aggregate purchase price of $6.1 million. This acquisition was funded by capital contributions
by us and our partner in proportion to our investments in RTS. We accbunted for this acquisition as a purchase of a
business and have included these operations in our consolidated financial statements since that date in our
Packaging Products segmem RTS made the acquisition in order to gain entrance into the specialty partition market
that manufactures high quality die-cut partitions. The acquisition resulted in $2.4 mll]lon of goodwill. We expect
the goodwill to be deductible for income tax purposes. The pro forma impact of the acquisition is not material to our
financial results.. :

On June 6, 2005, we acquired from Gulf States substantially all of the GSPP assets and operations and assumed
certain of Gulf States’ related liabilities. We have included the results of GSPP’s operations in our consolidated
financial statements since that date in our Paperboard segment and Packaging Products segment. In fiscal 2005, we
recorded the aggregate purchase price for the GSPP Acquisition of $552.2 million, net of cash received of
$0.7 million, including various expenses. As aresult of the GSPP Acquisition we recorded goodwill and intangibles,
We assigned the goodwill to our Paperboard and Packaging Products segments in the amounts of $37.2 million and
$13.8 million, respectively. We expect all $51.0 million of the goodwill to be deductible for tax purposes. We
recorded $50.7 million of intangible assets and incurred $4.0 million of financing costs to finance the acquisition.
We assigned the customer relationship intangibles to our Paperboard and Packaging Products segments in the
amounts of $36.4 million-and $14.3 million, respectively. The customer relationship intangibles lives vary by

_ segment acquired, and we are amortizing them on a straight-line basis over a weighted average life of 22.3 years.

The pro forma impact of the GSPP Acquisition was material to our consolidated financial results for fiscal 2005.
‘ |

For additional information, see “Note 6. Acquisitions” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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 Restructuring and Other Costs, Net

We recorded pre-tax restructuring and other costs, net of $7.8 million, $7.5 million, and $32.7 million for fiscal
2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. These amounts are not comparable since the timing and scope of the individual
actions associated with a restructuring can vary. For additional information, see “Note 7. Restructuring and Other

Costs, Net” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

. Segment Income

Segment Income — Paékaging Products Segment

Net Sales Segment Return
(Aggregate) Income on Sales
: ‘ . - (In millions, except percentages)
First Quarter ... ... ... el 8 2089 $70 0 34%
Second Quarter . ... ...... RUUE e 231.7 102. . 44
Third QUAMEr . .. .o\t D R 231.6 18 5
Fourth Quarter. . . ........... e e L .. 2 2359 9.0 38
Fiscal 2004 . ... ......c.......... e $ 908.1  $380 . 42% -
* First QUArter ... ... ... ... e e L s 218 $53 0 24%
Second Quarter . .. ... R, FE e 218.8 5.7 2.6
Third QUATEr .. ..\ vt e 239.2 106 44
Eounh Quarter. . .............. e e 31142 11.8 _3_8
Fiscal 2005................. P e e .. %9940 $334 *©  34%
First Quartes ... ............ e $ 3011 -$68.7 23%
Second Quarter .......... P L3197 134 42
Third Quarter . . ... ... . . . . s - 3262 13.2 4.0
Fourth Quarter . .. ......... ... ... s ‘ 320.8 11.6 3.6
Fiscal 2006. . .. ... ... .. . e i $1,267.8 $45.0 3.5%

VPde.ig,mg Products segment income increased to $45.0 million in fiscal 2006 from $33.4 million in fiscal 2003

primarily due to the carnings from the plants we acquired in the GSPP Acquisition, Return on sales increased despite -

increased material costs. Excluding amounts attributable to the GSPP Acquisition, segment income for the segment

" was decreased by, increased bonus expense of $3.7 million, higher ﬁ'mbhl costs of $6.7 million and increased bad
debt expense of $0.4 million; partially offsetting those costs was a decrease in group insurance expense of -

$2.3 million., AITIOTtIIdlIOI’] expense increased $1.5 million due to 1nmng|ble assets acquired in the GSPP
Acqumuon ‘

Packaging Products segment income decreased to $33.4 mllllon in fiscal 20()5 from $38. 0 million in fiscal
2004. Our operating margin for fiscal 2005 was 3.4% compared to 4.2% in fiscal 2004. The GSPP.folding plants
were net contributors to felding operating profit, but the decrease in segment income for the segment was primarily
due to lower folding sales volumes in plants owned for the full year and higher operating ¢osts. Additionally,
excluding amounts attributable to the GSPP Acquisition, freight expense increased $1.3 million primarily due to
increased fuel surcharges, and group insurance expense increased $0.7 million. Bad debt expense decreased
$1.5 million, workers’ compensation expense decreased $1.3 mllhon and sales commissions decreased $0.9 million
due to the mix of commissionable sales.
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Segment Income — Paperboard Segment . !
. ]

Coated and
Specialty
Recycled Bleached
Paperboard Corrugated Paperboard Markcet Pulp
Net Sates Segment Tons Medium Tons Tons Tons - Average

(Aggregate}  Income Return  Shipped (a) |Shipped Shipped (b) Shipped (b) Price (a) (¢)
(In Millions) (In Millions) On Sales (In Thousands) (In Thousands) (In Thousands) (In Theusands) (Per Ton)

1

. First Quaner e $1283 $31 4% 230.7 1439 nfa nfa $422
Second Quarter .. ........ 136.1 24 1.8 248.8 429 ~ nfa nfa’ 424
Third Quarter . .......... 138.6 26 1.9 248.0 47 n/a n/a 4392
Fourth Quarter. . . ........ 136.9 1.6 5.6 2249 . 46,1 T onfa nfa 455

- — _— — h D . I — — — e

Fiscal 2004............. $539.9 $15.7 29% 9524 -, 1716 n/a nfa $435
First Quarter . . .......... $128.7 $ 44 34% 2106 ;4T nfa va $467
Second Quarter .., c. .. ... 131.8 36 27 209.7 45.2 n/a nfa 472
Third Quarter .. ......... 155.0 1.6 4.9 2116 448 26.7 6.9 491
Fourth Quarter. . ... .... Lo 1999 16.0 80 209.7 448 $4.2 23 523
Fiscal 2005. . ... ........ $615.4 $31.6 5.1% 8416 11715 110.9 300 $492

First Quarter........... $187.7 $(1.0) 05% 2083 . 450 79.2 15.0 $524

Second Quarter .. ....... 205.7 15.8 1.1 2235 , 454 80.7 279 526
Third Quarter .. .. ... ... 204.1 18.9 9.3 220.6 44.2 76.6 23.7 539
* Fourth Quarter ......... 222.2 28.5 128 229.1 47.0 837 200 861

Fiscal 2006 .. .......... $819.7 $62.2 7.6% 881.5 T 1816 320.2 86.6 $538

(a) Recycled Paperboard Tons Shipped and Averdge Price Per Ton' 1nclude tons shipped by Seven Hills.
(b) Bleached paperboard and market pulp tons shipped began in June 2005 as a result of the GSPP Acquisition.

(¢c) Beginning in the third quarter of fiscal 2005, Average Price Per Ton includes coated and spec1ally recycled
paperboard corrugated medium, bleached paperboard and market pulp.

Paperboard segment income for fiscal 2006 1ncreased to $62.2 million compared to $31.6 million in fiscal
2005 due to increased operating rates and pricing improvements for recycled paperboard and income contributed
from the acquired bleached paperboard mill. Segment income was reduced by the sharp increase in natural gas
prices following Hurricanes Katrina and Rita; the annual maintenance shutdown in October and November 2005 of
our bleached paperboard mill; a mechanical failure of the white liquor clarifier at our bleached paperboard mill; and
aflood at one of our recycled paperboard mills. Qur recycled paperboard mills operated at 96% of capacity in fiscal
2006 compared to 92% in the sume period last year. On a volume adjusted basis, energy and freight costs at our
recycled paperboard mills increased $13.0 million and $1.7 million, respectively, and were offset by a $14.8 million
decrease in fiber costs. Our bleached paperboard mill operated at 98% of capacity in fiscal 2006. Additionally,
group insurance expense decreased by $2.0 million and amortization expense mcreascd $0.9 million due to the
GSPP Acquisition.

In fiscal 2006, we received $4.3 million of insurance proceeds, after $3.9 million of deductibles, for
$1.5 million of property damage claims and $2.8 million of business interruption claims. The proceeds from
. the property damage claims were used to return certain equipment to its original condition, perform plant clean-up,
and replace other equipment that was damaged in the two events menuoned above.

. Paperboard segment income for fiscal 2005 increased to $31.6 million compared to $15.7 million in fiscal
' 2004 due 1o the GSPP Acquisition and higher selling prices for recycled paperboard. Our operating margin for fiscal
2005 increased to 5.1% from 2.9% in fiscal 2004 as a result of higher:margin sales from the GSPP Acquisition and
increased selling prices. In our recycled mills, sales price mcreases were 51gn1fcantly offset by the aggregate
increase of $21 per ton in fiber, energy, chemical and freight costs corppared to the prior fiscal year. In our recycled

. paperboard mills, fiber costs increased $4.1 million, energy costs increased $6.6 miltion, chemical costs increased
$2.2 million, and freight costs increased $8.4 million on a volume adjusted basis. Additionally, adjusted for the
GSPP Acquisition, bad debt expense decreased $0.9 million, and bonus expense increased $0.8 million.
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Segment Income — Merchandising Displays Segment

ty

Net‘Sales "Segment Return on

{Aggregate) Income Sales
o {In millions, except percentages)

FirstQuartér......,................................: $ 55.7 $54 - 97%
Sécond Quarter . . . .. .. ....... SO e 58.2 6.1 10.5
Third Quarter . .. ... .. e e 56.6 - 4.3 7.6
Fourth Quarter ... ..., e 67.3 8.2 122
Fiscal 2004. ... ..o v v, PO $237.8 $240 - 10.1%
First QUArter . . .. .............c...... i $527 824 4.6%
Second Quarter. . ........ U e e S 590 3.7 6.3
Thied QUATET -« e v v e e e e e e e e . 570 54 9.5
Fourth Quarter ............. e .. 516 6.1 10.6
Fiscal 2005, . v vevennnn. .. e e $2263  $i76  _1.8%
First Quarter......... S AT SRORTR ©$492 s28 5.7%
Second Quarter. .. ... ... ... ... ... ... - X ] 3.2 57
Third Quarter .. . .. .... L 58.8- 1.6 27
Fourth Quarter . . .. .. .. M. e L 69.4 8.8 127
Fiscal 2006 .. ...... P S U $233.2 $16.4 _10%

'Merchandlsmg Displays segment income in fiscal 2006 decreased to $16.4 million from $17.6 mllhon in fiscal
2005. Increased raw material prices and increased freight expense of $1.0 million reduced segment income. SG& A
salaries increased '$2.7 million primarily to support new product offerings and bad debt expense increased
$0.3 million. .

Merchandising Displays segment‘income in fiscal 2005 decreased to $17.6 million from $24.0 million in fiscal
2004. Qur operating margin for fiscal 20035 decreased to 7.8% from 10.1% in fiscal 2004, The decline in: the
operating margin was the result of weaker than expected sales in the first and fourth fiscal quarters. Freight expense
increased $0.4 million, primarily due to 1ncreased fuel surcharges, sales commissions decreased $1.2 mllhon due to
the mix of commissionable sales, and bonus expense decreased $1.8 million. -




- Segment Incomé — Corrugated Segment - . '
- . S ‘ ) ‘ i . Net SaleS' Segment * Return on
’ ' ) (Aggregate) Income Sales
. oo ! (In millions, except percentages) .
First Quarter. . ... .......... e SCDRUD L8197 $05 2.5%
Second QUArter . . ... ..o e 21.5 1.4 6.5
Third Quarter . . ... ot e L 215 1.8 8.4 .
Fourth Quarter .. ... .. ... ... . ... ... ... ... ........ 21.2 14 5.1
Fiscal 2004, . ... . . $ 89.9 $5.1 3.7%
First Quarter. . .. ... .. 3 288 $0.3 1.0%
Second Quarter. . ... .. ... .. ... 30.2 1.1 3.6
Third Quarter . .. ... .t 29.8 1.0 34
Fourth Quarter ... ... ... ..t 297 L1 3
Fiscal 2005. ... ... oo oo $118.5 $3.5 3.0%
First Quarter. . ... ... ... .. ... ... ... .. . ... $ 284 $0.4 1.4%
Second Quarter. ... ....... ... .. . ... ... 31.9 1.0 31
Third Quarter. .. ... ... . ... .. . i 36.6 1.0 2.7
FourthQuarter.................. ... ... ... ... ... __ 388 _L.6 4.1
- Fiscal 2006 ......... S coo SI38T 840 . 29%

| L —_—

1

Corrngated segmen['inco'me in fiscal 2006 increaded to $4 0 million from $3.5 million in fiscal 2005 due

primarily to increased net sales. Increased raw matena] prices and increased freight expense of $0.5 million reduced

! - N |

.

segmient income. ! . 1

Corrugated segment income in fiscal 2005 decreased to $£3.5 mllllon from $5.1 million in ﬁscal 2004. Our
operating margin for fiscal 2005 decreased to 3.0% from 5.7% in ﬁscal 2004. The decline in the operating margin
was the result of higher material costs, a $1.1 million pre-tax loss at our Athens Corrugator that we acguired August
2004 Freight expeme increased $1 3-million, primarily due to mcreased volumes and fuel surcharges. '

S :
Interest Expense ’

Intérest expense for fiscal 2006 increased 51 9%. or $19.0 mllllon 10 $55.6 m1lllon from $36. 6 million for
fiscal- 2005 due pnmanly to our mcreased debt levels to fund the GSPP Acqguisition. The increase in our average

oulstandmg borrowmgs increased interest expense by approximately $16.9 million and higher interest rates, net of

swaps, mcreased mterest expense by approximately $2.1 million. | . -

"Interest expense for fiscal 2005 increased 55.1%, or $13.0 'million, to $36.6 million from $23.6 million for

i scal 2004, The increase was primarily attributable to our lncreased debt to fund the GSPP Acqmsmon The
‘increase in our average outstandmg borrowmgs increased interest expense by approxlmately $7.6 million. An

increase in oureffective interest rates, net of swaps, resulted in mcreased interest expense of approxlmately

$5.4 million. -
{

o Interest and Other Income .

q .
Interest and other income for ﬁsca] 2006 was $1.6 million compared to '$0.5 miilion in the same penod last
year. In the second quarter of fiscal 2006 we sold our Dallas Recycle eqmpment and the majority of the customers

from that fac111ty and received proceeds of $0.9 million and recorded a gain on the sale of $0.6 million. We sold our ,
- Fort Worth Recycle facility in the third fiscal quarter of 2006. We received proceeds of $2.1' million and recorded a

gain‘on sale of $0.7 million, These facilities were immaterial for reporting as discontinued operations for all periods
presemed Interest and-other income for fiscal 2005 was $0.5 million compared to an expense of $0.1 mllhon in
fiscal. 2004.
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Minority Interest

-

Minority interest in income of our consolidaled subsidiaries for fiscal 2006 increased 33.3% to $6.4 million
from $4.8 million in fiscal 2005. The increase was primarily due to our acquisition of a 60% ownership share in

GSD as part of the GSPP Acqmsmon Wthh we owned for the full year in fiscal 2006 and only four months in ﬁscal
2005.

Minority interest in income of our consolidated subsidiaries for fiscal 2005 increased 41.2% to $4.8 million
from $3.4 million in 2004. The increase was primarily due to our acqmsmon of a 60% ownershlp share in GSD as
" part of the GSPP Acquisition.

Provision for Income Taxes

For fiscal 2006, we recorded a provision for income taxes of $9.9 million, resulting in an effective rate of
25.8% of pre-tax income, as compared to a provision of $2.3 million for fiscal 2005, resulting in an effective rate of
11.3% of pre-tax income. In fiscal 2006, we adjusted the rate at which our deferred taxes are computed for state
income tax purposes on our domestic operating entities from approximately 4% to approximately 3%. This was
based upon our judgment regarding the expected long-term effective tax rates applicable to such items. As a result,
we recorded a tax benefit of $2.4 million. This benefit was offset by net expense of $0.4 million resulting from
Quebec provincial and Canadian federal tax law changes that we recorded in the first and third quarters of fiscal
2006, respectively. We recorded an additional benefit in fiscal 2006 of $0.8 million for research and development
and other tax credits, net of valuation allowance primarily related to prior years. Our fiscal 2005 provision reflects a
benefit due to a $4.1 million reduction of tax contingency reserves resulting from the adjustment and resolution of
" federal and state tax deductions that we had previously reserved. Other adjustments to the statutory federal tax rate
are more fully described in Note 12 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements included herein. We estimate that the
annual domestic marginal effective income tax rate for fiscal 2006 was approximately 38%. ' .

.} . 1
For fiscal 2005, we recorded a provision for income taxes of $2.3 million, resulting in -an effective rafte of
11.3% of pre-tax income, as compared to a provision of $0.9 million for fiscal 2004, resulting in an effective rate of

24.4% of pre-tax income. In fiscal 2004, we reorgamzed our corporate structure’and, as a result, reduced the number -
of our corporate entities which resulted in changes to certain income apportionment factors and a correction of dn’

. allocation of intercompany charges. As a result, we-recorded a one-time income tax beriefit of $3.2 million.
Approximately $1.2 million of the benefit relates to the filing of amended tax returns for fiscal years 2001 and 2002
and comparable adjustments made to the fiscal 2003 tax returns. The impact of the $1.2 milli‘on was not material to
~our net income for any prior fiscal years; therefore, we recorded the cumulative impact in fiscal 2004. Approx-

imately $2.0 rnillion of the tax benefit in fiscal 2004 related to‘a reduction in a valuation aliowance for net operating

loss carry-forwards (“NOLs™) and credits that we had previously concluded may not be realizable but which we
determmed as a result of the restructuring of our corporate entmes would- be realizable in future years.

" During the first quarter of fiscal 2006, we repatriated, from certain-of our foreign subsidiaries, $33.6 million in
extraordinary dividends, as allowed under the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. This Act created a temporary

incentive for United States corporations 1o repatriate accumulated income earned abroad by allowmg a deduction -
from US taxable income of an. amount equal to 85% of certain dividends received from.controlled forelgn .

corporauons As a result of this repatriation, we expect to pay $2.3 million of United Stdtes taxes.

Disconﬁnued Operations

Income from discontinued opérations, net of tax, was $8.0 million in fiscal 2004. In the first quaher of fiscal
2004, we completed the sale of our plastic packaging division and the sale of certain assets and liabilities of a plant
that we acquired in the January 2003 acquisition of Groupe Cartem Wilco Inc. (“Cartem Wilco”). We received
cash proceeds of approximately $59.0 million from the sale of the plastic packaging divisich and we recorded an
* after-tax gain of approximately $7.3 million. The sale of certain Cartem Wilco assets and liabilities resutted.in no
gain or loss and we received cash proceeds of approximately $2.9 million. We have reclassified the results of

operations for these components as income from discontinued operations, net of tax, on the consolidated stalemenls '

in ﬁscal 2004. : ) . s
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Liquidity and Capital Resources |
Workt;zg' C’apital and Capttal E.rpcnditureS' _ .
- We fund our workmg capital requlrements capltal expendlturesq nd acqulsmons trom net, cash provrded by
‘operating activitics, borrowings under term notes, ‘our receivables- backed financing facility and bank credit

facilities, proceeds from the sale of idled assets, and proceeds received in connection with the issuance of industrial
development revenue bonds as well as other debt and equity securities.

The sum of cash and cash equivalents was $6.9 million at September 30, 2006, compared to $26.8 million at
September 30, 2005, an aggregate decrease of $19.9 million. Our debt balance at September 30, 2006, was
$806.1 miliion compared with $215.1 million on September 30, 2005, a decrease of $109.0 million, which primarily
reflects payments on the debt incurred 10 finance the GSPP Acquisition. We are exposed to changes in interest rates
as a result of our short-term and long-term debt. We use interest rate swap instruments to manage the interest rate
characteristics of a portion of our outstanding debt. In June and September 2005, we entered into $350.0 miilion

notional amount-and $75.0 ‘million notional amount of floating-to- ﬁxed interest rate swaps, respectively, and-

designated them as cash flow hedges ¢ of alike amount of our floating rate debt. We terminated these swaps and in
. February 2006 réalized net proceeds of $9.9 million. We .entered mto new swaps for notional amounts totaling
‘ $425.0 mllllon concurrently w1th the termination. We termmated these swaps in June 2006. We realized net
_ proceeds of $46° mrlhon upon termination. We entered into new.. swaps “for $390.0 million notional amount
} concurrently with the' lermmatlon Subsequent to September 30, 2006 we terminated one of these swaps, with
© notional dmount of $100.0 rillion; at ‘minimal cost,.In fiscal 2005 we financed the GSPP Acqu1smon “of

$552.2 mllhon including reldted- costs, with $4200 ‘millien in-financing from a new secured credit facrhty '
(“‘Senior” Credlt Facﬂlty”) that we entered into contemporaneously with the closing of the GSPP Acquisition,.

- $70.1 million in flnancmg from our then exrstmg $75.0 million recewables backed financing facility and cash on
hand. .. |
. R
, At the tll’I‘le of the GSPP ACQUISI[IOI‘I we establlshed a goal to rediice our Net Debt (as hereinafter defined) by
$180 mllllon by September 2007 For thls goal we'assumed our Net Debt would equal 6ur March 31, 2005 Net Debt
0f $396.3 million plus the purchase prlce of $552.4 million, 1ncludmg $2 8 million of fees, and that we would reduce
our Net Debt to $768.7' million by September 2007. Our actual Net Debt at the end of September 30, 2006 was
$788.8 million, 1mp]ymg that we reduced Net. Debt by $159 9 m1lhon We are ‘ahead of our expectations for Net
Debt reductlon after the GSPP Acqmsmon '

The Senior Credit Fac1llty includes revolving credit, swing, term loan, and letters of credit facilities with’ an

~ aggregate original pr1nc1pal amount of $700.0 million. The Senior Credrt Facility is pre—payable at any time and is
scheduled to expire on June 6, 2010. Certain restnctwe covenants govern our maxinium availability under this
facility, including: Mlmmum Consolidated Interest Ratio Coverage;; Maximum Leverage Ratio; and Mmlmum

-Consolidated Net Worth: as those terms aré defined by the Senior Credit Facility. We test and report out comphance .

" with these covenants each quarter We are well within compliance at Septefber 30, 2006, At September 30, 2006,
due to the covenants in the Senior Credrt Facallty, Maximuin add1t|onal available borrowmgs under this facility were

" approximately $115.5 millidn. AI September 30, 2006 and 2005, we had $86.9 million and $216.0 million -

outstanding under the revolving credrt portion of our Senior Credit Facility, respectlvely The Senior Credit Facility
provides for up to $100.0 million in revolvmg credit to a Canadian subsidiary. At September 30, 2006, $49.8 million
of the total revolving ‘borrowings were to. this, Canadian subsidiary. We had $243.7 million and $250.0 million
outstandmg under the term. loan facility at September 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005, respectively. We have
aggregate outstandmg 1etters of, credit, under this fac111ty of approximately.$37.million. We have a 364- day
receivables- backed fmancmg facility. On'October 26, 2005, we amended the receivables-backed financing facility
(“Recewables Facnllty”) and increased the maximum borrowing availability from $75.0'te $100.0 million. This
facility expired on October 25, 2006.. We amended the facrhty, and the facility is scheduled to expire on
November 16, 2007.. Borrowmg availability, under this facility is based on the eligible underlying receivables.
At September 30, 2006, maximum available borrowings under this fac111ty were approximately $100 million. At
September 30, 2006 and _September 30; 2005, we had $90.0 million ‘and-$55.0 million, respectively outstanding
under our receivables-backed - ﬁnancmg,facrhty For additional information regarding our outstanding debt, our
credit facilities and their securitization, seé “Note 10. Debt” of the Ijlotes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Net cash provided by operating activities for fiscal 2006 and 2005 was $153.5 million and $153.3 million,
respectively. In fiscal 2006, proceeds from the termination of interest rate swap contracts and higher earnings before
depreciation and amortization resulting frorn the GSPP Acquisition were offset by increases in working capital and
pension funding more than expense. The increase in working capital in fiscal 2006 was primarily due to higher
inventories and accounts receivable offset by higher accounts payables resulting from a change in timing of vendor
payments. Net cash provided by operating activities for fiscal 2005 was $153.3 million and $93.5 million in fiscal
2004. The increase was primarily due to higher income from continuing operations, increased depreciation and
amortization, and net decreases in working capital. The net decreases in working capital were primarily due 1o a
reduction in accounts receivable and inventories. Net cash provided by operating activities for fiscal 2004 was
reduced by $9.9 million of cash taxes paid on the sale of our plastic packaging division, which we are required to
record asa reducuon of net cash provided by operating activities.

Nel cash used for mveslmg activitiés wits $67.0 illion during fiscal 2006 compared to $572.5 million in fiscal
2005 Net cash used for investing activities in fiscal 2006 consisted primarily of $64.6 million of capital
expenditures. Additionally, cash paid for the purchase of businesses was $7.8 million primarily for two Packaging
Products segment acquisitions. Net cash used for investing activities was $372.5 million in fiscal 2005 compared to
$36.3 million in fiscal 2004. Net cash used for investing activities consisted primarily of the $552.2 million
purchase price of the GSPP Acquisition, $54.3 million of capital expenditures that were partially offset by net sales
of $28.2 million of marketable securities, and proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment of
$6.0 million, primarily from previously idled facilities and equipment. In fiscal 2004, net cash used for investing

activities consisted primarily of capital expenditures of $60.8 million, and net purchases of $28.2 million of -

marketable securities, and our Athens Corrugator acquisition for which the purchase price was $13.7 million, and
were largely offset by the $59.0 million that we received from the sale of the plastic packaging division and
$29 mllllon that we received from the sale of certain Cartem Wilco assets and llabllmes i

Net cash used for financing activities was $105.8 million during fiscal 2006 and cash provided by financing
activities was $416.5 million in fiscal 2003. In fiscal 2006 net cash used consisted primarily of net repayments of
debt, cash dividends paid to shareholders, and distributions to minority interest partners, which were partially offset
by issuances of Common Stock and advances from joint venture. Net cash'provided by financing activities was
$416.5 million in fiscal 2005 and net cash used for financing activities was $43.2 million in fiscal 2004. In fiscal
2005, net cash provided consisted primarily of net additions 1o debt to finance the GSPP Acquisition and the
issuance of Common Stock, which were partially offset by cash dividends paid to shareholders, distributions to
minority interest partners, payment on termination of fair value interest rate hedges, and debt issuance costs. In
fiscal 2004, net cash used for financing activities consisted primarily of net repayments of debt, cash dividend
payments o shareholders, and distributions to the minority interest partner in our RTS joint venture that were
partially offset by proceeds from monetizing swap contracts and the issuance of Common Stock.

In fiscal 2006, we received $4.3 million of insurance proceeds, after $3.9 million of deductibles, for
$1.5 million of property damage claims and $2.8 million of business interruption claims. The proceeds were
used to return certain equipment to its original condition, perform plant clean-up, and replace other equipment that
was damaged. Net cash used for investing activities included $0.9 million for caplla] equipment purchased and the
balance was classified in cash provided by operating activities.

Qur capital expenditures aggregated $64.6 million in fiscal 2006. We used these expenditures primarily for the
purchase and upgrading of machinery and equipment. We estimate that our capital expenditures will aggregate
approximately $70 million in fiscal 2007. We are obligated to purchase $11.5 million of fixed assets at Septem-
ber 30, 2006. We intend to use these expenditures for the purchase and upgrading of machinery and equipment,
including growth and efficiency capital focused on our folding carton business, and maintenance capital, We believe
that our financial position would support higher levels of capital expenditures, if justified by opportunities to
increase revenues or reduce costs, and we continuously review new investment opportunities. Accordingly, it is
possible that our capital expenditures in fiscal 2007 could be higher than currently anticipated. '

We estimate that we will spend approximately $3.0 million for capltal expenditures durmg fiscal 2007 in
connection with matters relating to environmental compliance. Additionally, to comply with emissions regulations
under the Clean Air Act, we may be required to modify or replace a coal-fired boiler at one of our facilities, the cost
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- of Wthh we estimate would be appr0x1mately $2 Oto $3 0 mllhon lf necessaty; we anticipate that we will incur

o those costs during ﬁscal 2007 and 2008

|
Except for_ the approxnmately $2.3 m1lhon we expect © remlt!m 2006 for the Homeland Investment Act
dividend, as a result of the step up in basis related to the acquisition of the GSPP fixed assets and the associated tax
depreciation from these assets we do not anttcnpate paying any Federal income taxes related to fiscal 2006. We do
not expect cash tax payments to-exceed i income tax expense in fiscal 2007. We expect cash tax payments to,exceed
income tax expense in fiscal 2008 and 2009, primarily as book depll'emauon begins 1o exceed tax depreciation.
Based on current facts and assumptions, we do not anticipate these amounts to be material. '

In connection with prior dispositions of assets and/or subsidiaries, we have made certain guarantees to third
parties as of September 30, 2006. Our specified maximum aggregate potential liability on an undiscounted basis is
approximately $7.8 million, other than with respect to certain specified liabilities, including liabilities relating to
title, taxes, and certain environmental matters, with respect to which there may be no limitation. We estimate the fair
value of our aggregate liability for outstanding indemnities entered into after December 31, 2002, lncludmg the
indemnities described above with respect to which there are no limitations, to be approximately $0.1 million.
Accordingly, we have recorded a liability for that amount. For additional information regarding our guarantees, see
“Note 18. Commitments and Contingencies™ of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

We anticipate that we will be able to fund our capital expenditures, interest payments, stock repurchases,
dividends, pension payments, working capital needs, and repayments of current portion of long term debt for the
foreseeable future from cash generated from operations, borrowings under our Senior Credit Facility and receiv-
ables-backed financing facility, proceeds from the issuance of debt or equity securities or other additional long-term
debt financing.

In November 2006, our board of directors approved a resolution to pay our quarterly dividend of $0.09 per
share mdlcaung an annuahzed d1v1dend of $0 36 per year, on our Common Stock

-

Durmg ﬁscal 2007 we have. mmlmum pensmn contnbutlons of appr0x1mately $13 mllhon to make to the
u. S. Qualified Plans. Based on current facts and assumptlons we antlmpate conmbutmg apprommately $45 million
to the U.S. Qualified ‘Plans by the ‘end of fiscal 2008 |

Contractual Obligations o ' y

B

We summarize-in the folloxiiling" table our enforceable and legally binding contractual obligations at’ Sep-
tember 30, 2006, and the effect these obligations are expected t6 have on our llquldlty and cash flow:in future
‘periods. We ‘based some of the amounts in this table én management s estimates and assumptions about these

_obligations, including their duration, the ‘possibility of renewal, ant1c1pated actions by third parties, and other
factors. Because these estimates and assumptions.are subjective, the enforeeable and legally binding obligations we
actually pay in future penods may. vary from those we have- summanzed in the table.

'

Payments Due by Penod

. - : T Fiscal ., - Fiscal - " Fiscal v
Contractual Obligations - - D ¢ - Total 2007 l 2008 & 2009 - 2010 &.2011:  Thereafter
- o U . . (In millions) - ,.. .
Long-term debt, including current = -+~~~ & - o :
portion (a)(e) .. .w i .o § 7962 $ 408 bo$2159 - $4181 $121.4
Operating lease obligations- (b)s. Loie o 354 122 . 14:8 755 29
- Purchase obligations (c)(d) . ........ - 2238 1682 "+ 55.2 0.2 0.2
g

_Total...ll..-:; ....... e Sopeee $10554  $221.2. v $2859 . $4238 U §1245

v o2 , . . . e . i
<y s by f t . 1

(a)y- We have mcluded in the long term debt lme 1tem above amounts owed on our note agreements, |ndustr1a1
development revenue bonds, and credit agreements. For purposes of this table, we assume that all of our long-
“term debt will be held to maturlty We have not included in these amounts interest payable on our long-term
débt. We have excluded aggregate hedge adjustments resultmg from terminated interest rate derivatives or
swaps of $10.4 million and excluded unamortized bond discounts of $0.5 million from the table to arrive.at

: | )
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actual debt obligations. For information on the interest-rates applicable to our various debt instruments see
“Note 10. Debt” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements: :

(b} For more information, see “Note 11. Leases” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,

(c) Purchase obligations include agreements to purchase goods or services that are enforceable and legally
binding and that specify all significant terms, including: fixed or minimum quant.itie's to be purchased; fixed,
minimum or variable price provision; and the approximate tlmlng of the tmnsactron Purchase obligations
exclude agreements that are cancelable wrthout penalty.

(d) Under the terms of the Seven Hills joint venture agreement, our _]Oll’l[ venture partner has the option to
terminate the joint veniure and require us to purchase its interest in Seven Hills on March 29, 2008, and
annuaily thereafter at a formula price that would result in a current purchase price of less than 40% of our joint
venture partner’s then current book net equity investment. At September 30, 2006 we have estlmated the
purchase price to be approxrmate]y $8 | million.-We have not mcluded the $8. 1 million in the table above

(e) 'We have not included in the table above an item labeled other long-term liabilities' reflected ‘on: our

consolidated balance sheet” because none of our other long- -term liabilities have a definite pay-out scheme As

discussed in “Note 13. Retirement Plans” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, we have Iong—

term liabilities for deferred employee compensation, including pension, supplemental retirement plans, and

deferred compensation. We have not included in the table the payments related o the supplemental retirenlent

plans and deferred compensation beécause these amounts are dependent upon, among other things, when the

employee retires or leaves our company, and whether the employee elects lump-sum or installment payments

In addition, we havé not included in the table minimum pension fundmg requirements because such amounts

are not available for all-periods presented. We estimate that we will contribute approximately $13 million to

our five qualified defined benefit pension plans in fiscal 2007 and based on current facts and assumptlons

expect to contribute' $45 million to the plans by the end of fiscal 2008. During fiscal 2006, we contrlbuted
approximately $20.6 million to our five qualrﬁed defined beneﬁt pension plans

i

In addition to the enforceable and legally binding obligations quantiﬁed in the table above, we have t?ther

obligations for goods and services and raw materials entered into in the normal course of business. These contracts,

however, either are not enforceable or leg'ally binding or are subject t0 change based on our business decisions,

For information concerning certain related party transactions, see “Nate 17. Related Party Transactlons” of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. '

Unconsolidated Joint Venture

We own 49% of the Seven Hills joint venture with our joint venture partner, and account for it under the equity
method. During fiscal 2006 our share of operating income incurred at Seven Hills amounted to $1.9 million. During
fiscal 2005 our share of operating losses incurred at Seven Hills amounted to $1.0 million. The loss in fiscal 2005
reflected our estimate of our share of the adverse impact of a preliminary settlement of arbitration between us and’
our joint venturé partner, which was recorded in the third quarter of fiscal 2005. This arbitration centered on the
price we had previously charged, and could'in the fiiture charge Seven, Hills for certain energy costs and other
services, as well as the price Seven Hills had prev1ously charged, and could in.the future charge our joint venture
partner for product sold to our joint venture partner. The final settlement notice was received in December 2005. At
that time, we determined that a portion of the adverse impact previously recorded no longer was required and the
excess amount of $1.2 million was reledsed to income in the first quarter of fiscal 2006. During fiscal 2004, our
share of operating income at Seven Hills was $0.1 million; Our pre-tax income from the Seven Hills joint venture,
including the fees we charge the. venture and our share .of -the joint venture’s net’income, was $3.7 million,
$0.7 million; and $2.8 million for fiscal 2006, 2()05, and 2004, respectively.

For_ additional 1nf0rmat10n see “Note 9 Unconsoltdated Jamt Venturé” of the Notes to Consolidated
. Financial Statements.
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Srock Repurchase Program

Our board of direclors has approved a stock repurchase plan that a]]ows for the repurchase from time to time of
shares of Common Stock over an indefinite period of time. As of September 30, 2006, we had 2.0 million shares of
Common- Stock available for repurchase under the amended repurchase plan. Pursuant to our repurchase plan,
durmg fiscal 2006 2005, and 2004, we dld not repurchase any shares of Common Stock

.

Expenditures for Environmental Compliahce ' o

For a discussion of our expenditures for environmental compliance, see ltem 1, “Business — Governmental
Regulation — Environmental Regulation.”

‘Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We have prepared our accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principies, which require management to make estimates that affect the amounts of revenues.
expenses, assets and liabilities reported. The following are critical accounting matters that are both important 1o the
portrayal of our financial condition and results and that require some of management's most subjective and complex
judgments. The accounting for these matters involves the making of estimates based on current facts. circumstances
and assumptions that, in management’s judgment, could change in a manner that would materially affect
management’s future estimates with respect to such matters and, accordingly, could cause our future reported
financial condition and results to differ materially from those that we are currently reporting based on manage-
ment’s current estimates. For additional information, see “Note 1. Description of Business and Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. See also ltem 7A, “Quan-

titative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.” &

Accounts Receivable and Allowances : o

We have an allowance for doubtful accounts, returns and allowanges, and cash discounts that serve to reduce
the value of our gross accounts receivable to the amount we estimate we will ultimately collect. The allowances
contain uncertainties because the calculation requires management to make assumptions and apply judgment
regarding the customer’s credit worthiness and the returns and allowances and cash discounts that may be taken by

our customers. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and adjust credit limits based upon payment

history and the customer's current credit worthiness, as determined by our review of their current credit information. -

We continuously monitor collections from our customers and maintain a provision for estimated credit losses based
upon our customers’ financial condition, our collection experience and any other relevant customer specific credit
information. Our assessment of this and other information forms the basis of our allowances. We do not believe
there is a reasonable likelthood that there will be a material change in the future estimates or assumptions we use 10

" estimate the allowances. However, while these credit losses have historically been within our expectations and the -

provisions we established, it is possible that our credit loss rates could be hi gher or lower in the future depending on
changes in business conditions. At September 30, 2006, our allowances were $5.2 million; a 5% change in our
atlowance would change our reserve by approximately $0.3 million.

Inventory

We carry our inventories at the lower of cost or market. Cost includes materials, labor and overhead. Market,
with respect to all inventories, is replacement cost or net realizable value, depending on the inventory. Management
frequently reviews inventory to determine the necessity to-markdowr excess, obsolete or unsaleable inventory.
- Judgment and uncertainty exists with respect to this estimate because it requires management to assess customer
and market demand. These estimates. may prove to be inaccurate, in which case we may have overstaled or
understated the markdown required for excess, obsolete or unsaleable inventory, We have not made any material
changes in the accounting methodology used to markdown inventory during the past three fiscal years. We do not
believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change in the future estimates or assumptions we
use to calculate inventory markdowns. While these markdowns have historically been within our expectations and
the markdowns we established, it is possible that cur reserves could be higher or lower in the future if our estimates
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are inaccurate. At September 30, 2006, our inventory reserves were $1.3 million; a 5% change in our inventory
allowance would change our reserve by approximately $0.1 million.

Prior to the application of the LIFO method, our U.S. operations used a variety of methods to estimate the FIFO
cost of their finished goods inventories. One of our divisions uses a standard cost system. Another division divides
the actual cost of goods manufactured by the tons produced and multiplies this amount by the tons of inventory on
hand. Other divisions calculate a ratio, on a plant by plant basis, the numerator of which is the cost of goods soid and
the denominator is net sales. This ratio is applied to the estimated sales value of the finished goods inventory.
Variances and other unusuval items are analyzed to determine whether it is appropriate to include those items in the
value of inventory. Examples of variances and unusual items include, but are not limited to, freight, handling costs
and wasted materials (spoilage) to determine the amount of current period charges. Cost includes raw materials and
supplies, direct labor, indirect labor related to the manufacturing process and depreciation and other factory
overheads.

Impairment of Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets

We review the recorded value of our goodwill annually during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, or sooner if
evenls or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may exceed fair value as set forth in Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goeodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. We determine recoverability
by comparing the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to which the goodwill applies to the carrying value,
including goodwill, of that reporting unit. Estimating the fair value of the reporting unit involves uncertainties,
because it requires management to develop numerous assumptions, including assumptions about the future gfowth
and potential volatility in revenues and costs, capital expenditures, industry economic factors and future business
strategy.

The variability of the factors that management uses to perform the goodwill impairment test depends on a
number of conditions, including uncertainty about future events and cash flows. All such factors are interdependent
and, therefore, do not change in isolation. Accordingly, our accounting estimates may materially change from
period to period due to changing market factors. If we had used other assumptions and estimates or if different
conditions occurred in future periods, future operating results could be materially impacted. For example, based on
available information as of our most recent review during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006, if our net operating profit
before tax had decreased by 10% with respect to the pre-tax earnings we used in our forecasts, the enterprise value of
each of our divisions would have continued to exceed their respective net book values. Also, based on the same
information, if we had concluded that it was appropriaie to increase by 100 basis points the discount rate we used to
estimate the fair value of each reporting unit, the fair value for each of our reporting units would have continued to
exceed its carrying value. '

We follow Statement of Financial Accouming Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”), in determining whether the carrying value of any of our long-lived assets is
impaired. Our judgments regarding the existence of impairment indicators are based on legal factors, market
conditions and operational performance. Future events could cause us to conclude that impairment indicators exist
and that assets associated with a particular operation are impaired. Evaluating the impairment also requires us to )
estimate future operating results and cash flows, which also require judgment by management. Any résuiting
impairment loss could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

Included in our long-lived assets are certain intangible assets. These intangible assets are amortized based on
the approximate pattern in which the economic benefits are consumed over their estimated useful lives ranging from
1 to 40 years and have a weighted average of approximately 20.5 years. We identify the weighted average lives of
our intangible assets by category in “Note 8. Other Intangible Assets” of the Notes 1o Consolidated Financial
Statements.

We have not made any material changes to our impairment loss assessment methodology during the past three
fiscal years. We do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change in future
assumptions or estimates we use Lo calculate impairment losses. However, if actual results are not consistent with
our assumptions and estimates, we may be exposed to additional impairment losses that could be material.
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Health Insurance : S :

We are seil"-msured for the majority of our group health insurance costs, subject to specific retention levels.
Our self-insurance liabilities contain uncertainties because the calculanon requires management to make assump-
tions regardmg and apply judgment to estimate the ultimate cost to sell]e reported claims and claims incurred but
not reported as of the balance sheet date. We utilize historical claims Iag data provided by our claims administrators
to compute the required estimated reserve rate. We calculate our average monthly claims paid utilizing the actual
monthly payments during the trailing 12-month period. At that time, we also calculate our required reserve utilizing
the reserve rates discussed above. During fiscal 2006, the average monthly claims paid were between $2.9 million
and $3.3 million and our average claims lag was between 1.4 and 1.9 times the average monthly claims paid. Our
accrual at September 30, 2006, represents approximately 1.4 times the average monthly claims paid. Health
insurance costs have risen in recent years, but our reserves have historically been within our expectations. We have
not made any material changes in the accounting methodology used to establish our self-insured liabilities during
the past three fiscal years. We do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change in
the future assumptions or estimates we use to calculate our self-msured liabilities. However, if actual results are not
consistent with our assumptions, we may be exposed to losses or gams that could be material. A 5% change in the
average claims lag would ch.mge Our reserve by approximately $0.2 million. Co
\- ‘ . {
Workers Compensation o ' ) ' |

We purchase workers’ compensation policies for the majority of our workers compensation liabilities that are
subject to'various deductibles. We calculate our workers’ compensation reserves based on estimated actuarially
calculated development factors. Our workers’ compensation liabilities contain-uncertainties because the calculation
requires management to make assumptions regarding the injury. We have not made any material changes in the
accounting methodology used to establish our workers’ compensation liabilities during the past three fiscal years.
We do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change in the future assumptions or
estimates we use to calculate our workers’ compensation liabilities. However, if actuat results are not consistent
with our éssumplions, we may be exposed 1o losses or gains that could be material. Although the cost of individual
claims may vary over the life of the claim, the population taken as a whole has not changed significantly from our
expectations. A 5% adverse change in our development factors at Seplember 30, 2006 would have resulted in an
addmonal $0.5 million of expense for the fiscal year, | “

Accounting Jor Income Taxes o "

, As part of the process of preparing our Consolidated Financia! Statements, we are required to estimate our
- income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. We cs;timatc our actual current tax exposure and
assess temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. These
differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are mc]uded within our consolidated balance sheet.
Certain judgments, assumptions. and estimates may affect the can’ymg value of any deferred tax assets and their
associated valuation allowances, if any, and deferred tax liabilities in our Consolidated Financial Statements. We
periodically review our. estimates and assumptions of our estimated tax assets and obligations using historical
experience in the jurisdictions we do business in, and informed judgments. In addition, we maintain reserves for
certain tax contingencies based upon our expectations of the outcome of tax audits in the jurisdictions where we
operate. While we believe that our assumptions are appropriate, significant differences in our actual experience or
significant changes in our assumptions may materially affect our income tax expense and liabilities. A 1% increase
in our effective tax rate would increase tax expense from continuing operations by approximately $0.4 million for
fiscal 2006. A 1% increase in our estimated tax rate used to compuie déferred tax liabilities and assets, as recorded
on the September 30, 2006 consolidated balance sheet, would increase tax expense by approximately $4.1 million
for fiscal 2006. ’

Pension Plans

We have five defined benefit pension plans (“U.S. Qualified Plans”). with approximately 56% of our
employees in the United States currently accruing benefits. In addmon under several labor contracts, we make:
payments based on hours worked into muhi-employer pension plan trusls established for the benefit of certain

!
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collective bargaining employees in facilities both inside and outside the United States. The determination of our
obligation and expense for pension plans is dependent on our selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in
calculating such amounts. We describe these assumptions in “Note -13. Retirement Plans” of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, which include, among others, the discount rate, expected long-term rate of
return on plan assets and expected rates of increase in compensation levels. Although there is authoritative guidance
on how to select most of these assumptions, management must exercise some degree of judgment when selecting
these assumptlons

The amounts necessary to fund future payouts under these plans are subject to numerous assumptions and
variables. Certain significant variables require us to make assumptions such as a discount rate, expected rate of
return on plan assets and future compensation levels. We evaluate these assumptions with our actuarial advisors on
. an anpual basns and we believe they are within accepted industry ranges, although an increase or decrease in the
- assumpnons ‘or‘economic events outside our control could have a direct impact on reported net earnings.

Our discount rate for each plan used for determining future net periodic benefit cost is based on the Citigroup
Pension Discount Cur\ge;. We project benefit cash flows from our two largest defined benefit plans against discount
rates published in the September 30, 2006 Citigroup Pension Discount Curve matched to fit our expected liability
payment pattern. The beneﬁls paid in each future year were discounted to the present at the published rate of the
Citigroup Pension Discount Curve for that year. These present values were added up and a discount rate for each
plan was determined that would develop the same present value as the sum of the individual years. To set the
discount rate for all plans, the average of the discount rate for the two plans was rounded up to the nearest 0.125%.
We believe this accurately reflects the future defined benefit payment streams for our plans. In past years we
rounded the yield of the Moody’s AA Utility Bond Index up to the nearest 0.25%. We utilized this methodology due
to the correlation of the average age and time to retirement for the participants in our plans and the maturity
characteristics of the index. For measuring benefit obligations as of September 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005 we
employed a discount rate of 5.875% and 5.5%, respectively. The 37.5 basis point increase in our discount rate
compared to the prior measurement date, the return on plan assets achieved in fiscal 2006 and our $20.6 million of
employer contributions in fiscal 2006 were the prlmary reasons for the $31.7 million increase in funded status

compared to the prior year. If we had utilized the Moody’s AA Utility Bond Index yield rounded up to the nearest
0.25%, on September 30, 2006, our discount rate would have been 5.75%.

In detemunmg the long -term rate of return for a plan, we consider the historical rates of return, the nature of the
plan’s investments and an expectauon for the plan’s investment strategies. As of September 30, 2006 and 2005 we
used an expected return on plan assets of 9.0%. The plan assets were divided amiong various investment classes. As
of September 30, 2006, approximately 70% of plan assets were invested with equity managers, approximately 29%
of plan assets were invested with fixed income managers, and approximately 1% of plan assets were held in cash.
The difference between actual and expected returns on plan assets is accumulated and amortized over future periods
and, therefore, affects our recorded obligations and recognized expenses in such future periods. For fiscal 2006 our
pension plans had actual returns on assets of $20.8 million as compared with cxpected returns on assets of
$20.6 million, which resulted in a net deferred gain of $0.2 million. At September 30, 2006 we had an unrecognized
loss of $95.0 million. In fiscal 2007, we expect-to charge to net periodic pension cost approximately $5.8 million of
this unrecognized loss. The amount of this unrecognized loss charged to pension cost in future years is dependent
upon future interest rates and pension investment results. A 25 basis point change in the discount rate, the expected
increase in compensation levels or the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets would have had the following
effect on fiscal 2006 pension expense (in millions, amousits in the table in parentheses reflect additional income):

25 Basis Point 25 Basis Point

Increase Decrease
Discountrate ........... e PR $(1.4) $14
Cempensation level. . ... e 502 $(0.2)

|
H

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets .. ............... $(0.6) 306

Several factors influence our annual funding requirements. For the U.S. Qualified Plans, our funding policy
consists of annual contributions at a rate that provides for future plan benefits and maintains appropriate funded
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percentages. Thcse contnbuuons are not less than the minimum reqmred by the Employce Retirement lncomc

Security Act'of 1974; as amended (“ERISA™), and subsequent pension leglslatlon and is not more than lhe
maximum amount deductlblc for income tax purposes. Amounts necessary to fund fuwre obligations under these

plans could vary depending on estimated assumptlons The effect on operating results i m the future of pension plan .

' fundmg will depend in part on investment performance fundlng decmons and employec demographlcs

For ﬁscal 2006 and 2005 there was no minimum contribution to, the U.S. Quahﬁcd Plans required by ERISA.
However, at mdnagement s discretion, we made cash contributions to the U:S. Qualified Plans of $20.6 million and

$7 3 million during fiscal 2006 and 2005, respectively. During fiscal 2007, we have a minimum-'contribution of -

approximately $13 million to make to the U.S. Qualified Plans. Bdsed on current facts and assumptions, we
anticipate contributing approximately $45 million to the U.S. Qualified Plans by the end of fiscal 2008.

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 158, “Employer's Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement
Plans — an Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)” (“SFAS 1587). SFAS 158 requires an
employer that is a business entity and sponsors one or more single employer benefit plans to (1) recognize the
funded status of the benefit in its statement of financial position, (2) recognize as a component of other
comprehensive income, net of tax, the gains or Tosses and prior service costs or credits that arise during the
peried but are not recognized as componem;‘. of net periodic benefit cost, (3) measure defined benefit plan assets and
obligations a$ of the date of the employer’s fiscal year end statement of financial position and (4) disclose in the
notes to financial statements additional information about certain effects on net periodic benefit cost for the next
" fiscal year that arise from delayed récognition of the gains or losses, prior service costs on credits, and transition

asset or obllgdtlons SFAS 158 is effective no later than the end of the Company’s fiscal year ended September 30, .
2007. 1f SFAS 158 had been effective as of September 30, 2006, total assets would have been approximately”

$3 million lower, total liabilities’ would have been apprommately $9 mllhon hlgher and shareholders’ equity would
have been approxnmately $12 million lower Because our net pension lldbllllles are dependent upon future events
and circumstances, the impact at the“time of adoption of SFAS 158 may differ from lhese amounts. ‘_.-

r ; ”
New Accounting Standards - _ L BN '

.

See “Note 1. Description of Business and Summary of Stgmf cant Accountmg Policies” of the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements for a.full description of. recent dccountmg pronouncements including the
respective expected dates of adoption and expected effects on resulls of operations and financial condition.
- ;
Non GAAP Measure ‘ o .
I
We have included in the discussion under the caption “Management s Dlscussmn and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Overview” above a ﬁnancml measure thatis not prepared in accordance
with GAAP. Any analysis of non-GAAP financial ‘measures should bé used ‘only in conjunction with results
presented in accordance with GAAP. Below, we define the non- GAAP financial measure, provide a reconciliation
of the non-GAAP findncial measure to the most directly comparable ﬁnancml measure calculated in accordance

with GAAP, and discuss the reasons that we believe this mformanon 1s1useful to management and may be useful 1o
investors. : ‘

Net Debt (as defined) _ = CoL R

We have defined the non-GAAP measure Net Debt to mclude the aggregate debt obligations reflected in our
balance sheet, less the hedge adjustments resulting from terminated and existing fair value interest rate derivatives
or swaps, the balance of our cash and cash equivalents, and certain other investments that we consider to be readily
available to satisfy these debt obligations. '

b

Our management uses Net Debt, along with other factors, to evaluate our financial condition. We believe that

Net Debt is an appropriate supplemental measure of financial condition because it provides a more comp]ete_

understandmg of our financial condition before the impact of our decisions regarding the appropriate use of cash
~ and liquid investments. Net Debt is not intended to be a substitute for GAAP financial measures and should not be
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used as such. Set forth below is a reconciliation of Net Debt to the most dlrectl} comparable GAAP measures,
Current Portmn of Debt. and Total Long-Term Debt, in millions: .

A

> " September 3:0, September 30,  March 31,
. . S © . 2006 . . 2005 2005
Current Portion of Debt . ..o e "$ 40.8 $ 71, $75.1
: Total Long-Term Debt . .. ... ... ... .. .. L, _765.3  908.0 . 3007
806.1 915.1 1465.8

Less: Hedge Adjustments Rcsultmg From Termmated Fair ' . . Co
Value Interest Rate Derivatives of Swaps ...... . (10.4) . (12.3) (187

Less: Hedge Adjustments Resulting: From Existing’ Fair -

" Value Interest Rate Derivatives or Swaps. . .~........ = — 8.9

' S e e 98 o8 4560
'Less Cash and Cash Equivalents . .................. 6.9) (26.8) - (28.5)
Less Investment in Marketable Securmes. S T C— — (31.2) ’

NetDebt. ..., ooe i . ....... S7888 - $8760 ' $396.3

Item 7A. »‘.Q.UANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 7 )

. We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and commodity prlces

+ Our objective is to identify and understand these risks and then implement strategies to manage them. When

evaluating these strategies, we evaluate the fundamentals of each market, our sensitivity to movement in commodity

pricing, and underlying accounting and business implications, To implement these strategies, we periodically enter

" into various hedging transactions. The sensmvuy analyses we present below do not consider the effect of possible

adverse changes in the general economy, nor do they consider additional actions we may take to mitigate our

exposure to such changes. There can be no assurance that we w1ll manage or continue to manage any risks in the
-future or that our efforts wrll be successful

Derwatlve Instruments .
.

We enter into a vanety of denvauve transacuons We use interest rate swap agreements to mandge the interest
rate characteristics on a portion of our outstanding debt.-We evaluate market conditions and our leverage ratio in
order to determine our tolerance for potential increases in interest expense that could result from floating interest
rates. From time to time we use forward contracts to limit our exposure to fluctuations in non-functional foreign
currency rates with respect to our operatmg units’ receivables. We also use commodity swap agreements to limit our

. exposure to fallmg sales prlces and i rlsmg raw materlal costs: -

Interest Rutes

We are, exposed to changes in mterest rates, pnmanly as a result of our short-term and long-term debt, We use
swap agreemernts (o manage the interest rate characlcrlstlcs of a portion of our outstanding debt. Based on the
amounts and mix of our fixed and floating. rate debt at September 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005, if market

" “interest ratés increase an average of 100 basis points, - after considering the effects of our swaps, our interest expense
" would have increased by $0.9 million and $2.0 million, respectively. We determined these amounts by considering

the impact- of the hypothetical interest rates on our borrowing costs aiid interest rate swap agreeme\nts These
analyses do not consider the effects of changes in the level of overall economic activity that could exist in such an
envu’onmem

Market Rlsks Impactmg Pension Plans .

Qur pension plans are mﬂuenced by trends in the financial mdrkets and the regulatory environment. Adverse
géneral stock market trends and falling interest rates increase plan costs and liabilities. During fiscal 2006 and 2005,
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. Forelgn Currency N

: Commodities

L, the: effect of a 0 25% change in the d1scount fate would have 1mpacted income from contmumg operatrons before
. mcome taxeSHby approxrmately $1 4 mlllron and $1.3. million, respectrvely R -

-

{
. We are exposed {o changes in foreign currency rates with respect to our forelgn currency denominated
operatmg Tevenues and expenses.-Our, prmc1pal foreign exchange exposure is the Canadian dollar. The Canadian

' } dollar is the functlonal currency of our Canadian operations. l

We have transaction gains or losses that result from changes in our operating units’ non-functional currency.
For example, we have non-functional currency exposure at our Canadian operations because they have purchases
and sales denominated in U.S. dollars. We record these gains or losses in foreign exchange gains and losses in the
income statement. From time to time, we enter into currency forward or option contracts to mitigate a portion of our

_ foreign currency transaction exposure. To mitigate potential forelgn currency transaction losses, we may use
) offsemng internal exposures or forward contracts RIS LIRS

'| e L

We' also have translatron gains or losses that result from translalron of the results of operauons of an operatmg
unit’s forergn functional currency into U.S. dollars for consohdated ﬁnancral statement purposes. Translated
earnings-were $0.7 million higher in fiscal 2006 than if we had translated. the same earnings using fiscal 2005
exchangeirates -Translated earnings ‘were $0. 3 million higher in fiscat 2003 than'if we had translated the same

earmngs usmg ﬁscal 2004 exchange rates; - Tt T 1 SR S

Dunng fiscal 2006 and 2005 the effect of a one percentage point change in exchange rates would have .'
‘ 1mpacted accumulated other comprehensrve income by. approxrmately $l 2 m1llron and $] 8 mrll1on respectrvely

BT h ) : Lo . L ) . v

l
Fiber ' 1 '

The principal raw material we use in the productron of recycled paperboard and corrugated medium is recycled
fiber. Our purchases of old Corrugated containers (“0CC} and double-lined kraft clippings account for our largest
fiber costs and approxlmately 55% of our fiscal 2006 fiber purchases .The remaining 45% of our fiber purchases

I‘_ '.consrsts of a number of other grades of recycled paper. . |

From trme to time we make use of financial swap agreements to limit our exposure 1o changes in OCC prices.
With the effect of our OCC swaps, a hypothetical 10% increase in total fiber prices would have increased our costs
by $8 million and $9 million in fiscal 2006 and: 20035, respectively. In times of higher fiber prices, we may have the

- ability to pass a portion of thé increased costs on to our customers in the form of higher finished product pricing;
however there can be no assurance that we will be able to do so.

Coated Unbleached Kraft

We purchase Coated Unbleached Kraft (“CUK”) from external sources to use in our folding carton converting

- business+A hypothetrcal 10% increase in CUK prices throughout each year would have increased our costs by

approximately $10° million during fiscal 2006 and by approximately $6 million during fiscal 2005. In times of

- higher CUK prices, we may have the ability to pass a portion of our mcreased costs on to our customers in the form
- of higher finished product pricing; however, there can be no assurance that we wrll be able to do so.

Lmerboard/Corrugated Medmm \

We have the capac1ty to produce approxrmately 180,000 tons per year of corrugated medium at our St. Paul
Minnesota operation. From time to time, we make use of swap agreements to limit our exposure to falling
corrugated medium sales prices at our St. Paul operation. Taking into account the effect of swaps we had in place, a

. "hypothetlcal 10%: decrease in sellmg price throughout each year would have resulted in lower sales of approx-
. 1mately $7 million and $6 million during fiscal 2006 and 2005, respectively.

. We convert approxrmately 184,000 tons per year of corrugated med1um and linerboard in our.corrugated box

converting operations into corrugated sheet stock. A hypothetlcal 10% increase in linerboard and corrugated

A

35




medium pricing throughou[ each year would have resulted in increased costs of approx1mately $8 mllllon and $7.

million during fiscal 2006 and 2005, respectively. We may have the ability to-pass a portior‘of our increased costs on-

to our customers in the form of hlgher finished product pricing; however there can be no assurance that we w1ll be
-able to do so. : . ‘ -

Energy = - o T e
Energy is one of the most significant manufacturing costs of our paperboard operations. We use natural 2as,

" electricity, fuel oil and coal to generate sieam used in the paper making process and to operate our recycled

paperboard machines and primarily electricity for our converting equipment. Our bleached paperboard mil) uses

wood by-products for most of its energy. We generally purchase these products from supphers at market rates
Occasmnally, we enter into long-term agreemenls 10 purchase natural gas. - -

We spent approximately $133 million on-all energy sources in fiscal 2006 Natural gas and fuel oil accounted
for approximately 45% (6.5 million MMBtu) of our total purchases in fiscal 2006. Excluding fixed price natural gas =
forward contracts, a hypotheueal 10% change in the price of energy throughout the year would have 1ncreased our
cost of energy by $13 million.”

We spem approxrmately $94 mllllon on all energy sources in fiscal 2005 Natural gas and fuel oil accounted for
approximately 40% (5.5 million MMBtu) of our total purchases in fiscal 2005. Excluding fixed price natural gas
forward contracts, a hypothetical 10% change in the prlce of energy throughout the year would have increased our
* cost of energy by $9 million. . :

We may .have the ability to pass a portion ‘of our increased costs on Lo our customers in the form of hlgher '
finished product pricing; however, there can be no assurance that we will be able to do so. We penodlcally evaluate
alternative scenarios to manage these risks. ‘ '
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ROCK-TENN COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS .OF INCOME

NELSALES . . .o vt tee e et e e e e
Cost of goods sold. . ... ........... R S

Gross profit. .. ... o e ;

Selling, general and administrative expenses. . .. ......... .. .. oo,
Restructuring and other costs. net. . . ........... e

Operating profit. .. .. ... .. .
Interest expense. . ....... e e L.
Interest and other income '(expense) ................... e .
Income (loss) from unconsolidated joint venture. . ... ................
Minority interest in income of consolidated subsidiaries . . .............

Income f:dm continuing operations before income taxes...............
Income tax eXpense . . . ... ... . .. e

Income from continuing operations . .. ... ... ..o, ..
Income from discontinued operations (net of $4.8 income taxes).........

Net INCOME « . . . . o e e e e e e e e e e e

Basic earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations... . . ......... ...,

T oo 111

Diluted earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations. .. ....... ... . e i ..,

Net income .. ........ PP

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended September 30,

2006 2005 2004
(In millions, except per share data)}
$2,138.1 . $1,733.5 $1,581.3
1,789.0 1,459.2° - 1,314.0
349.1 2743 2673
244.2 205.0 197.1
7.8 -1.5 32.7
971 618 375
(55.6) (36.6) ‘(23.6)
1.6 0.5 0.1
1.9 (1.0) 0.1
(6.4) (4.8} : (3.4)
38.6 19.9 0.5
(9.9) {(2.3) (0.9)
28.7 17.6 9.6
— — 8.0
287 % 176 $ 176
079 $§ 050 $ 0.28
079 $ 050 § 051
077 $ 049 3§ 0.27
077 $ 049 § 050
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P ROCK-TENN COMPANY |
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE| SHEETS o
i
! -
|
o
&
! 1
" ASSETS {
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . . ... ... . . e
Accounts receivable (net of allowances of $5.2 and $5.1). ......... e
INVENMOTIES . . . . e e e i
Othercurrent assels . .. ... ... . e e e
Assct‘:‘; held for sale . . . ... e L T IR
Tolal current assels ... ................ R P AT PR T
Property, plant and equipment at cost: o o L L
Landand buildings . . ........ ... ... . o, P A e o
Mauchinery and equipme'r}l ...... R Lo e s
Transportation equipment . . ... ... .. e e Lo et
Lcasé’holdimprovemcms‘....................... ......... ; .....................
! L |
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization . . . ............. L
i . i _ N
Nel property, plant and equipment. . .. ....... e e P
Goodwill . 7. ... ... ... o S e e s
Intangibles, net. .. ..o . ..., P, R e R
Investment in joint venture. ., . ......, ..., el L L O
OUher @888L5 L oo e e e f ....................
|
1
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities: | )
Current portion of debt. . . .1 ...
Accounts payable ... ... ... e f ...... e
"Accrued compensation and benefits . .. ... ... L L L frme e
Other current labilities. . ... ........... ..., . REP e
Total current liabilities. . . ... ... .. .. ... .. ... . ..., R VP
Long-term debt due afterone year ... ........ ... ... ... . ... .. 3 ...................
Hedge adjustments resulting from terminated fair value interest rate derivatives or swaps . .., ... ]
Tolal long-termdebt - ... ... .. : ...................
Accrued pension and other long-term benefits . .................. e e e e
Deferred income taxes. . . ... .. .. ... . i e e
Other long-term liabilities. . . ... .. ... oo e
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 11 and 18) ’
Minority interest . . . .. . . ... e e e R
Shareholders’ equity: ’ o
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized; no shares oulstandmg .........

Class A common stock, $0.01 par value; §75, 000 000 shares aulhorlzed 37,688,522 and
36,2803, 164 shares outstanding at September 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005, respectively .

Capital in excess of parvalue ... ... . e L e :
Retained earnings . .. ................ .. ... e Jo e
Accumulated other comprehensive loss ... ... ... ... L L o e e e
Total shareholders” equity .. .. ... ... ... ... ..ol O
' !
’ i

1
See accompanying notes.

39 |

e = el

September 30, '
L2006 0 2005 ;
{In millions, except
share and per share
data)
$ 69 % 268
230.8 199.5
2189 202.0 |
25.0. 30.5
4.0 3.4
485.6 '462.2
2660 2672
1,299.7.  1,287.5 .
108 105
62 . 5.6
1,5827  1,5708
(732.1)  (685.8) :
850.6 . 885.0 !
356.6 3509
55.1 619 .
21.6 19.5 i
. 145 189 |.
$1,7840 $1.7984 '
$ 408 3§ 7L .
141.8 116.4
. 65.7 50.9
57,7 498 1
-306.0 2242 .
754.9 _ 8957
104 123
765.3 908.0
75.9 1068 !
99.8 83.0
9.6 36
18.8 16.6
— __
04 .04
179.6 162.4 .
341.2 3260
(12.6) (32.6) -
508.6 456.2
$1,784.0  $1,798.4 |




ROCK-TENN COMPANY ,
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Class A - Accumulated
Cumma(f: Stock Capital in . Other
Excess of  Retained  Comprehensive )
Shares Amount Par Value Earnings {Loss) Total
(In millions, except share and per share data)
Balance at October 1, 2003 ... .. ... ... PRI 34,962,041 504 3146.6 $3159 $(40.9) $422.0
Comprehensive income: '
Netincome ...................... e — — — 17.6 —_ 176
Foreign currency translation adjustments . . ... .. - - — — — 10.4 10.4
Net unrealized loss on derivative instruments (net
R of 801 tax)y. ..o e 7 — — — — 04)  ...(04)
Minimum pension liability (net of $5.0 tax). . . .. —_ — o — (8.6) (8.6)
Comprehensive income . . ... e e — — — — -_ 19.0
-Income tax benefit from exercise of stock options . . — — 7 04 . . — — 04 .
Shares granted under restricted stock plan. . .. ... . 144,000 — — — - — —
Compensation expense under restricted stock plan . . — — .15 . — — 1.5
Cash dividends — $0.34 pershare. . . .......... — — . —_ (12.0) — (12.0)
. Issuance of Class A common stock . . ... ... . ... 534,743 = 6.7 — — 6.7
; ‘ Balance at September 30, 2004 . . . .. ... N 35,640,784 0.4 155.2 321.5 (39.5) 437.6
- Comprehensive income: ) ‘
Netincome . ............ e - —_ — — 17.6 — 17.6
“Foreign currency translation adjustments . . .. ., — — — — 13.8 13.8
] “Net unrealized gain on derivative instruments (net . .
.. - of 824 ax). ... ... ..., e . — — — = 36 . 36
B Minimum pension liability (net of $8.2 tax). . . . . _ _ — - . (10.5) (10.5)
Comprehensive income. [, ... ... .. e = = -~ = — 245
Income tax benefit from cxercise of stock options . . — —— 02 - — e 02
Shares granted under restricted stock plan. .. < . . . 200,000 — — — — —
Compensation cxpense under restricted stock plan . . —_ . — 1.7 — — 17
Restricted Stock grant cancelled . ... ... L L. L. (24,333) — : — — . — —_
. Cash dividends — $0.36 per share . . .. ... ...... - — — (12.9) — {129
- Issuance of Ciass A common stock net of stock .
received for tax withholdings . ...... . ...... 463,713 = 53 (0.2) — 5.1
Balance at September 30, 2005. . ............ 36.280,164 04 162.4 326.0 (32.6) 456.2
Comprehensive income: ' ’ .
Net income . ......... e e ’ — — . — 28.7 — 28.7
Foreign currency translation adjustments. . . . - — — e 3.3 kK]
. Net unrealized_gain on derivative instruments
(metof $(0.6)tax) . ................... —_ — —_ — 1.0 1.0
| Minimum pension liability (net of $(10.6) :
| tax) .. . R . — — - - 15.7 15.7
Comprehensive income . .. ................ T — —_ — — . — 48.7
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock ’
options ... ... ... — — 1.0 —_— — 1.0
Shares granted under restricted stock plan . , . .. 469,503 — Do—- - — —
Compensation expense under share based plans. . — — 35 — — 35
Cash dividends — $0.36 per share. . . ... .. e — —_ — (13.2) — (13.2)
Issuance of Class A common stock net of stock ’ : ‘
received for tax withholdings .. ........... © 938,855 = 12.7 {0.3) —_ 124
504 $179.6 $341.2 $(12.6) $508.6

||

Balance at September 30,2006 . . . . ... ..., .. 37,688,522

See accompanying notes.
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Pt ROCK-TENN COMPANY A . j
B CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS . ‘j' : .
' . Year Ended Septemher 30 b’
; o 2006 2005~ 2004
— . 1 8T+ (In inillions) {
Operating activities: !
Income from cONtinUINg OPErations . . . ... oo vttt i e i e e $ 287 % 176 $ 96
Items in income not aflecting cash: i .
_ Depreciation and amortization ... ..................... 0 oo oo L - 104.3 84.0 742,
. . Deferred income tax (benefit) expense . .. ... . ... PO e .55 4.0 @7
Y Income tax_benefit of employee stock opt:ons. B T ! R T S o 04
) Loss on-bond purchase: : ... ... ....%. 0. R ....... SRS S L e 09 1
" Shire-based compensation expense . . . . . Tl L UL TS AU D N TN P AU . L
o3 - Gain on disposal‘of plant and equipment and other, net. . . . A Pt {0d) - "(l_.‘S)' (2 l) !
T Mmorlty mtcrest in income of (_onsohdated subsidiaries, . L s Lo 64 - 48 L i
o (Income) loss from unconsolidated joint Venture.. . ., ... e -.i ARSI SR ¢ ) IR R . (0 1) }
Proceeds from lermmatlon of cash flow mterest rate hedges . . e R T U _
‘ .Penslon 1und1ng (more) less than expense‘. S o " AU 7 1 ) BRI v (3 (l) { ’
s Impmrmem adjustments and other non-cash items. . ... .. ... N j B . 51 : 29 - 286

+  Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions: ' l

L ACCOUNS TECEIVADIE . . . o)\ ot ot e e e e (308 234 (114
Inventories ... ..o ot e L. . g s e (D) e 95 (T3
-Other,assets ..,........ e e RIS ) (5.2) , (63 L
AcCouns payable ©......... .. . 0 L. T . 251 T 32 69 -

. - Income taxes payable. . .. .0 ... ... .. S P el o LT B8 (3 Y (84) 1

) "‘Accrued llabllmes..":_-.-....'.'.."I'...'. ' 123 .. 25 109

R Cash: provided by opérating activities from commumg opcrauons Lo e oi.. 1535 0 1533 931 .

. Cash provided by operating activities from discontinued operations . . .. ... .. e = 04
*Nef cash prowcled by operating activities . ... .. P P 153.5 - 1533 . 935
Investing activities: i L oo o I

Capital expenditures . .. ... ... ... ........... P o 64.6)  (543)  (60.8)"

Purchases of marketable securities .. ..... ... ... ... .. ... 0 oo oL o — . (1953) (318())

“Maturities and sales of marketable securities . . . .. S — ~2235 2907 | .

. Cash paid for purchase of businesses, net of cashreceived. - .. ..ol . (1.8 . (5523 (£5.00¢

- Cash contributed tojoint venture ... ... . .. . e e : {0.2) o.n . 0n°

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment. . ... ..., ... o0 oo 4.7 60 . .60 ‘

Proceeds from property, plant and equipment insurance settlement . .. : ... ... .. e L 09— T

. Ca‘;h used for investing activitics from continuing operations ... . L PP (67.0) (572.5) T (98 ’) 1
Ca‘;h provided by investing dCllVIthb from discontinued operauons ............ —- — 61.9 .
Net cash used for investing acuvmei ............................... . (67.0)  (572.5) (36.3) L
Financing activities: ( : ’ R . [ .
" Addilions to revolving credit, facnlltleb. B . 79.5 226.0 — !

.Repayments of revolving credit facilities. .. .................. I e C 21 o (100 (3.5 {

‘. Additions,todebt L. L. e T L., 518-:-°3208 - 001

Repayments.of debt .. ... .. ... ... ... ... . (29.7) (1005 - (342)

* Pioceeds from monetizing sWap cOnIacts . ... vvvnerrann o on.. e — e 44

Payment on (crmination of fair value interest rate hedges .. .. ... P D e —_ (4.3) C—

Debt issuance costs. .. .................. e 0.3) 4.0y '

slssuances of common stock . ... Lol c..... 115 5.1 6.7

Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation.. . .~ . ... ... b e eee. L0 . — —

. Capnal contributed 1o consolidated subsidiary from minority interest . :..... .. ... .. oo 20 C— —
Advanccsfrom(lo)Jomtvemure..........................: .......... L.t 8.6 .14 2.1)
+Cash dividends paid to shargholders . . . ... ........ [ D(13.2) 129y 120y

© -Cash dlslnbutlon to minority interest. . . . ... .. .'.. e e, : ......... R ()] (5.1) (2.6) '
Net cash prowded by (used for) financing acuvmes R Loni T (105.8) 416.5 (43 ) ‘
. Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents .. . ... ..1....... .. L. 06) 08 0.5 °
- Increase (decrease) incash' and cash equivalents . ... ............. ... ... ... ... (99 0 a9 145
".Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ... 7. ... .o . : ..... . 26.8 28.7 C 142 ;
Cash anc_l cash equivalents at end of year. . .. .. .. ........ e $ 69 $ 268 $ 287 ¢
. - A - N . X N
. i -+ :
41 . :
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; ‘ : ROCK-TENN COMPANY
| CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — (Continued)
| .

| Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

| -

Year Ended September 30,
2006 2005 2004
(In millions)

Cash paid ‘(recei'vec‘l) during the period for:

o cIncome taxes, netof refunds ... ... . L. 548 S 42 © $15.0
: %ﬂ‘" Interest, net of amounts capitalized . ............... e N Dt 00 __’-_.38 4 274

consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity differs from the fiscal 2006 line item Issuance of Class A common
stock in our consolidated statements of cash flows due to $0.9 million of receivables from the sale of stock being
outstanding from employees at September 30, 2006. These receivables were coltected in October 2006 prior to the
publication of our financial statements.

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:

~ The year ended September 30, 2006 includes two Packaging Products segn{enl acquisitions we funded and
certain adjustments related to our GSPP Acquisition (as hereinafter defined) in fiscal 2005. Cash paid for the two
fiscal 2006 acquisitions aggregated $7.7 million, which included an estimated $3.2 miilion of goodwill.

"On June 6, 2005, we acquired from Gulf States Paper Corporation and certain of its related entities (“Gulf

- States”) substantially all of the assets of Gulf States’ Paperboard and Packaging operations (“GSPP”) and assumed
certain of Gulf States’ related liabilities. We refer to this acquisition as the “GSPP Acquisition”. In fiscal 2005,
we paid an aggregate cash price of $552.2 million, which included an estimated $51.0 mllllon of goodwill. In
con_]unctlon with the acquisitions, liabilities were assumed as follows: : :

Year Ended.
September 30,
2006 2005
“. _ {In millions)
" Fair-value of assets acquired including goodwill .. ................. B .. $8.5  $586.6
Cashpaid.................... e e e e 7.8 552.3
" Liabilities assumed - . . . . . P 0807 $ 343

s

*

See accompanying notes.
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The fiscal 2006 line item Issuance of Class A common stock net of stock received for tax w1thholdmgs in- ourF
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5.; ROCK: TENN COMPANY f
R - NOTES 'ro CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1: Descrlptlon of ‘Business: and Summary of Significant Acct%untmg Poltcnes . .

Descnptton of Busmess . ; : | R

. Unless lhe context orherwa se reqmres “we,” “us,” “our” and “the Company” refer 10 the business of Rock- -
Term Company and its consohdared subsrdranes meludmg ‘RTS Packagmg. LILC (“RTS”) and GSD Paekagmg,
. LLC( “GSD. ”) We own 65% of RTS and conducr our interior packaging busmess through RTS. We own 60% of GSD
'and conduct some of .our folding carron operanons through GSD. These terms do not include Seven Hills
Paperboard LLC (“Seven Hills.”) We- own' 49% of Seven Hrlls a manufacrurer of gypsum, paperboard lmer .
whzch we do rot- consolidate. S ) . . , S :

Jl
We are pnmanly a manufacturer of packagmg products merchand;smg dtsplays and paperbo:u'd In October -

2003 we qold our plastic packagmg operations. . L e

Consoha‘atwn‘ - _‘n. e T |

- j._‘ i
L The consoltdated ﬁnancml statements mclude our accounts and all of our majonty-owned subsrdlanes We
account for subsrdtanes owned Iess than 50% but more than 20% under the equ1ty method. We have ellmlnated all
sxgmﬁcant 1nlercompany accounts and tranqacnons e I- C e "

P11

-¥

.,
- S

"
-t
k)

: - We have determingéd that Seven HlllS is'a variable intérest enmy ‘as defined in‘FASB Interpretanon 46(R), ..

' “Consohdanon of Varmble lmeresr ‘Entities.” We dre not however its prlmary beneficiary: Accordmgly, we use the
il

equity method to account fof our investment in Seven Hills, We- have determmed that RTS is not a variable 1nlerest

entity. Since we own 65% of RTS we have consolldated the assets’ and liabilities- of the Jomt venture We, have

determmed that 'GSD is a variable interest entity and ‘we are the pnmary beneﬁc1ary and as’ such we have

consohdated the assets and liabilities of the joint venture based on the:r fair values on the date 'we acqmred our

mterest from Gulf States GSD represents approximately 2.6% of ﬁscal 2006 consohdated net sales :

Use  of Esnmates . !

'Ihe preparatlon of financial statements in conformuy with -U. S generally accepted accountmg principles
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
“ liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the'financial statements ‘and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses dunng the reportmg .period. Actual resultq may dlffer from those estimates and

; the dlfferences could be material. - : |

me et '
e The most sngmﬁcant accountmg estimates.. mherent in the preparatlon of our financial statements include -

estlmates assocmted with our evaluation of the recoverablllty of goodwill and property, plant and equipment as well
as those used in the determmauon of taxauon self-insured obligations and restructuring. In addition, significant
estimates form the basis for our reserves with respect 10 collecnb:htylof accounts recetvable inveniory valuations,
 pension benef" ts -and certain benefits provided to current employees "Various assumptlons and other factors
underhe the determination of these significant estimates. The process of determmmg 51gn1ﬁcant esumates is fact
spemfic and takes into account factors such as historical experience, current and expected:economic condmons
" product mlx "and in some cases, actuanal techmques We regularly re- -evaluate these significant factors and make

adjustments where facts and circumstances dictate. , l

i

i
Revenue Recagmtwn ! .

o We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists, dehvery has occurred or services
- have been rendered, the seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably asgured.
- Pelivery is not considered to have occurred until the customer takes title and assumes the risks.and rewards of
ownership. The timing of revenue recognition is dependent on the locatlon of title transfer which i is normally either
on the exit from our plants (i.e. shipping point) or on arrival at customers’ plants (i.e. *destination point). We do not
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ROCK-TENN COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

recognize revenue from transactions where we bill customers but fetain cur,tody and mle to these products until the
date of custody and title transfer.

We net against our gross revenue provisions for discounts, returns, allowances, customer rebates and other
adjustments. We account for such provisions during the same period in which we record the related revenues. We
include in revenue amounts billed to a customer in a sales transaction related to shipping and handling.

Shipping and Handling Costs ' I

We classify shipping and handling costs as a component of cost of goods sold.

Derivatives

We enter into a variety of derivative transactions. We use swap agreements 10 manage the interest rate
characteristics of a portion of our outstanding debt. We from time to time use forward contracts to limit our exposure
1o fluctuations in Canadian foreign currency rates with respect 1o our receivables denominated in Canadian dollars.
We also use commodity swap agreements to limit our exposure to falling sales prices and rising raw material costs. '
We are exposed to counterparty credit risk for nonperformance and, in the event of nonperformance, to market risk
for chahges in‘interest rates. We manage exposure to counterparty credit risk through minimum credit standards,
diversification of counterpartics and procedures to monitor concentrations of credit risk.

For each derivative instrument that is designated and qualifies as a fair value hedge, we recognize the change in
fair value on the derivative instrument, as well as the offsetting change in fair value on the hedged item attributable
to the hedged risk, in current earnings. For each derivative instrument that is designated and qualifies as a cash flow
hedge, we report the effective portion of the change in fair value on the derivative instrument as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income or loss and reclassify that portion into earnings in the same period or
periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. We recognize the ineffective portion of the hedge, if
any, in current earnings during the period of change. Amounts that are reclassified into earnings from accumulated
other comprehensive income and any ineffective portion of a hedge; are reported on the same income statement line
item as the originally hedged item. Cash flows from terminated interest rate swaps are classified in the same
category in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows as the cash flows from the items being hedged. Unrecognized
amounts related to terminated cash flow swaps recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income are amortized
to earnings over the remaining term of the hedged item. For derivative instruments not designated as hedging
instruments, we recognize the change in value of the derivative instrument in current earnings during the period of
change. At September 30, 2006 we have commodity swaps with a fair value of $0.4 million not designated as
hedges. The instruments act as economic hedges but do not meet the criteria for treatment as hedges under
Statement of Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”
(“SFAS 133”)._ The changes in the fair value of these swaps are reported in cost of sales on the consolidated
statement of income. We include the fair value of hedges in either short-term or long-term other liabilities and/or
other assets on the ‘balance sheet subject to the term of the hedged item. We base the fair value of our derivative
instruments on market pricing. Fair value répresents the net amount required for us to terminate the position, taking
into consideration market rates and counterparty credit risk. '

Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments that mature three months or less from the date of purchase to be cash
equivalents. The carrying amounts we report in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents
approximate fair market values. We place our cash and cash equivalents with large credit worthy banks, whxch
limits the amount of our credit exposure.
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b-'l.;‘ " ot e

' Accaunts Recewable and Allowances b .

t._)\ -

o~ '-,'» ,L »,-l‘ s

&

ko, -nl :
nE ~,We s(ale laccounts recelvable at the amoum owed by lhe wstomer net! ‘of- an allowance for esnmated

< T;uncollecuble accounts relums and allowances and cash dlscoums We do not discount accounts receivable because

Y

-
oot
et and SR

o

i _d' .- . l B : 3 u‘ . . "
'gWe value substannally all U S, mventones at lhe lowe of cost or marke[ w1th Cost determmed on the last m
1‘" rst -Oll (“L 0") ba51s We: value all other mventones at lower of cost.or. markel w1lh cost delermmed us1ng
“methods Wthh approxrmate cosl computed on a ﬁrst-m ﬁrsl oul (“FIFO”) basrs These other mvemones represent

- l,‘.‘"__.__"___

EAE Prior to the appllcauon of the LIFO method our U.S. operaung dmsrons use a variety of methods o esumate
" " the FIFO cost of their finished goods inventories. One of our divisions uses a standard cost system. Another division
*:“divides the actual cost of goods manufactured- by the tons producedland multiplies this amount by the tons of
inventory on hand. Other divisions calculate a ratio, on a plant by plant basis, the numefrator of which is the cost of
goods sold and the denorminator is net. sales.-This ratio is applied to the estimated sales value of-the finished: goods |
inventory. Varrances and other.unusual items aré analyzed to determme whether it is appropriate to include those .
. items’in the value ‘of inventory, -Examples of variances and unusial, Jitems are, but-are not limited to, .abnormal
T producuon Ievels freight, handling costs, and wasted materials (spoilage) to determine the amount of current period
<t charges. Cost includes raw materials-and supplies; d1rect labor, mdlrect labor related to the manufacturing process

: and deprecratlon and other factory overheads. . . s

Property, Plant and Eqmpmenl - . ;

- We slale property,’ plant and equlpmem ‘at cost. Cost- mcludes major expenclltures for lmprovements and
replacements that extend useful lives, increase capac1ty, increase revenues or redcé costs. Durmg ﬁscal 20006,
2005, and 2004, we capuallzed interest of approximately $0.8 mrll:on $0:5° mllllon and $0.3 million, respeeuvely

‘ For ﬁnancnal repomng purposes, we provrde depreciation and amomzatlon pnmanly on a straight-line melhod and:
»on the declmmg balance method over the estimated useful lives of the assets'as follows ‘ . ;

- Buildings and burldmg 1mprovements .......... o e .. 15-40 years
Machmeryandequrpmem ...... e et 3220 years
Transportanon equipment .. .. ........ S Lo FL.t.L 3-8 years

i
: . Leasehold 1mprovements are deprec1ated over the shorter of the assét llfe or the lease term, generally bétween .
3 and 10 years. Depreciation expense for fiscal 2006, 2005, “and 2004 was approxlmately $96.6 million, .

$79 0 m1lhon $70 1 million, respecuvely . CL .

Imparrment of Goodwrll and Long L:ved Assets

o 3 We review the recorded value of our goodwnll annually during Lhe beginning of the fourth quarter of each fiscal
i year or sooner.if events or changes in cnrcumstances indicate that the carrying amount may exceed fair value as set

Wt owm e o i
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ROCK-TENN COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

forth in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”
(“SFAS 142”). We determine recoverability by comparing the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to Wthh
the goodwilt applies to the carrying value, including goodwill, of that reporting umt

Reporting units are our operating divisions. The amount of goodwill allocated to a reporting unit is the excess _
of the purchase price of the acquired businesses (or portion thereof) included in the reporting unit, over the fair value
assigned to the individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

- The SFAS 142 goodwill impairment model is a two-step process. In step one, we. unhze the pr ;,value of i

expected net cash flows 1o determine the estimated fair value of our reporting units. This present value m%dei. R

requires management to estimate future net cash flows, the timing of these cash flows, and a discount rate (based on
a weighted average cost of capital), which represents the time value of money and the inherent risk and uncertainty
of the future cash flows. Factors that management must estimate when performing this step in the process include,
among other items, sales volume, prices, inflation, discount rates, exchange rates, tax rates and capital spending.
The assumptions we use o estimatie future cash flows are consistent with the assumptions that the reporting units
use for internal planning purposes, updated to reflect current expectations. If we determine that the estimated fair
value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not impaired. If we
determine that the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value, we must complete step two
of the impairment analysis. Step two involves determining the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill and-
comparing it to the carrying amount of that goodwill. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds
the implied fair value of that goodwill, we recognize an impairment loss in an amount equal to that excess. We
completed the annual -test of the goodwill associated with each of our reporting units during fiscal 2006 and
.concluded the fair values were in excess of the carrying values of each of the reporting units.
We follow SFAS 144 in determining whether the carrying value of any. of our long-lived assets, including
intangibles other than goodwill, is impaired. The SFAS 144 test is a three-step test for assets that are “held and used”
as that term is defined by SFAS 144. First, we determine whether indicators of impairment are present. SFAS 144
requires us to review long-lived assets for impairment only when events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the long-lived asset might not be recoverable. Accordingly, while we do routinely assess
whether impairment indicators are present, we do not routinely perform tests of recoverability, Second, ‘if we
determine that indicators of impairment are present, we determine whether the estimated undiscounied cash flows
for the potentially impaired assets are less than the carrying value. This model requires management to estimate
future net cash flows. The assumptions we use to estimate future cash flows are consistent with the assumptions we
use for internal planning purposes, updated to reflect current expectations. Third, if such estimated undiscounted
cash flows do not exceed the carrying value, we estimate the fair value of the asset and record an |mpam'nent charge
if the carrying value is greater than the fair value of the asset. We estimate fair value using discounted cash flows;
prices for similar assets, or other valuation techniques. We use a similar test for assets classified as “held for sale,”
except that the assets are recorded at the tower of their carrying value or fair value less anticipated cost to sell.

Included in our long-lived. assets are certain identifiable intangible assets. These intangible assets are
amortized based on the estimated pattern in which the economic benefits are realized over their estimated useful
lives ranging from 1 to 40 years and have a weighted average of approximately 20.5 years. We identify the weighted
average lives of our intangible assets by category in “Note 8. Other Int&ngifgle Assets.”

Our judgments regardiné the existence of impairment indicators are based on legal factors, market conditions
and operational performance. Future events could cause us to conclude that impairment indicators exist and that
assets associated with a particular operation are impaired. Evaluating the impairment also requires us to estimate
future operating results and cash flows, which also require judgment by management. Any resulting impairment
loss could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMEN'I‘S —_ (Contmued)

. I
Health Insurance : : ‘ . i

! - We are self—msured for the le_]Ol‘Ity of our group health i m:urance cosls subject to spccrﬁc relenuon levels. We

¥ caléulate our group insurance reserve based on estimated: reserve rates. We utilize cIarms lag data’ provrded by, our
" claims’ admrmstrators to compute the required estimated reserve rite. We' calculate our average monthly claims pard
using the actual monthly payments during the trailing 12- month period. At that’ ume ‘we alsé calculate our requ1red
reserve using the reserve rates discussed above, While we believe that our assumptions are appropriate, significant
differences in our actual experience or significant changes in our a“umpuons may materially affect our group
heaith insurance costs.

Workers’ Compensation

We purchase large risk deductible workers” compensation policies for the majority of our workers’ com-
pensation liabilities that are subject to various deductibles 10 limit ‘our exposure. We calculate our workers'
compensation reserves based on estimated actuarially calculated development factors.

Accounting for Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the liability method, which requires that we recognize deferred tax assets
and liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying
amount of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. We record a valuation allowance against
deferred tax assets when the weight of available evidence indicates it is more likely than not that the deferred tax
asset will not be realized at its initially recorded value. We have elected to treat earnings from centain foreign
%uberdlanes,\from the date we acqurred those subsidiaries, as subject torepatriation. and we provide for U.S. income
taxes: accordmgly However we consider all earnings-of our other forergn subsidiaries mdeﬁmlely reinvested in
‘those respective foreign operations, other than those earings we repalnated under the‘Amencan Jobs Creation"Act
of 2004, as extraordinary dividends. Other thdn the extraordinary dividends, we havé not provrded for any,

U.S. income taxes that would be due upon repatrlatlon of those earnmgs into the United States. Upon repamauon of

those carnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, we would be SUb_]EC[ 10 both United States income taxes,
subject to an adjustment for foreign tax credits, and withholding taxes payable to the various foreign countries.
Determination of the amount of unrecognized deferred United States income tax llabllny is not practicable because
of the complexities associated with its hypotheu_cal ca!culr_mon_ :

. B
Pension and Other Post-Renremem Benefi ts o '

We account for pens:onc in accordance wrth .Statement of Accountmg Standards No. 87, “Emplovers’
Accounting.for Pensions” (“SFAS 877). The determination of ourlobligation and expense for pension and other
post-retirement benefits is dependent on our selection of certain assrlrmptlons used by actuaries in calculating such

. amounts. We describe these assumptions in’ “Note '13. Retrrement Plans,” which include, among others, the
discount rate, expected long term rate of return on plan asset% and fdtes of increase’in compensation levels. As
allowed under SFAS 87, we defer actual results that dlffer from our'assumpuom and amortize the-difference over

future periods. Therefore, these differences generally affect our recogmzed expense recorded obhgatron and

funding requirements in future penods While' we bel1eve that our assumpuons aré approprmte significant

differences in our actual experience or significant changes in our aqsumpnons may matenally aftect our pension

and other post-retirement benefit obligations and our future expense
I

Stock Baced Compensation '

Prior 1o fiscal 2006, we elected to follow the intrinsic value n}ethod of APB 25 and related mterpretauons in ’
~ accounting for our employee stock options. Under APB. 25, because the exercise price of our employee qtoek »
options equaled the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, we recognized no compensation .

. expense. We disclose pro forma information regarding net mcome and eammgs per share in “Note IS5

|
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ROCK-TENN COMPANY
NOTES TQ CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Shareholders’ Equity.” On Oclobcr 1, 2005, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of
- Financial Accoummg Staridards No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Paymeni” (“SFAS 123(R)"). The adoption
of SFAS 123(R); and resulting recognition of comperisation related 1o, slock options, did not have a material effect
on our consohdated ﬁnancml slatcments -0

Pursuant (o our 2004 Incentive Stock Plan, we can award up to ] 000, 000 shares of restricted Common Stock to
-. employees and our board of dlrectors Sale of the stock awarded i is generally restricted for three 1o five years from
the date of grant, dependmg on vestmg Vestmg of the stock granted to employees occurs in anriual. increments of

_ one-third beginning on the third anniversary of the date of grant. We charge compensanon under lhe plan to eammgs e

- over each increment’s individual restriction period. In some instances, accelerated'vésting of a portion of the: grant
may occur based on our performance.” Aiso, some restricted stock grants contain market or performance conditions
that must be met in conjunction with the service requlremem for lhe shares to vest. See “Note 15. Shareholders’

_ _Eqnny” for addmona] mformauon _

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company accounts for asset retirement obligations in accordance with SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for
Asset Retirement Obligations™ (“SFAS 143”) and FASB Imcrprel’lllon No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset
Renremen.' Obligations” (“FIN 47"). A liability and an asset are recorded equal to the present value of the estimated
costs associated with the retiremem of tong-lived assets where a legal or contractual obligation exists and the
liability can be reasonably estimated. The liability is accreted over time and the asset is depréciated over the
remaining life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the liability, we will recognize a gain or loss for any difference
between the settlement amount and the liability recorded. Asset retirement obligations with mdetermmate
settlement dates are not recorded until such dates can be reasonably estimated. Asset retirement ob]:gatlons
consist primarily of wastewater lagoon and landfill closure costs at certain of our paperboard mills. The amount
_accrued is not significant.

Repair and Maintenance Costs

- We expcnsc rouune repair and maintenance- costs, as we incur them. We. defer expenses we incur during

' pldl‘lﬂed major m.nnlcnance activities and recognize the: expenses ratably over the shorter of the life prov1dcd or

until replaced by the next major. maintenance actwlty Our bleached paperboard mili is the only facility that

urremly conducts annual planned m‘uor mairnitenance activities. This maintenance is generally performed in our
ﬁrst fiscal quarter and has a materlal lmpact on ourresults of operatlons in that penod

i . : R 4,

¢

Foretgn Currency

We translate the a%scts and hab-.lmc% cf our foreign operations from ihe functional currency at the rate of
exchange in effect as of the balance sheet date. We translate'the revenues and expenses of.our foreign operations at a
daily average rate prevailing for each month during the fiscal year. We reflect the resulting translation adjustments

in sharcholders equity. We include gamq or losses from foreign currency transactions, such as those resulting from
the settlement of foreign.receivables or payables, in the consolidated statements of income. We recorded a loss of
$0.2 mllhon and $0.7 million in Fr.cal 2006 and 2005, reqpccuve]y, and a gain of $0.01 million in fiscal 2004.

ot
- o

F nv:mnmental Remedmnon Costs

L]

. We accrue for losses assomated wuh our envnronmcnla] remediation obllgdtmns when it is probable that we
have incurred a liability and the amoumnt ‘of the loss can be reasonably estimated. We generally recognize accruals for
esumaled losses from our environmental remediation obligations. no later than completion of the remedial
feaubllny sludy and adjust such accruals as further information develops or ¢ircumstances change. We recognize

‘ recovenes of our cnvnronmemal remedlauon costs from other pames as assets when we deem their recelpt probable

¢

48




S e e e e apm e

. em

N AT T T

s

“'? normal capacrty “of 'the' productlon faclht]es ‘The; adopuon of SFAS lSl dld not have a matenal effect on our_
'F}consolldated financial statements. r "', s uf:i SRR EERRTE ‘E : . :

I

1‘1.'51‘—_;:'.;‘;‘:-.- »—x

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Contlnued) ' o

v

New Accounnng Srandards = Recenlly Adopted ¢ -

[ e 4,-.

Statementf of Fmancral Accountlng Standards No 151, “Inventory Costs ~an amendment of ARB No 43 I
Chapter 4” issued 1n November 2004 was adopted by us on, October 1, 2005 (“SFAS 1517, 'SFAS 151 requires us to
recogntze "abnormal’ amounts of tdle facrhty expense fretght hand]mg cosls “and wasted matenal (spoilage) as
! currenl per:od*charges and 1o base our allocatton of ﬁxed productton overheads to the costs of conversion on the

- e

.l ".‘b' .

: ;‘s ’[7-\---'{-: :" '-.-‘.'.-_".'
ek » S

We a‘;dopted‘ SFAS 123(R) on*October l 2005 -See “Note 15 Shareholders’ Equlty”

; In July‘2006 the Fmancral Accountmg Standards Board (“FASB”) released FASB Interpretatton No 48
i “Accotmrmg Jor- Utrcertamrv m Income Taxes —an Inrerpretatmn of FASB S!atement 109" (*FIN 48”) FIN 48’
prescribes a comprehenstve model for how;a company should recogmze measure present and dtsclose inits
t' nancral statements uncertain tax posmons that the company has taken or expects to take on a tax return (1nclud1ng
a dccnslon whether to ﬁle or not 1o’ filed return in a parucular Junsdtctton) Under FIN 48, the consolidated finaricial
stalernents will reflect expected fultdré. tax consequences of such. postttons presumlng the taxing authorities™ full
knowledge -of the posmon and all. relevant facts, but wrthout conslde'rmg ttme values. FIN 48 i 1s llkely 10 cause
greater volattltty n eammgs as more ltems are recogmzed dlscretely wrlthm tncome tax expense. FIN 48 also rev1ses g
" disclosure reqmrements and tntroduces Y prescnpttve “annual, tabular roll forward of the unrecogmzed tax beneﬁts '
FIN 48 is effective as of the beginning of fiscal years that’ Start after Qecember 15, 2006 (October 1, 2007 for us). -
Management is currently evaluating the 1mpact that FIN 48 will have on our ﬁnanclal position and results of
operations upon adoption, . . | ~ , ~ ;
In September-2006, the FASB released SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157 . -
defines fair. va]ue establishes a framework for measuring fair value i m GAAP, and'expands disclosures about fair
value measurements SFAS 157 emphasrzes that fair value is a markeit -based measurement, not an entity-specific i ;
measurement. Therefore a fair value measurement would be determined based on the assumptions that markel |-
participants would usein’ pricing the asset or liability. SFAS 157 is effecttve for fiscal years beginning after ~ '
" November 15 2007 (Octoberl 2008 for us). Management is presently evaluatmg the i |mpact if any, upon adoption.

e aa

LT b i,

In September 2006 the FASB released SFAS No. 158 “Empl‘o;ers Accotmtmg for Defined Benefit Pension
and Other Postremement Flans. an amendmem ofFASB Statements No 87, 88, 106, and 132(R)" (*SFAS 158”).

‘SFAS 158 rcqunrcs compames 1! o »| . ‘ i

. Recogmze the funded status of a beneﬁt plan in its statement of fi nanc1al posrtlon - A

¢

. Recogmze asa component of other comprehenswe income, net of tax, the gams or losses and prior service .

_costs or crccl:ts that artse during ¢ the perlod but are not recogmzed as components. of net periodic benefit cost.
1

* Measure def" ncd beneﬁt plan assets and obhgauons as of the date of the employer s fiscal year-end statement
of ﬁnancral posmon (wnh limited exceptlons) ; : C .

. Prov1de addltlonal d1sclosure in the Consolldated Ftnancml Statements .

SFAS |58 does not 1mpact the determmauon of net periodic beneﬁt cost recogmzed in the income statement .
..SFAS 158 must be adopted by Rock-Térin as of the end of its ﬁscal year ending September 30, 2007 Had we -
adopted SFAS 158 at September 30, 2006 the tmpact would have been as follows: total assets would have been -
approxtmately $3° “million lower, total llablltttes would. have been approxtmately $9 million higher and share-
. holders’ equity would have been approx1mate1y $12 million lower. Because our net pension liabilities are dependent N
upon future events ‘and circumstances, the impact at the time of adoptton of SFAS 158 may differ from these

i
+
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ROCK-TENN COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

In September 2006, the SEC released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior
Year Misstatements when Quantifving Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements” (“SAB 108”). In
SAB 108, the SEC staff established an approach that requires quantification of financial statement errors based on
the effects of the error on each of the company’s financial statements and the related financial statement disclosures.
This model is commonly referred to as the “dual approach™ because it essentially requires quantification of errors
under both the iron curtain and the roll-over methods which public companies (and their auditors) have traditionally
used one of two methods to quantify financial statement errors as follows: -

* The “roll-over” method: This method focuses primarily on the impact of a misstatement on the income
statement — including the reversing effect of prior year misstaiements — but can lead to the accumulation
of misstatements in the balance, sheet. ' '

» The “iron curtain” method: This method focuses primarily on the effect of correcting the peried-end
balance sheet with less emphasis on the reversing effects of prior year errors on the income statement in the
period of correction.

We must begin to apply the provisions of SAB 108 no later than the annual financial statements for the fiscal
year ending September 30, 2007. Management does not expect the application of SAB 108 to have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Reclassifications

We have made certain reclassifications to prior year amounts to conform to the current year presentation.

Note 2. Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (in millions, except for
eamings per share information):
' Year Ended September 30,
W06 2005 2004

Numerator:
‘Income from continuing operations . . . . . T e $28.7 5176 $ 96
Income from discontinued operations, netof tax . ................. — — 8.0
Net income. . . .. .. S $28.7 $176 17.6
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per share — weighted average shares, ..  36.1 355 349
Effect of dilutive stock options and restricted stock awards .. ........ - 0.9 0.6 0.6

Denominator for diluted earnings per share — weighted average shares
~ and assumed conversions............. e O - 370 36.1 355

Basic eamnings per share:

Income from continuing operations . .. ......................... $0.79  $050 $0.28

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax ... ....... S — — 023

Net income per share—basic. ................. e $0.79 $0.50 $0.51
Diluted earnings per share: : '

Income from continuing operations .. ........... e $0.77 $0.4%  $0.27

Income from discontinued operations, netof tax .................. — — 0.23

Net income per share —diluted ................... e $0.77 $049 30.50
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. Optrons to purchase [ 0, mllllon ! 1 8 rmllrorr and 1.0- mrllron common shares in’ 2006 2005 and 2004
respectrvely, were not mcluded in the computauon of. drluted earnings per share because the effect of mcludmg the
optlons in the compulatron would'have béen ‘antidilutive  The dilutive impact of the remammg options, oulstandmg

in each year was: mcluded in the effect of dilutive securities.

.. Note 3. Accumulated Other Comprehenswe Loss |
o L Y L P
T? Accumu]ated olher comprehensrve loss 1s compnsed of lhe followmg, net of laxes where appllcable (m

L2006 2005 &

'-"$ 355 $322
41'* 1 3l~ vior

(52 2) (67 9) L

Note 4; [nventorles —‘_‘ j- T

Invemones are as follows (in I'lllll[O]'lS) .
P L
September 30, -

Finished goods'and work in process .. ..... . e w1 $140.0 - $134.2
Rawmaterla]s' .......... : .............. 70.6 59.9
Supphesandsparepans............................i.' ........ Lol _Z_S_S_g 30.7
-« cInventories at FIFO cost . . ... o v o v R 246.0 224.8
o LIFORSEIVE s e e @11 C_(22.8)
- inventories el ' y ‘ . $218.9 52020

Ca ST |

Net 1nvent0nes ..................................................
L - . .

' ©dtis rmpmcncable to segregate the LIFO reseive belween raw malenals finished goods and work i in process In
ﬁscal 2006 2005 and 2004, wé reduced mventory guantities in some of our LIFO pools. This reduction normally '
results ina quurdauon of LIFQ' mvemory quamlues typically carnecl at lower. costs prevalhng in prior years as ~
compared with’ the'cost of lhe purch.lses in the respectlve fiscal years, 'lhe effect of which typically decreases cost of
+ goods sold. In ﬁscal 2006, certain mvemory quantity reductions caused a quu1dauon of LIFO 1 inventory values, The .
llquldallons reduced cost of goods'sold by less than $0.1 million. In fiscal 2005, we reduced lnventory quammes ina .
" pool where currént ‘costs had declined; the efféct of which was anl aggregate increase in cost of goods sold-of
$0.1 mrlllon In fiscal 2004 the reduced mventory quantities decreased cost of goods sold by apprommatel)
$09 mrllron i ' .

ey 0 ! ’

Note 5. Dlscontmued Operatlons and Assets Held for Sale

'
1

Drsconnnued Operatwns o ‘ " ) I

N

o In the ﬁrst quarler of ﬁsca] 2004 WE; sold our plastic pac|kagmg division . and recerved approx1male]y
$59 0 million in cash and recorded-an after-tax gain of approximately $7.3 million; and. we sold certain assets .
“- and lrabrhues ‘that we ‘acquired in the January 2003 Cartem Wilco acquisition and received approximately

L |
S 2.9 million_in- cash and. recorded no gain or loss from the asset sale. We,classified the results, of operations

.7 « for these asséls-as income from discontinued operations, net of tax, on the consolidated statements of income for all |

perlods presemed ‘ : |
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Revenue from discontinued operations was $7.4. million and pre-tax proﬁl frorn discontinued operdtlons was
$0.9 million for fiscal 2004, excluding the gain on sale recorded. :

Assets Held for Sale

The assets we recorded as held for sale consisted of property, plant and eqmpment from a vancty of plam
closures .md are as follows (in millions): . :

. S’eri)tember 30;
2006 2005
Property, plant and equipment e e $4.0 - $34

Note 6. Acquisitions '
Interior I’ackagmg

On February 27, 2006, our RTS subsidiary compleled the acquisition of the partition bu%mess of Caraustar
Industries, Inc. for an aggregate purchase price of $6.1 million, This acquisition by RTS was funded by capital
contributions to RTS by us and our minority interest partner in proportion to our respective investments in RTS and
was accounted for as a purchase of a business. We have included these operations in our consolidated financial
statements since that date in our Packaging Products segment. RTS made the acquisition in order to gain entrance

- into the spectalty partition market which manufactures high quality die cut partitions. The acquisition included

$2.4 million of goodwill. We expect the goodwill to be deductible for income tax purposes. The pro forma impact of
the acquisition is not material to our financial results.

GSPP

was assimed. The purchase price for the GSPP Acquisition in fiscal 20035 was $552.2 million, net of cash received
of $0.7 million, including expenses. We have included the results of GSPP’s operations in our consolidated financial
statements since that date in our Paperboard segment and Packaging Products segment. We made the acquisition in
order to acquire the bleached paperboard mill and eleven folding carton planis owned by Gulf States, which serve
primarily food packaging, food service and pharmaceutical and health and beauty markets. Three of the folding
carton plants are owned by GSD. As a result of the fiscal 2005 GSPP Acquisition we recorded goodwill 'and
intangibles. We assigned the goodwill to our Paperboard and Packaging Products segments in the amounts of
$37.2 million-and $13.8 million, respectively. We expect all $51.0 million of the goodwill 1o be deductible for

" income tax purposes We recorded $50.7 million of customer relationship intangibles acquired in the GSPP

Acquisition and $4.0 million of financing costs incurred to finance the acquisition. We assigned the customer
relduon‘;hlp intangibles to our Paperboard and Packagmg Products segments in the amounts of $36.4 million and
$14.3 million, respectively. The customer relationship intangibles lives vary by segment acquired, and we are

. amortizing them on a straight-line basis over a weighted average llfe of 22.3 years

Included in the GSPP assets and the related liabilities we assumed f rom Gulf States is a capital- lease obligation
totaling $280 million for certain assets at the bleached paperboard mill. The lessor is the Industrial Development
Board of the City of Demopolis, Alabama which financed the acquisition and construction of substantially all of the

assels at the Demopolis, Alabama bleached paperboard mill by issuing a series of industrial development revenue:

bonds which were purchased by Gulf States. Included in the assets acquired from Gulf States are these bonds. We
also assumed Gulf States’.obligation under the lease as part of the GSPP Acquisition. The bonds indicate that the
principal and interest can only be satisfied by payments received from the lessee.. Accordingly, we included the
leased assets in property, plant and equipment on our balance sheet and offset the capital lease Obllgauon and bonds
on our balance sheet since we have effectively repurchased the lease obligation.
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.On June 6, 2005, we acquired the GSPP assets and assumed certain of Gulf States’ related liabilities. No.debt "
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. Currem assets net of cash recewed

Goodwtll '.’.“.‘.

Other Iong -term assets
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the total we expect 10 incur (m mllhons) -

TS Seterance

" s Nel Properly, Employee

= The followmg table summarizes’ lhe-estlmated ifair, vaIues of the
) date ofithe GSPP Aeqmsmon The opemng balance sheel»as reporleci at September 30,,2005 :s as fol]ows (in -
] 2y o . LSRR

’ " and Other.

l:.qmpmem and

Ssets aequn‘ed and lmb]lmes assumed at lhe

lmanglble assets -—customer relauonshlps (22. 3 year we:ghled average useful life)

Tom]assetsacquxred.............................._ .......................

- September 30,

“T2005 T 2004,
'$2075.2  $2041.4

$

300 0§ °219

8

Facnlm

The fol]owmg undudlted pm forma lnformallon reflee[s our consolldated resuhs of Operauons as lfthe GSPP
l.ll mori‘ ad taken place on Oclober r]* 2004*and.2003 The pro forma mformauon includes - pnmanly

083 S -061°

We recorded pre ‘tax reslruclurmg and olher costs, net of $7.8 mllllon 375 mllllon and $32.7 million for fiscal
2006 2005 and- 2004 respectively. These amoums are not compardble since the timing and scope of the individual
actlons.'assocmted wuh a. reslructurmg can vary We dlscuss these charges in more detail below.

!
. The: followmg table represents d;summary of restructuring aind other charges, ‘net related to our active
" restructuring mluauves lhat we incurred durmg the ﬁscal year, cumulallvely since we announced the mmauve and

“and-. W rooe Plant and- Related | Inventory Carrymg Cnr|; K P
- begment - , _.Permd(l) Eqmpment(Z) Coséts * + Relocation Costs Reorg. . Other- Total
Kerman, " Fiscal’2006 18 11 . 02 01 —.. 26 58
“" .. PacKaging’ : _Cumulative 1.8 1.1 [ 0.2 0.1 — 26 58
s Products(a) .. v.» v Expected Total 1.8 1.3 P04 0.5 — .26 6.6
E '-,"‘; '."-._. B » .‘_-- ) b ‘ - \ |
S — . 53 .
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ROCK-TENN COMPANY
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Severance
and Other
 Initiative Net Property, Employee Equipment and Facility
oy -and Plant and Related Inventory Carrying Corp.

! ©7  Segment Period(1) Equipment(2) Costs Relocation Costs Reorg. Other Total
Marshville,. . ... ... ... Fiscal 2006 — 0.5 0.2 0.1 — - 08
Packaging Fiscal 2005 25 — -_ — — — 2.5
Products(b) Cumulanve 25 0.5 02 0.1 — — 33

Expected Total 25 0.5 0.3 A — 0l 35

Waco, .............. Fiscal 2006 {0.1) — 0.3 0.1 — 0.1 0.4
Packaging Fiscal 2005 — 0.2 0.3 —_ — — 0.5
Products(c) Cumulative {0.1) 0.2 0.6 or. . 0.1 09

: Expected Total 0.1 0.2 0.6 2 e

mmh' ‘ﬁ'A:‘ e it «q..e LR L e pe I . ( ) 0_2 - ‘ 0.2 ll]
‘ - . Restructuring, "~ =, .. - Fiscal 2005 — 1.6 - — — — 1.6
Packaging Cumulative — 1.6 — — —_ — L6
Products{d) Expected Total — 1.6 — — — —_ 1.6
““Noreross Real. . . . .. Fiscal 2005 — — — — — (1.9 (1.9
Estate Sale, Cumulative — — — — — (19 (1.9
Corporate(e} Expected Total —_ — — — _ (1.9 (1.9
Otsego, .. ........ Fiscal 2006 (0.1) — 0.1 — — 0. (.
Paperboard(f) Fiscal 2005 — 03 0.6 0.6 — 0.1 1.6

Fiscal 2004 14.5 1.7 0.1 0.2 — 01 16.6

Cumulative 144 2.0 0.8 : 0.8 — 0.l 18.1

. Expected Total 14.4 20 0.8 0.8 — 01 181

SLPaul,............. Fiscal 2005 . — 2.4 0.2 — — o1 27
Packaging Fiscal 2004 2.3 0.7 — — — — 3.0

, " Products(g) Cumulative 23 3.1 0.2 — — 01 57
: B Expected Total 23 31 0.2 — — 0.1 5.7
Aurora, ... ... Fiscal 2005 0.3) — — — — — {0.3)
Paperboard(h} Fiscal 2004 35 0.7 — — —_ — 4.2
Cumulative 32 0.7 — — — — 39

Expected Total 32 0.7 — C— — — 39

Division Consolidation, . . Fiscal 2004 — 0.5 — — —_ . — 0.5
Paperboard(i) Cumulative — 0.5 — — — — 0.5
Expected Total — 0.5 — _ — — — 0.5
Wright City,. . ........ Fiscal 2005 0.7 — — —_ — @.1y (0.8)
Paperboard(j) Fiscal 2004 6.6 0.6 0.2 0.1 - 0.4 79
Cumulative 59 0.6 0.2 0.1 — 0.3 7.1

Expected Total 5.9 0.6 " 02 0.1 — 03 7.1
Mundelein Facility Sale,. . Fiscal 2004 (1.8) — 0.1 0.1 - — (1.6}
- Merchandising Cumulative (1.8) — 0.1 0.1 — — {1.6)
Displays(k) " Expected Total (1.8) — 0.1 0.1 — — (1.6
Corporate. .. ......... Fiscal 2005 — —_ —_ - 0.2 — 0.2
Reorganization, Fiscal 2004 — — — — 1.1 — 1.1
Corporate(l) Cumulative — — — — 1.3 — 1.3
Expected Total — — — — 1.3 — 1.3

Other(m) . ........... Fiscal 2006 — 0.1 — 0.1 — 0.7 09

Fiscal 2005 0.1} — — 0.1 — 1.4 1.4

Fiscal 2004 08 — © 02 0.1 — (0.1} 1.0

Cumulative 0.7 0.1 0.2 0.3 —_ 2.0 33

Expected Total 0.7 0.1 02 04 _— 20 3.4
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Seterance - . .
: '+l and Other . . Cs .
Initiative '- Nel Property, Employee Equipment and Facility
rand - o : = op: tneis Plantand - Related. . Inventory ' Carr)mg Corp.” - .
" Segment _ R Penod(l)' Equtpment(Z) Costs- Re]ocauon Fi' 'Costs -- Reorg.® Other  Total
Total . ... .. .. D Fiscal 2006 $16 517 S08 “Us04 S— 833 $78
Fiscal 2005 $14 545 . 3.1 $0.7 302 $(04) $ 75
Fiscal 2004 $25.9 $ 42 $0.6 30.5 BI.E 504 3327
Cumulative $28.9 $10.4 $25 $1.6 $13 8533 3480
Expected Total $28.9 $10.6 $28 2.2 $13  $35 5493

5

N

H
~.’: r
s

b

(2) ln fiscal 2004 we announced ‘thé’ closure of our St.-Paul, anesota folding carton facility. We closed the |
e fac1hty in.fiscal 2005. We shifted 'a majority of the production 1o our other folding carton fac:lmes We -
’ recogmzed an'impairment charge 10, reduce the carrying value of certain equipment to its estimated fair value

v : s ROCK-TENN COMPANY .
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Contlnued)

. a4
. e 7 " !
A 5 : p .- . . T

(1) Fiscal years are omitted for initiatives where no charges were incurred during the fiscal vear.

(2) For this Note 7, we have defined ‘“Net property, plant and equipment” as: property. plant and equipment
impairment losses, and subsequent adjustments to fair value for assets classified as held for sale, subsequent
{gains) or losses on sales of property, plant and equipment, and property, plant and equipment related parts and
supplies. .

{a) Infiscal 2006 we anncunced the closure and ceased operations at our Kerman, California folding carton plant.
We transferred a substantial portion of the facility’s assets and production to our other folding carton facilities,
We recogntzed an impairment charge to reduce the carrying value of certain equipment to its estimated fair

' va]ue recorded a charge for severance and other. employee related costs, recorded a liability for future lease
payments when we ceased -operations: -at ‘the facility  of $1.0° million,. and. recorded charges aggfegating

_ 813 mrlhon ‘for the tmpatrment of the customer relationship mtanglble asset.. [ . ;

(b) ‘On October 4, 2005 we announced the closure of our Marshville, North Carolma foldmg carton plant: We

. transferred the majority of the fac111ty 5 productlon io.our other fold1ng carton facilities. We recognized an
1mpatrment charge in fiscal 2005 to reduce the carrying value of the 1mpa|red equipment. In fiscal 2006, we
closed ‘the. fac1]1ty and certain equtpment and the facnhty was c]a551ﬁed as held for sale, We sold the facll:ty in
October 2006 ; :

{¢) In fiscal 2005 we announced the closure of our Waco, Texas folding carton. plant that we: acqutred as part of
. the GSPP Acqutsmon We transferred the majority of the facility's production to other plants. We classified the
land and burldmg as held for sale and. we recorded a liability of $1 3 mllllon primarily for severance and other
employee related costs ‘as part of the purchase

o

() We mcurred $1. 6 lTlll]!OL’] in ﬁscal 2005 for severance and other employee COStS, related 10 our foldmg carton
division - restructunng The GSPP Acqursmon included 14 folding . carton facnlmes and we belleve the
restructunng of the division allowed us. to ‘more effectively manage the collecuve folding assets.

(e)- In fiscal 2005 we sold 9.4 acres of real estate adjacent to our Norcross, Georgta headquarters and.received
proceeds of $2. 8 mtllton and recogmzed a gain of $1.9 million, :

{f) In ﬁseal 2004 we announced the closure of our Otsego Michigan paperboard mill. We transferred approx-
1mately one thtrd of the productton of this facrllty to our remaining milts and recognized an impajrment charge
to reduce the carrymg value of the l'aCthty and certain equipment to its estimated fair value, We sold the facility
1n the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2006.. '

-less cost, to sell. We have other operations at this complex. We will retain the’ land and building; and they will

remain avatlable for use by those operations. The St. Paul union contract allows more senior folding carton
L employees from this facility to replace other union employees at our St. Paul mill. The replacement process

oy
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requ1res one-on-one training for a SpEClﬁc penod of time per position. As a resuli, we have mcluded in the
severance and other employee costs $1.2 million of duplicate mill labor in fiscal 2005,

(h) Infiscal 2004, we announced the closure of the laminated paperboard products converting lines at our Aurora,
lllinois facility. We recognized an impairment charge to reduce the carrying value of the equipment o its
estimated fair value less cost to sell and classified the equipment as held for sale until it was sold.

(i) In ﬁscal 2004, we consolidated our laminated paperboard products division and mill division under common

management and reduced the size of the combined divisional staffs. We renamed the combmcd division as the = -

paperboard division.

(})  Infiscal 2004, we announced the closure of our Wright City, Missouri laminated paperboard products facility.
We recognized an impairment charge 10 reduce the carrying value of certain equipment and the facility to its
estimated fair value less cost to sell and we classified the property, plant and equipment as held for sale. We
sold the facility in fiscal 2005,

. (k) In fiscal 2004, we sold our previr)usly closed Mundelein, Ilinois merchandising displays facility site.

(1) Infiscal 2004, we reviewed our corporate structure and reorganized our subsidiaries, reducing the number of
corporate entities and the complexity of the orgamzallonal structure. We substantially completed the
reorganization process in the fiscal 2005. ‘

(m) “In fiscal 2005, we acquired certain GSPP assets and assumeéd certain of Gulf States’ related liabilities. We have

© expensed as incurred various incremental transition costs to mlegrate the Operations into our mill and foldmg
carton operations of $0.5 million in fiscal 2006 and $0.7 million in fiscal 2005. In fiscal 2005 we: recorded a
charge of $0.6 mlllron to expense previously capitalized patent defense costs ;

' i
The following table represents a summary of the restructuring accrual, which is primarily composed of accrued
severance and other employee costs; and a reconciliation of the restructuring-accrual tothe line item “Restruc-
taring and other costs, net” on our consolidated statements of income for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 (in millions):

2006 2005 2004

Accrual at beginning of fiscal year ... .. ... ............ P $16 .$12 $02

Additional accruals. . . .. ... .. S e Y25 26 32
Payments . ... .............. PR N 19 ey )
Adjustment to accruals . . . .. R e e (0D — 0.2
Accrual at September 30, .. . .. P o j e $21 % 1.6 . $1.2 .

Reconciliation of accroals and charges to restructuring and other costs, net:

Additional accruals and adjustment to accruals (see table above) ... .. .. $24 $26 $ 34
- Severance and other employee costs ... .. .. e A T05 19 —
Net property, plam and equ1pmem ............. S e " 1.6, 1.4 259
Equrpment relocatlon .............................. e Cee 0.8 LT 06
Facﬂrly carrying 0SS . L s ‘;. .'\. .. 04 0.7 0.5
Pension curtailment. . ......... ... o il : e = e 09
Coodwill impaiment ... ... TR e — =02
Corporate reorganization project . . B I e ' e o — 0.2 1.1.
Other ..:....... e e e 21 . (04) 0.1
Total restructuring and other COStS, NEL, . ... oo\ v vt et ie e $78 $75 $327
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. e - The follownng table represems a summary of mcrememal restructuring accruals related to the costs lo exit an
W :' acuvrty of an acqurred company that- were” eslabllshed in accounting for the.acquisition. The reserves are for the
it Waco plam consohdallon acqunred as- pdl‘l of the GSPP Acquisition for severance and other employee costs (in
T o 2006 2005
Accrual at beginning of fiscal year. . . ... B e $15 33—
Addmonalaccru..\ls..............:....' ............................... 1.5
- Paymemis;....l..... g .:,' ..... e ST RN R —
L rAdjustmem to accrualq o y SO ! RO
J} Pi - Accrual “at September 30 $1.5
e ,l-"'..-‘ ’ 4" ' . o - ; ) ; -
!'; L .‘f:" LU We do not ailocale restructurmg and other costs to lhe respecuve segments for ﬂnancral reportmg purposes |Af -
i A ,we had allocated these 'costs, we would have charged $7.1 million; $7 4'million, and $3.3 millioh to our Packaging

) ‘_Products segmem ‘for flscal 2006 2005 and:2004; respecuvely -$0.5 mllllon ~and $29 9 million to the Paperboard .
5 segmem for ﬁscai 7005 and- 2004 respecuveiy, charged $0 1-million ‘and recorded a gain of $1. 6 million for our .
LT ' Merchandrsmg Drsplays segmem i ﬁscal 2006 and 20047 respecuvely ‘and. charged $0 6 mrlllon and $1.1 million

in fiscal- 2006 and 2004, respecuve]y, and recorded a galn  of $0.4 mllllon in ﬁscal ’?005 ‘to our corporate operations.

Of these costs, $3.0 million, $2 0 nulllon and $26 8 mll]lOl‘l were non- Zchish: for fiscal 2006, 2005, and 2004,

respectively.
"

Note 8. Other Intangnbie Assels

The gross carrying amount and accumulated amomzauon relatmg to 1nlang1ble assels, exctudmg goodwr]l is

as follows.(in m:]llons)

m———em A el 3 e

- : ‘ vary by segmentacquired. We are amortizing them ona slralghl -line basis over a werghled average life of 22

oo ‘ September 30,
S T 2006 N 2005

’ s " Weighted Grnss Carrying Accumulated Gross Carrying Accumulated

ST , Avg. Life - Amount Amortization Amount ' Amortization
Customer relationships. ... 210 $65.2 $(117) 3656 $ (6.1
Non-compete agreements .. - 84 . 6.5 (6.1) 6.5 (5.3)
TPatents .. Lol 5.0 1.2 0.3 1.0 ' (0.2)
Trademark........... L. 50, 0.8 (0.6) 0.8 (0.6)
License Costs . ......... - iﬂ e 0.3 0.2) 0.3 (0.1
Total .. . ... AU S 205 0§40 $(18.9) $74.2 3(12.3)

- Dunng fiscal 2006, our net’ mtangtble balance’ decreased $6.8 mrfllon pnmanly due "to dmoruzauon of
imtangrblec and a charge of. $1.3 million'for the lmpalrmenl of a custormer’ re]auonshlp intangible we previously
. achII‘ed in the acquisition due to dlscontmumg shlpments to certain customers "after thé facility was closed. The
‘charge was recorded in.the Reslructurmg and other costs, net. lme ttem of our consolldated statements of mcome

. Durmg fi scal 2005 our net intangible balance mcreased by $45 9 m1llron primarily due to $50.7 mrllron of
¢ customer relauonshtp mtanglbles acquired in the GSPP Acqu:smon “The’ customer relationship intangibles lives
2.3.years, -

which approxlmales the ‘periods benefited.

I

L We are:amortizing all of our 1ntang1bles. None of our intangibles have significant residual values. Our
%] intangible assets are amortized based on a straight-line basis or the estimated pattern in which the economic benefits ,
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are realized over their estimated useful lives ranging from 1 to 40 years and have a weighted average of
approximately 20.5 years.

During fiscal 2006, 2005, and 2004, amortization expense, including financing costs, was $7.7 million,
$5.1 million, and $4.0 million, respectively. Estimated amortization expense for the succeeding five fiscal years is
as follows (in millions);

Note 9. Unconsolidated Joint Venture

Seven Hills commenced operations on March 29, 2001. Our partner has the option to sell us its interest in
Seven Hills, at a formula price, effective on the sixth or any subsequent anniversary of the commencement date by
providing notice to purchase their interest no later than two years prior to the anniversary of the commencement date
on which such transaction is to occur. No notification has been received to date. We estimate this contingent
obligation to purchase their interest (based on the current formuia) to be approximately $8.1 million at Septem-
ber 30, 2006. The partners of the joint venture have guaranteed funding of any net losses of Seven Hills in relation to
their proportionate share of ownership. Seven Hiils has no third party debt. We have invested a total of $23.3 million
in Seven Hills as of September 30, 2006. Our investment is reflected in the assets of our Paperboard segment. Our
share of cumulative pre-tax losses by Seven Hills that we have recognized as of September 30, 2006 and 2005 were
$1.7 million and $3.6 million, respectively. During fiscal 2006 our share of operating income at Seven Hills
amounted to $1.9 million. During fiscal 2005 our share of operating losses incurred at Seven Hills amounted to
$1.0 million. The loss in fiscal 2005 reflected our estimate of our share of the adverse impact of a preliminary
settlement of arbitration between us and our joint venture partner, which was recorded in the third quarter of fiscal
2005. The final settlement notice was received in December 2005. At that time, we determined that a portion of the
adverse impact previously recorded no longer was required and the excess amount of $1.2 million was released to
income in the first quarter of fiscal 2006. During fiscal 2004, our share of operating income at Seven Hills was
$0.1 million.

Our pre-tax income from the Seven Hills joint venture, including the fees we charge the venture and our share
of the joint venture’s net income was $3.7 million, $0.7 million and $2.8 million, for fiscal 2006, 2005, and 2004,
respectively. We contributed cash of $0.2 million, $0.1 million, and $0.2 millien for fiscal 2006, 2005; and 2004,
respectively. Our contributions for each of those years were for capital expenditures.

We collect the receivables and disburse the payables for our Seven Hills joint venture. Therefore, at each
balance sheet date we will have either a liability due to the joint venture or a receivable from the joint venture.
Interest income or expense is recorded between the two parties on the average outstanding balance. At Septem-
ber 30, 2006 and 2005 we had a current liability of $11.0 million and $2.4 million, respectively, on our consolidated
balance sheets. The change in the liability is reflected in the financing activities section of our consolidated

statements of cash flows on the line item advances from the joint venture. In October 2006, the Seven Hills joint.

venture made a $6.2 million capital distribution that decreased the current liability discussed above.
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a by those nouonal amounts; At September 30, 2006 the Senior Credit Facility had a maximum principal amount .
- of $693.7 million. The Senior Credit Facility is pre-payable at any time and is scheduled to expire on June 6, '
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1"

) b \v_ ra e L ) ;,
. The followmg were, mdrvrdual components of debt (m rmlhorls) o syl e .
. _13 .'*' Wt ‘h G e A T Lo '»-, S Seplember 30, ' -~
t ™ Ve ., . - RS E - . c 2006 - 1 2005
Face valie' of 5. 625% notes due March 20]3 net of unamortized dlscount of $0.2
g and $0.2. ... .. L 15998 $998
'}' Hedge adjustments resultm_g from terminated interest rate derivatives or swaps. ' | 24
- Face value of 8 20% notes due August 2011 net of unarnortlzed dlscount of $0.3 : . o
; Yoo and $04. f. .":_; ....... .. R PR TERNA Lot ." L2497 . 249.6
e il fHedge adjustments resullmg from termmated mterest rate derwattves or swaps. - 83, 99
v ¢ . o s .. A o P TS
S . R N 2580 3505
- "y oo T e g, T . AR )
5o e Term loan facrhty(a) ......... S e e e e e . 243.7° - 2500 -
. oL o : R Pl
o L Revolvmg credit and swmg facrlmes(a) ...... R L L R R 86.9 - 2160
, i g Recewables backed fi nancmg factllty(b) ........ - f’. e e S . 900 550
f } - . *t N Industrlal development revenue bonds beanng mterest at vartable rites (5. 55%at et
[ ST sSeptembér 30! 2006; and 4:30% at September 30 2005), due through October -
‘ . B "5' 2036(c). e 239 3001
) Other notes .' S PR U AN S e 1.7 2.3
s : T . 806.1 . 915.1
: Less current pomon of debt S S PP [ 408 . .1
g Long term debt due after one year. hies e, e e " $765.3° $908.0
.. The fol!owmg were the aggregate components of debt (in mtlllons)
e Face value of debt instruments, net of unamortlzed dlscounts. L ... $7957 %9028
",'," Hedge adjustments resultlng from terminated 1nterest rate derivatives or swaps. 104 .. 123
. et oL e - $806.1  $915:1

- T
iy s _,' B beor - T N

T meee— e

A pomon of the September 30 2006 debt classified as long tenn which mc!udes the revolvmg credit and- ’
swmg facnlmes may be patd down earher than scheduled at our discretion without penalty if our cash balances and

expected future cash flows support such aC[l()l'l Included in the ciirrent portion-of debt above is an amount of
$15 0 mtlllon to reﬂect amounts requtred to support normal workmg Capllal needs '

' -(a) The Semor Credlt Faclhty mcludes revolvmg credit, swing, term loan, and letters of credit facilities: with an
aggregate original | maximum pnnc1pal amount of $700 million. The Senior Credit Facnlrty provides for up,to -

$100.0. million in loans to a Canadlan _subsidiary. At Seplember 30, 2006, there were $49.8 million in
borrowmgs to the Canadian subsrdlary As scheduled term loan payments are made, the facility size is reduced

2010. At September 30, 2006, we had issued aggregate outstanding letters-of credit under this facility of
. approxrmately $37'million; none of which had been drawn upon. At September 30, 2006, due to the restrictive
covenants on the revolving credit” facrhty, maximum additional available borrowmgs under this facility were
.-approxlmately $115.5 million. Borrowmgs in the United Statés under the Senior Credit Facility bear interest
based either upon (1) LIBOR plus an applicable margin (“U.S. LIBOR Loans®) or (2) the alternative base rate
plus an appllcable margm {“U.S. Base Rate Loans”). Borrowmgs in Canada under the Senior Credit Facility
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bear interest based either upon: (1) Canadian Deposit Offering Rate plus an applicable margin for Canadian
dollar loans (“Banker’s Acceptance Loans”); (2) LIBOR plus an applicable margin for. U.S. Dollar loans

- (*Canadian LIBOR Loans"); or (3) the Canadian or U.S. ‘Dollar base rate plus an applicable margin -

{*‘Canadian Base Rate Loans.”) The applicable margin for determining the interest rate applicable to U.S.
and Canadian Base Rate Loans ranges from 0.000% to 0.750% and Banker’s Acceptance and U.S. and
Canadian LIBOR Loans from .875% to 1.75% based on the ratio of our total funded debt 1o EBITDA as
defined in the credit agreement (“Leverage Ratio™). The applicable percentage for-determining the. facility
commitment fee ranges from 0.175% to 0.400% of the aggregate borrowing availability based on the Lév erage
Ratio. At September 30, 2006, the applicable margin for determining the interest rate applicable to U.S. and
Canadian LIBOR Loans and Banker’s Acceptance Loans and the applicable margin for determining the
interest rate applicable (o U.S. and Canadian Base Rate Loans were 1.75% and 0.75%, respectively. At
September 30, 2005, the applicable margin for determining the interest rate applicable to U.S. and Canadian
LIBOR Loans and the applicable margin for determining the interest rate applicable to U.S. and Canadian
Base Rate Loans were 1.50% and 0.50%, respectively. The facility commitment fee at September 30, 2006 and
September 30, 2005 was 0.40% and 0.325% of the unused amount, respectively. Interest on the U.S. revolving
credit facility and term loan facility are payable in arrears on each applicable payment date. At our election, we
can choose U.S. and Canadian Base Rate Loans, U.S. and Canadian LIBOR Loans, Banker’s Acceptance
Loans or a combination thereof. If we chose U.S. and Canadian LIBOR Loans or Banker’s Acceptance Loans,
the interest rate reset options are 30, 60, 90 or 180 days. The Senior Credit Facility is secured by the real and
personal property of the GSPP business that we acquired in the GSPP Acquisition and the following property
of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries: inventory and general intangibles, including, without
limitation, specified patents, patent licenses, trademarks, trademark licenses, copyrights and copyright
licenses. The agreement documenting the Senior Credit Facility, includes restrictive covenants regarding
the maintenance of financial ratios, the creation of additional long-term and short-term debt, the creation of -
existence of certain liens, ‘the occurrence of certain mergers, acquisitions or disposals of assets and certain
leasing arrangements, the occurrence of certain fundamental changes in the primary nature of our consolidated
business, the nature of certain investments, and other matters. We are in compliani:e with these restrictions.
Under the most restrictive of these covenants as of September 30, 2006 we could pay up to approximately
$90 million of dividends without violating our Minimum Consolidated Net Worth covenant. *

{b} On October 26, 2005, we amended the 364-day receivables-backed financing facility (“Receivables Facil-

©

ity’”) and increased the maximum borrowing availability from $75.0 to $100.0 million. The facility expired on
October 25, 2006. We amended the facility, and the facility is scheduled to expire on November 16, 2007,
Accordingly, such borrowings are classified as non-current at September 30, 2006. At September 30, 2005, we
had the intent 1o maintain at least $55.0 million outstanding under this facility on a long-term basis. We also
had the ability to re-finance this borrowing on a long-term basis, as evidenced by the fact that it was renewed in
October 2005, expiring October 2006. Accordingly, we have reclassified the $55.0 million drawn upon this
facility at September 30, 2005 previously classified as short-term to long-term. Borrowing availability under
this facility is based on the eligible underlying receivables. At September 30, 2006, maximum available

"borrowings under this facility were approximately $100.0 million. The borrowing rate, which consists of the

market rate for asset-backed commercial paper plus a utilization fee, was 5.61% as of September 30, 2006. The
_borrowing rate at September 30, 2005 was 4.10%.

The industrial development revenue bonds are issued by various mumc1pa11t|es in which we maintain
operations or other facilities. The bonds are fully secured by a pledge of payments to the municipality by
us under a financing agreement. Each series of bonds are also secured by and payable through a letter of credit
issued in favor of the Trustee to the bonds. We are required to maintain these letters of credit under the terms of
the bond indenture. The letters of credit are renewable at our request so long as no default or event of default
has occurred under the Senior Credit Facility. A remarketing agent offers the bonds for initial sale and uses its
best efforts to remarket the bonds until they mature or are otherwise fully redeemed. The remarketing agent
also periodically determines the interest rates on the bonds based on prevailing market conditions. The
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P e :
L remarketmg agent is pdld a fee for thls Sefvice. Our mdustnal deve]opment revenire bonds are. remarketed’ On a -
-~ periodic basis, -upon demand of the bondholders* If the remarketing agent is unable to successfully reimarket the |
A “bonds, the remarketmg agent will repurchase thee bonds by drawing on the letters of credit. If this were to occur,
e '-',". we wouId 1mmed1ately reimburse the issuing lender with the proceeds of a revolving loan obtained under the RN
' Senior Credit Facility. Accordingly, we have classified the industrial development revenue bonds as non-

-+ current.

LY )

SEE
Sl

) Interest on our 8.20% notes due August 2011 (“August 2011 notes”) is payable in arrears each February and

_ August. Interest on our 5.625% notes due March 2013 (“March 2013 notes”) is payable in arrears each September

k) and March. Our August 2011 notes and March 2013 notes are unsecured facilities. The indenture related 10 these

5 notes restricts us and our subsidiaries’from incurring certain liens and entering into certain sale and leaseback

transactions, subject to a number of exceptions. At September 30, 2006 and 2005, the fair market value of the
August 2011 notes was approximately $261.6 million and $258.8 million, respectively, based on quoted market
prices. At September 30, 2006 and 2005, the fair market value of the March 2013 notes, was approximately
$93.3 million and $90.8 million, respectively, based on quoted market prices.

‘ . As of September 30, 2006, the aggregate maturities of long-term debt for the succeeding five fiscal years are as
v g fOllows (m mllhons)
; b .-"" . .

r

:
:
] .
Unamomzed hedge adjustments from’terniinated mterest rate denvauves ot swaps. e L :
; Unamomzed bond dlscount ............ L e e (0.5 L
' ) - - ‘ i ) .
; o TOtallongtermdebt...__..'.’" ......... i $806.1
. PR . * . o " - .
Note ]l Leases - S : IR . : ' _— " .

oo . L B -

T

| . - We lease certain manufactunng and warehousmg facilities and equlpment (pnman]y transportalmn equtp-
| ment) under various operating ]eases Some leases contam escalation clauses and provisions for lease renewal

LA, C A N

Fee As of, September 30, 2006 future mll'llmul’l'l lease. payments under all noncancelable leases, excludmg the
| ’ Demopolis lease discussed in Note 6, for the succeeding five fiscal years, mc]udmg certain maintenance charges on
‘ B ‘ transportatton equipment, are-as follows (m mllhons) : o .

- 4

Rental expense- for the years ended September 30,. 2006, 2005 and 2004 was appr0x1mately $18.4 million,
$18 0 mllllOIl and $16.5 million, respectlvely, mcludmg lease payments under cancelable leases.

00T e e $i2.2
008 L e 92
" 2009 ..o 5.6
20100 .. ... B S e 3.3
. I 2.2
. Thereafter ................. R _29 '
i Total future minimum lease PAYMENS. .. e e $354 A
‘f L B :
|
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N;jte 12. : Income Taxes

' '_ The provisions for income taxes consnst of the following components (m mllllons)

; . Year Ended September 30,
) .2 2006 - 2005 2004
Current income taxes: ‘ - : S _
Federal........... B e IR SR $1.1 334 $9.1
USHME .\ e Lo (08 05 (12)
Foreign ......... e e e i o410 1200 33
Total currént ... 2 1u i e Cola LT ad e a2
Defe.l"red income taxes . ' . . ,
Federal. .. .......oviomoia il e 8129 (06)
] 711 O ‘.:;‘. @21 01 . 46)
Forgign . ......... B e e e e ey 08) L 2 (0.3)
Total deferred. . ... .......oooitns D ... 55 40 (55
Provis}onforincomelaxes................................' ....... ... $99 $23 $57
; The components of deferred tax expense are as follows (in millions): . i .
' Year Ended Sepiemb:ar 30,
) . . 2006 - 2005 2004
Employee related accruals and allowances. . . . ... o L. ST $(0.8) $ (1.5
" Research and development and other federal credit carryforwards ........... R | ) - =
State net operating loss carryforwards, net of valuation- a]lowance VTR e (2D (26) C(05)
State credit carryforwards, net of federal benefit and valuauon allowance. . . .. L=, 03 -~ (1.0)
. Property, plant and equipment. .. ....... ... ... .. e I B ) 15.9 (12.5)
Deducnb!e lmanglbles .............................. e e 24 14 2.4
PENSION ... ... luit it et e eeata o, LB 40y 74
Inventory e R P . (03) 0 (23) 1.4
Other deferred tax assets. . .. ... . L. . e Lo (07) 04 (09
Other deferred tax liab@lities ............................. e e QLD 4.3 (0.3)
Deferred-income tax expense U e ... $55 $40 $(59)
Income tax expeme is mcluded in our consolldaled statements of income as
. follows: - . . ‘ -
Continuing operations . . .......... ...... © $99 $23 § 09
Discontinued operations . ..............on...... T F TP e — — 4.8
Provision for income taxes e e, 599 323 0§ 57
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l

The chfferences belween the statutory federd] mcome tax. rate and our effecuve 1ncome tax rate are as follows

weet s Ll e e o * Year Ended September 30,
oo et PR L S .

Statutory federal 14X [ate .2+« + . fe e I o 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Meals and entertainment eXpense. . .. ... ... .o it 0.9 25 20
Adjustment of deferred taxes for changes in state and foreign tax rates ..~ (5.2) 6.9 (1.8)
Fixed assets and inventory adjustments. . ... ..................... 0.2 {6.6) 3.6
Adjustment and resolution of federal and state tax deductions . .. ... ... (LL7) (20.8) 2.2)
State taxes, net of federal benefit . ... ... ... .. ... ... ... ... .. .. (1.6) 3.3 1.2
Research and development and other tax credits, net of valuation

AllOWANCES . . .. e e (2.1) {0.1) (0.8)
Adjustment to deferred taxes —restructuring ... ... ... L ... (1.0) (1.7) (9.0)
Other valuation allowances .. ............. ... .. 0.6 0.8 5.3
Other, et . .. e e e e 07 (2 L7
Effective tax rate. . .. .. ... . 258% 11.3% 24.4%

In fiscal 2006, we recorded a state tax benefit of $2.4 million which related primarily to a change in our staie
effective tax rate on our domestic operating entities from approximately 4% to 3% and we recorded research and
developmem and other tax credits of $0.8 million, net of valuation allowances, primarily related to prior years. In

‘ fiscal 2005, wé récorded a $4.1 mlll1on benef“u resullmg from the adjustment ‘and resolution-of federal and state tax
. deductlons that we had prevnously reserved This beneﬁt was partially offset: by a$id mllllon expénse related to
changes in our state effective tax- rates, nét-of changes to our Canad1ar| tax rate. In fiscal 2004 we reorganized our
. -corporate subsmllanes reducmg the number of corporate entities and the complexity of our organlzatlonal structure
. which resulted ,in a‘one-time income.tax benefii: ‘of-$2.1 -million,~ The restructuring also allowed us to reduce

valuation allowances by $1.2 million for'certain state net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards that we had

previously concluded were not likely to be realized.

Iy
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise ;6 significant portions of deferred income tax assets and
liabilities consist of the following (in millions):

September 30, ’

) 2006 2005

Deferred income tax assets: _

- Accruals and allowances’ .' .......... e .. it %032 3 3
Employee related accruals and allowances . ..’ ... .. R SO, 92 6.6
Minimum pension lability. ... ... ... e PRI e 327 43.4
Research and development and other federal credlt Carryforwards ........ B 1.3. —
State net operating loss carryforwards .. .. ....... ... .. e 6.8 4.5

~ State credit carryforwards, net of federal'benefit ................... I 4.9 0.9
Foreign tax credit carryforwards . ... .............. DR 1.6 —_
Valuation allowandes. . ................. e e e e 3.5) (I'7)
(o)1 U e 60 46

[ 1] 72 1 R [ 382 614
Deferred income tax liabilities: .
Property, plant and equipment . . . ... ..., ... ... L i 118.4 108.2
Deductible intangibles. . . ... e e 13.9 11.4
PERSION - v e oo e et e ST . 1.7 102
TVENLOTY TESEIVES . o . oo v v v ie e e ee e e LOUR AR 1.7 20
Other ......... .ot S R e e 64 75

Total ............. e e e Lo 1821 1393

Net deferred income tax liability . . . .. . . L SR DU $939-" $ 779

Deferred taxes are recorded as follows in the consolidated balance sheet:
September 30,

006 2005
Current deferred tax asset. . ........ o ............ L. 859 3851
_Long-term deferred tax liability /. .......... TR SRR 998 830
Net defeg‘red income tax liability. . . ... T S $9£ Ell__?

At September 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005, net operating losses, for state tax reporting purposes, of |
approximately $144 million and $94 million, respectively, were available for carry forward. These loss carry
forwards generally expire within 5-20 years. We have recorded deferred tax assets of $6.8 million and $4.5 million
at September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively as our estimate of the future benefit of these losses, and we have also

" recorded valuation allowances of $1.6 million and $1.4 million at September 30, 2006 and 2005 against these assets.

In addition, at September 30, 2006 and 2005, cértain allowable state tax credits were available for carry forward.
These state credit carry forwards generally expire within 5-10 years.-We have recorded a deferred tax asset of
$0.9 million at September 30, 2006 and 2005 as our estimate of the future benefit of these credits, and we have also
recorded a valuauon allowance of $0.2 mllllon at September 30, 2006 and 2005 against 1hese assets.

At September 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005, net operalmg losses, for federal tax reporting purposes of
approximately $5.7 million and $21.7 million, respectively, were available for carry back or carry forward. We have -
applied all 2005 net operating loss; and we anticipate carrying buck the 2006 net operating loss, to offset 2004

64




© ROCK-TENN COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

ta.xfablé income. In addition, at September 30, 2000, approximately $1.3 million of certain allowable federal tax
credits were available for carry forward and as such have been recorded as a deferred 1ax asset at September 30,
2006. The federa] credit carry- forwards generdlly explre within 8-20 years.

)
. The components of income before income taxes are as follows (in millions):

Year Ended September 30,
2006 2005 2004

~ United States continuing operations. . . . . . ..................... . $284. 3130 $(0.2)
i United States discontinued operations . .......................... . — — 12.5
L o " T 284 130 123
~ Foreign continuing operations . ... ...... ... .. .o oo 102 69 | 107
Foreign discontinued-operations ................. L - — 0.3
. . | | 02 65 110
' Income before inCOmME LAXES . . .. oo er e $38.6 $199 $233

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 created a temporary incentive for United States corporations 10
repamate accumulated income earned abroad by allowing a deduction against United States taxes for an amount
equal to 85% of any. dlv:dends received from controlled foreign corporations. We repatriated $33.6 million in
extraordinary dividends, as defined in the Jobs Creation Act, from our Cartem Wilco aperations and our Ling
Industries, Inc. operations during the quarter ended December 31, 2005. As a result of this repatriation, we expect to
pay $2.3'million of United States taxes. '

We have elected to treat earnings from certain foreign subsidiaries from the date we acquired the operations as
subject to repatriation and we provide for taxes. accordingly. We consider all earnings of our other foreign
subsidiaries indefinitely reinvested in the respective foreign operations other than those we repatriated under the
American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 as extraordinary dividends. As of September 30, 2006, we estimate those
indefinitely reinvested eamings to be approximately $25.6 million. We have not provided for any United States
taxes that would be due upon repatriation of those earnings into the United States. Upon distribution of lhose
earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, we would be subject to both United States income taxes, subject to
an adjustment for foreign tax credits, and withholding taxes payable to the various foreign countries. Determination
of the amount of unrecognized deferred United States income tax liability is not practicable.

Note 13. Retirement Plans
Defined Benefit Pension Plans

We have five qualified defined benefit pension plans with approximately 56% of our employees in the United
States currently accruing benefits. In addition, under several labor contracts, we make payments based on hours
worked into multi-employer pension plan trusts established for the benefit of certain collective bargaining
employees in facilities both inside and outside the United States, Abproximately 35% of our employees are
covered by collective bargaining agreements. Approximately 5% of our employees are covered by collective
bargaining aéreemems that have expired and another 10% are covered by collective bargaining agreements that
expire within one year.

The benefits under our defined benefit pension plans are based on either compensation or a combination of
‘'years of service and negotiated benefit levels, depending upon the plan. We allocate our pension plans’ assets (o
'several investment management tirms across a variety of investment styles. Our Defined Benefit Invesument
"Commitice meets at least four times a year with an investment advisor 1o review each management firm's
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performance and monitor their comphance with their stated goals, our investment policy and ERISA :.tandards Our
pension plans asset allocations at September 30, by asset category, were as follows: g :

' 2006 2005
Equity investment Managers . . ... . ...t utnntnnn e e 0% 66%
Fixed income investment MANAGETS . . . . . ..ottt n it i aae e o 29% 9%
Cash.and cash equivalents. .. .............. S e P I2% »
Alternative investment managers . ... ... T LT _0% _§% ‘
TOUIL . oottt et 100% 100% .

In fiscal 2006, the Defined Benefit Committee and our investment advisor reviewed our investments in the
alternative investment assel class. As a result of this review, we liquidated our investments in the Hedge Fund of
Funds that were part of the. alternative investment asset class. We have maintained a minimal invesiment with a
venture capital fund in the alternative investment asset class.

The objective of our investment policy is to assure the management of our retirement plans in accordance with
the provisions of ERISA and the regulations pertaining thereto. Our investment policy focuses on a long-term view
in managing the pension plans’ assets by following investment theory that assumes that over long periods of time
there is a direct relationship between the level of risk assumed in an investment program and-the level of return that
should be expected. The formation of judgments and the actions to be taken on those judgments-will be dimed at
matching the long-term needs of the pension plans with the expccled long-term performance pdllerns of the various
investment markets,

We understand that investment returns are volatile. We believe that, by investing in a variety. of asset classes
and utilizing multiple investment management firms, we can create a portfolio that yields adequate returns with
reduced volatility. After we consulted with our actuary and investment advisor, we adopted the followmg target
allocations to produce desired performance:

Target Allocations :

2606 2005
Equity managers . ... ... ... e 50-80% 50-80%
Fixed'income managers . . . . . T e P veen. 15-45% 15-45%
* Alternative investments, cash and cash equivalents .. ............. e .. 0-45% 0-45%

These target allocations are guidelines, not limitations, and occasionally plan fiduciaries will approve
allocations above or below target ranges. We adopted our target allocations based on a.review of our asset

allocation with our investment advisor in fiscal 2005. We plan on refreshing our asset allocation study every three to .

five years. In developing our weighted average expected rate of return on plan assets, we consulted with our

investment advisor and evaluated criteria primarily based on historical returns by asset class, and included long-

term return’ expectations by asset class. We currently expect to contribute approximately $13 million to our five
qualified defined benefit plans in fiscal 2007 and expect (o contribute approximately $45 million by the end of fiscal
2008 (unaudited). We use a September 30 measurement date.
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components (m mllllOllS)

Amendments
+ Curtailment gain
Actuarial (gain) loss. . .

.
"-'il "r §

TR

Benefits paid . . ... ...

-

\

Projected benefit obligation at begirining of year......... A e
Service cost
Interest cost on projected benefit obligations. . . ... ........... ... ... ..

Projecl'ed benefit obligation at endof year ....... ... . ... ..l

Fair value of assets at beginning of year . ... . ....... ... .. ... .. ... ...
Actual gain onplanassets . .. ... .. . ... ..

*. Employer contribution .

' 'Beneﬁts pald..;'. C e

Fair value of assets at end of year. . ...... ST et

Funded status. . . ... ..
Net unrecognized loss .

Unrecognized prior Service Cost . ... ... .o it i et

" Net amount recognized

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets consist of:
Pre:paid benefit cost . . .
. Additional minimum liability . .. ....... .. ... ... .... e
Intangible asset ... ...

Accumulated other comprehensive loss. . ... ... .. e

Net amount recognized
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" Our pro;ected benefit obhgatlon falr value of assets and net penodlc pensxon cost mclude the followmg

'_-, YeurEndedSep:embefso, '

2005, -

TS 2006

$3381 $300.] .
95 9.4
18.1 17.7
0.3 —

— (7.3)
(18.2) 29.1
(12.6) (10.9)
335.2 338.1
226.8 208.9

20.8 21.4
20.6 7.4
(12.6) (10.9)
255.6 . 226.8
(79.6) (111.3)
95.0 121:1

22 2.0

$ 17.6 "$ 11.8

$ 17.6 $ 118
(87.9)° (114.4)

3.0 3
T 849 1113
$ 17.6 $ 11.8
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.. The amounts we are_required to recognize in the consolidated statements of income are as follows (in
millions): '

Year Ended September 30,

2006 2005 2004
Service cost ..w ... ... e e T e e L %595 $ 94 § 90
Interest cost on projected benefit obligations . . ... ... ... ... . ..., 8.1 17.7 17.3
Expected return on plan assets. . . .. ... ..o PP C(20.6).  (19.) 0 (16.3)°
Net amortization of actuarial loss .. ..........: e 77 - 711 6.6
Net amortization of prior service cost . ............ EE R 0.1 0.1 —
Curtailment 1088 (£3IN) . .. ..ottt — (0.4) 07
Total company defined benefit planexpense . .................... 14.8 14.9 17.3
Multi-employer plans for collective bargaining employees . .. ... .. e 0.5 0.5 0.5

Net periodic pension cosl ... ... . i $153 §$154 $178

Weighted-average assumptions used in the calculation of pension expense for fiscal years ended:

]

2006 2005 2004
DISCOUNLTALE . . o .ottt e e e e e 5.50% 6.00% 6.50%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets . .. ... ................. 9.00% 9.00% 9.00%

For calculating pension expense in fiscal 2006, our weighted-average assumption for the expected increase in
compensation was 2.75% for the next five years and 3.5% thereafter. Our weighted-average assumption for the
expected increase it compensation levels used to calculate pension expense in fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 was 3% in
each year.

2006 2005 2004

Weighted-average assumptions as of September 30:

DASCOUNE FALE - -« + + .« e v et e et et e e e e e el 5.875% 5.50% 6.00%
Expected long-term rate of retum on plan assets . .. ... . ............... 9.00% 9.00% 9.00%

“Our wei ghted-average assumption for the expected increase in compensation levels as of September 30, 2006,
was 3.0% for the next four years and 3.5% thereafter. Our weighted-average assumption for the expected increase in
compensation levels as of September 30, 2005, was 2.75% for the next five years and 3.5% thereafter. Our
weighted-average assumption for the expected increase in compensation levels as of September 30, 2004 was 3% in
each year.. Our assumption regarding the increase in compensation levels is reviewed periodically and the
assumption is based on both our internal planning projections and recent history of actual compensation increases.
~ We typically review our expected long-term rate of retum on plan assets every 3 to 5 years through an asset
allocation study with either our actuary or investment advisor. Our latest review occurred in fiscal 2005. On
September 30, 2006 we changed the basis for computing our assumed discount rate. The September 30, 2006
discount rate reflects an analysis by our actuary of the projected benefit cash flows from our two largest defined
benefit plans against discount rates published in the September 30, 2006 Citigroup Pension Discount Curve. The
benefits paid in each future year were discounted to the present at the published rate of the Citigroup Pension
Discount Curve for that year. For benefit cash flows beyond 30 years we used the 30 year rate of the Citigroup
Pension Discount Curve. These present values were added up and a discount rate for each plan was determined that
would develop the same present vaiue as the sum of the individual years. To set the assumed discount rate for all
plans, the average of the discount rate for the two largest plans was rounded up to the nearest 0.125%. In previous
years, our discount rate was reviewed annually to reflect the published yield of the Moody’s AA Utility Bond Index
on September 15, founded up to the nearest 0.25%. We changed our discount rate methodology because we feel the
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of the 2000 Retired Pensioners Mortality table’ (“RP-2000 table™) with Zollar adjustments for males;and females.
Previously, we had used the 1983 Group Annuity Mortality table (“GAM-83 table.”) We switched to the RP-2000
table with collar adjustment for males and females because it provides a more accurate representation of the life
expectancy of our work force.”For our two plans covering white collar employees, we used blended blue and white
collar rates to reflect the populations in those plans. For our three plans covering union employees, we used blue

collar rates to reflect the populations'of those plans. The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit

pension plans was $325.? million and $329.3 million at September 30, 2006, and 2005, respectively.

The estimated benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, that we project are as
follows {in millions):

2007 o e $ 129
2008 . L 13.7
2000 e e e e e 14.6
2000 . 15.6
75 16.5
Years 20012 — 2006 . . ... e e e 102.0

Co The retirement plans review committee.of our board of directors reviewed management’s recommendations
“with respect (o certain modifications: -of our retirement beneﬁts and requested that such recommendations, be

* subnitted to the board of directors for approval. On October 29; 2004, our board of directors approved and adopted _

i changés to our 401(k) retirement'savings plans that cover our salaried and nonuriion hourly employees and to our
defined benefit plans that cover our salaried. and nonunion hourly employees (our “pension plan’), We:have
summarized these changes below. The changes were effective January 1, 2005 -and March 1, 2005, based on an
employee’s status on December 31, 2004, The changes resulted in curtailment income of $0.4 million, which we

recognized when we adopled the pension plan changes.

Beginning January 1, 2005, the foilowmg changes were cffective for our salaried and non-union hourly
employees:

+ Effective January 1, 2005, erriployees hired on or after January 1, 2005, are not eligible to participate in our
pension plan. We provide the following enhanced 401(k) plan match for such employees (the “enhanced
401(k} plan match’): .100% match on the first 3% of eligible pay conmbuled by the employee and 50%
match on the next 2% of ellglble pay contributed by the employee

L i .
. Effecuve January 1, 2(_)05, then current emp.loyeelsA who were less than 35 years old and who had less than
5 years of vesting service on December 31, 2004, were no longer eligible to participate:in our pension plan

after December 31, 2004. We will pay pension benefits earned through December 31, 20()4 upon-retirement:

in accordance with applicable plan.rules. We began prowdmg the enhanced 40](k) plan match for such
employees effective January 1, 2005.

* Effective March 1, 20085, then current emp]oyees who were 35.years old or older or who had 5 years or more
of vesting service on December 31,2004, were requ;red 1o elect one of two options: (1) a reduced future
pension accrual based on a revised benéfit: formuila and the current 401(k) plans’ match or (2) no future
pension accrual and'the enhanced 401{k) plan match. In either évent, we will pay these employees pension
benefits earned through February 28, 20035, upon retirement in accordance with apphcable plan rules.

o .69
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In December 2005, we offered a subsequent voluntary election for sataried and nonunion hourly employees
who were participating in the pension plan. This election, which did not result in a curtailment, is summarized
below:

+ Effective January 1, 2006, current employees who were 35 years old or older or who had 5 years or more of
vesting service on December 31, 2004, were allowed to opt for no future pension accrual and the enhanced
401(k) plan match. In the event they chose this option, we will pay these employees pension benefits earned
through December 31, 2003, upon retirement in accordance with applicable plan rules.

401(k) Plans . L e

Ty oy e .

We have 401(k) plans that cover all of our salaried and nonunion hourly employees as well as certain
employees covered by union collective bargaining agreements, subject to an initial two month waiting period.
These 401(k) plans permit participants to make contributions by salary reduction pursuant to Section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). We generally record matching expense, net of
forfeitures, of fifty cents on the dollar for the first six percent for those individuals not participating in the
enhanced 401(k} plan match. Under the enhanced 401(k) plan match, we record matching expense that is dollar for
dollar on the first three percent and fifty cents on the dollar for the next two percent. During fiscal 2006, 2005, and

2004, we recorded expense of $7.4 million. $5.3 million, and $4.5 million, respectively, related to the 401(k') plans.

Supplemental Retirement Plans ‘

We have supplemental retirement savings plans (the *Supplemental Plans™) that are nonqualified unfunded
deferred compensation plans. We intend to provide participants with an opportunity to supplement their retirement
income through deferral of current compensation. These plans are divided into a broad based section and the senior
executive section. The broad based portion was put into effect on January 1, 2006 for certain highly compensated
employees whose 401(k) contributions were capped at a maximurn deferrat rate in the 401(k) plan in an effort to
pass the nondiscrimination tests in those plans. Participants in the broad based section of the plan can contribute
base pay up to a certain maximum dollar amount determined annually. Contributions in the broad based section of
the plan are not matched. Amounts deferred and payable under the Supplemental Plans {the “Obligations”) are our
unsecured obligations, and rank equally with our other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness outstanding

"from time to time. Each participant in the senior executive portion of the plan, elects the amount of eligible base

salary and/cr eligible bonus to be deferred to a maximum deferral of 6% of base salary and 6% of eligible bonus.
The Company matches fifty cents on the dollar of the amount contributed in the senior executive section. Each
Obligation will be payable on a date selected by us pursuant to the terms of the Supplemental Plans. Generally, we
are obligated to" pay the Obligations after termination of the participant’s employment or in certain emergency
situations. We will adjust each participant’s account for investment gains and losses as if the credits to the
participant’s account had been invested in the benchmark investment alternatives available under the Supplemental
Plans in accordance with the participant’s investment election or elections (or default election or elections} as in
effect from time to time. We will make all such adjustments at the same time and in accordance with the same
procedures followed under our 401k} plans for crediting investment gains and losses to a participant’s account
under our 401(k) plans. The Obligations are denominated and payable in United States dollars. The benchmark
investment alternatives available under the Supplemental Plans are the same as the investment alternatives available
under cur 401(k} plans or are, in our view, comparable to the investment alternatives available under our 401(k)
plans. We recorded matching expense of $0.1 million in each of fiscal 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

We have a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (**SERP”) that provides unfunded supplemental retire-
ment benefits to certain of our executives. The SERP provides for incremental pension benefits in excess of those
offered in our principal pension plan: We recorded expense relating to the SERP of $1.0 million, $0.8 million, and
$0.6 million for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. Amounts we accrued as of
September 30, 2006 and 2005 related to the SERP were $3.9 million and $2.9 million, respectively. In November
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2005 the plan was amended to provide ithat, the beneﬁl wnll be pald as a Iump sum for. part1c1pants whose

employment terminates on or after. November; | I; 2005. '

13.1

Note 14, Denvatlves T v e B C e

e '
The following is a summary of the net falr value of both our fi nancnal derivative mstrumems as well as our

physical contracts that qualify as derivatives under SFAS 133 that are outstanding as of September 30 (in millions,

asset / (lability)):

2006 2005

Interest rale ﬁnancml SWAPS L $4.4) $54
Commodny ﬂnancml swaps ...... e 0.1) —
Commodity phys:cal CONTACTS. .+« o oot et i e e 01 ,
e co $(4.4) $54

: .+ Net fair valve of derivati’ve CONMTACES . . ..ottt et
" The fair value of our.'derjvative instruments is generally based on market pricing and represents the net amount
required to terminate the position, taking into consideration market rates and counterparty credit risk. The income
from cash flow hedges, reclassified from other comprehensive income into earnings, as a component of interest
expense, during fiscal 2006 and 2005 was approximately $2.9 million and $0.4 million, respectively. We also
recorded pretax income of $1.8 million and $4.1 million during fiscal 2006 and 2003, respectively, as a component

.+ of interest expense for the amortization of the hedge adjustment from terminated fair value interest rate swaps. We

~ expect 1o reclassify approxlmately $3.0 mllhon to, pre-tax- income from accumulated other comprehensive income
related to various cash flow hedges which will increase earnings during fiscal 2007 Our commodlty f mancml swaps

l
! N -

hedge forecasted physical transactions through November 30, 2008. N LI

We are exposed 1o changes in interest rates as a result of our short-term and long-term debt. We use interest rate
swap instruments to varying degrees from time to time to manage the interest rate characteristics of a portion of our

= . outstanding debt. As part of our strategy to reduce our exposure 10 floating interest rates, prior to June 2005, we paid

$4 3 million to terminate $200.0 million notional amount of long-term fixed-to-floating fair valué'interest rate

- swaps: We are amortizing the related adjustment to the carrying value of the fixed rate debt instrument-to interest -
o expense using the effective interest method over its remaining life. In June 2005 we entered. into $350.0 million

" notional amount, and in September 2005 we entered into $75.0 million notional amount, of floating-to-fixed interest
cash flow rate swaps. We designated the June and September 2005 swaps as cash flow hedges of the interest rate

_exposure on an equivalent amount of our ﬂoatmg rate debt.
o
The June and September 2005 swaps were termmated in February 2006 and new swaps were emered lnto at

that time with notional amounts of $425.0 million. We realized net proceeds of $9.9 million  upon such lermmanom

These new,swaps were terminated in June 2006, We realwed net proceeds of 34, 6 mllhon upon such lermmauons in
June. New swaps, with notional amounts of $390. 0 million were entered into concurrent]y with the terminations in
June. At September 30, 2006 we concluded it was probable that some of the forecasted-transactions hedged by the
termmated swaps would not occur, Accordingly, approximately $0.4 million of deferred income was reclassified
out of accumulated other comprehensive i income into the consolidated statement of income. As.of September 30,

2006, we had swaps in place amounting to a notional amount of $350.0 million. The fair value of these swaps wasa

liability of $4.4 million at September 30, 2006. Subsequent to September 30 2006, we terminated one of these
swaps, w1th a nouonal amount of $100.0 million, at a minimat cost.

Upon termination of these cash flow swaps, any amounts received (or pald) are not 1mmed|ately recogm?ed as
income but are credited (or deblted) to “Other Comprehensive Income/(Lossy -and amortized to earnings — as
interest income (or expense) — over the remaining term of the originally hedged item. The cash received (or paid)
as a result of terminating the hedges is classified, in the statement of cash flows, in the same category as the cash
flows relating to the items being hedged. The amount of ineffectiveness recorded in the results of operations for
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fiscal 2006 and 2005 was minimal. Amounts remaining in Other Comprehensive lncome/(Loss) related to active
and terminated swaps at September 30, 2006 are a pre-tax loss of $4.1 million and pre-tax income of $10.8 million,
respectively.

Note 15. Shareholders’ Equity
Capitalization

Our capital stock consists solely of our Common Stock, which is Class A common stock, par value $0.01 per
share. Holders of our Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share. The Articles of Incorporation also authorize
preferred stock; of which no shares have been issued. The terms and provisions of such shares will be determined by
our board of directors upon any issuance of such shares in accordance with the Articles of Incorporation.

Stock Repurchase Plan

Our board of directors has approved a stock repurchase plan that allows for the repurchase from time to time of
shares of Common Stock over an indefinite period of time. As of September 30, 2006, we had 2.0 million shares of
Common Stock available for repurchase under the amended repurchase plan. Pursuant to our repurchase plan,
during fiscal 2006, 2005, and fiscal 2004, we did not repurchase any shares of Common Stock.

Adap.tion of SFAS 123(R)

We maintain a stock-based compensation plan which allows for the issuance of nonqualified stock options and
restricted shares. We also maintain an employee stock purchase plan that provides for the issuance of shares to all of
our eligible employees at a fifteen percent discount. Prior to fiscal 2006, we accounted for the plans under the
provisions of Accounting- Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”
(“APB 25”). Under APB 25, because all stock options granted had an exercise price equal to the market value
of the stock on the date of the grant, no expense was recognized. In addition, under APB 25, the employee stock

purchase plan was considered noncompensatory and no expense related to this plan was recognized prior to fiscai

20006. Expense related to restricted stock grants was recognized.

Effective October 1, 2005, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123(R). The adopnon of
SFAS 123(R) did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements. We chose the modified
prospective method of adoption in which we recognize compensation expense for the portion of outstanding awards
on the adoption date for which the requisite service has not yet been rendered based on the grant-date fair value of
those awards calculated under SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” for pro forma
disclosures. Compensation expense in fiscal 2005 and 2004 related to stock options and the employee stock
purchase plan continues to be disclosed on a pro forma basis only. In accordance with the modified prospective
transition method, we have netted, for all periods presented, the balance of Deferred Compensation previously
displayed as a component of shareholders’ equity against additional paid-in capital. .

SFAS 123(R) requires that forfeitures be estimated over the vesting period of an award, rather than being
recognized as a reduction of compensation expense when the forfeiture actually occurs. The cumulative effect of the
use of the estimated forfeiture method for prior periods upon adoption of SFAS 123(R) related to the restricted
shares was not materiai.

For the prior year pro forma information we recognized compensaiion cost over the explicit service period (for
retirement eligible employees, this included the period up to the date of actual retirement). Upon adoption of
SFAS 123(R), we recognize compensation cost over a period to the date the employee first becomes eligible for
retirement -for awards granted or modified after the adoption of SFAS 123(R). Awards outstanding prior to the
adoption of SFAS 123(R) will continue to be recognized over the explicit service period. If we had followed the
nonsubstantive vesting provisions of SFAS 123(R) for retirement eligible employees, the impact on pro forma net
income and pro forma diluted earnings per share would have been de minimis.
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'll 35 Due to the adoptlon of SFAS 123(R), in ﬁscal 2006 we recogmzed eombmed cmployee stock purchase plan
expense and stock opuon expense of $0 6 miilion (fiet of $0.4 million income taxes) or $0.02 per dr]uled share

Fod

-

g, . ,_. .
i, 1

“t The followmg chsclosure shows what our net income and eammgs per share would have been’ usmg lhe falr i
: value measurement model under SFAS 123 (in mllllons except per share da[a) oo "
Sl N e . ) ae T .
e o T R L 20050 20040
" . Net income, as reported e e $17.6 5176 R
' f{ . Add: Stock: based employee compensatlon expense mcluded i reported net mcome N s b
. jl i net of related tax effects-. . ..o, e N AU
" Deduct: Total stock- based employee compensatton expense deterrmned under falr SR TRt l
T v 5L value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects. e (49 (3.8), T
- Sy Pro forma. net INCOME. . .o e $13.7 $14.8 ‘ _
f 5' Eammgs per share' o -;_ oy L ‘ ) .
RECT Bds1c——as reported . ... ... P L. 30.50  $0.51
. L BdSlC — pro forma ............ PP $0.39  $0.42
PRI B Hrl : S - T
T Drlute ............................................. $0.49 - $0.50
b Dlluled — Ppro. forrm ................................................. $0.38 ~ $0.42 '
:_‘ :l ;1‘ ! 4 i ] :
i ‘”Stock Opnans' T ) ' . S '
PR l| o S ' , 11 .

o

o ', Our 2004 lncentwe Stock Plan allows for the grantmg of options 1o certain key employees for the purchasé of a
j maximum- of 2 .000,000 shares of Common Stock plus the number of shares which would remain available for
1ssuance under; each preexisting plan if shares were issued on the effective. date of this.plan sufficient to satisfy.
grants then outstandmg, plus the number of shares of Common Stock subject to ‘grants under any preexisting plan

¢ -~ . " which are outstandmg on the effective date of this plan and which are forfeited or expire on or after such. effective

date. Our 2000 Incentive Stock Plan, approved in January 2001, allowed for the granting of options through January

B 2005 to certain key employées for the purchase of a maximum of 2,200, 000 shares of Common Stock. Our 1993

", . Stock Optlon Plan allowed for the granting of options through November 2003 to certain key employees for-the

purchase of a'maximum of 3,700,000 shares of Common Stock. Options that we granted under these plans vest in
mcremenls over.a penod of up-to three years and have ten-year contractual terms. .

T We esnmate ‘at the date of grant, the fair values for the options we granted using'a Black- Scholes option
prwmg mode] We use historical data to’ esumate option exercises and employee termmatrons in detenmrung the .

s ‘expected term in years for stock opuons Expected volatility is calculated based on the ‘historical volatility of our

. stock .The nsk free interest rate is baséd on U.S. Treasury securities in effect at the: date of the grant of the stock

opnons The dmdend yield is: -calculated based on-our historic annual dividend payments
I« !w g i Lot

- We apphed the followmg weighted average assumptlons to stock option grants made in the following periods
and sich assumptions. were used in the calculation of the pro forma data in the table above:

: ' s w5 20
. Expected Term in Years S e T 7 7
2o e CBxpected Volatility . ..o 429% 44.1% 43.8% !
* . Risk-Free.Interest Rate, . .. .. ..ottt L51% 41% 4.1%
Dividend Yield ... .. ... . . .. e -2.6% 2.6% 22%
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The table below summarizes the changes in all stock options during the year ended September 30, 2006:

Weighted
Weighted Average Agpregate
, Average Remaining Intrinsic
" Exercise Contractual Value
Shares Price Term (In Millions)
Outstanding at September 30,2005 ............. 3,986,103 $13.90
Granted .. . ... o 50,000 16.46
Exercxsed ............................ e (653,867) 13.41 -
Expired . ........ ... .. ... .. . ... .. (168,867) 17.85 i
Forfeited . ... ...... e (2,000) 14.01 ‘.
Outstanding at September 30, 2006 . .. ... .... .. 3,211,369 ° $13.83 ° 5.5 years $19.2
Exercisable at September 30, 2006. . ........... 3,125,378 $13.78 5.4 years $18.9

Qptions available for future grant at
September 30,2006 ...................... 1,006,666

Our results of operations for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006 include $0.2 million of compensation
expense for stock options (net of approximately $0.2 million of income taxes). The weighted average grant date fair
value for options granted during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $6.50, $4.47, and
$6.35 pef share, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended Septem-
ber 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $2.7 million, $0.6 million, and $1.1 million, respectively. ’

- A summary of the status of our nonvested options as of Septemnber 30, 2005, and changes during the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2000, is presented below: , : .
- - Weighted

Average
Grant Date Fair
Shares Value

Nonvested at September 30, 2005 ............................. 246,999 $5.75
Granted . . ... R 50,000 6.50
Vested .. e e e (209,008) 5.75
Forfeited. ... ... .. (2,000) 571
Nonvested at September 30,2006 .. .......................... 85,991 $6.19

:

As of September 30, 2006, there was $0.3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost retated to nonvested
stock options; that cost is expected to be recognized over a period of 2.8 years. We amortize these costs: usmg the
accelerated attribution method. The total fair value of shares vested during the fiscal years ended September 30,
2006, 2005, and 2004, was $0.2 million, $2.4 million, and $1.2 million, respectively.

SFAS 123(R) requires that the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost be
reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as required under prior guidance. Excess tax
benefits of approximately $1.0 million were included in cash used for financing activities in fiscal 2006,
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,Restﬁcred Stock

A summary of our anvested restricted stock awards as of September 30, 2005 and changes during the year

“lended September 30, 2006 is presented below:

Weighted
Average
Grant Date Fair
Shares Value
Unvested at September 30, 2005 ... ... ... ... . ... . ... 508,831 $13.55
Granted . . . . e 598,500 13.56
Vested. . .. e e (92,501) [4.24
Forfeited . . .. e e e e — —
Unvested at September 30,2006 . ... ........................ 1,014,830 $13.49

Qur results of operations for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 includes $2.6 million,
$1.7 million and $1.5 million of compensation expense for restricted stock, respectively. The weighted average
grant date fair value for restricted stock granted during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004
was $13.56, $11.32 and $15.42 per share, respectively. The total fair value of restricted stock vested during the years
ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $1.4 million, $1.2 million, and $0.3 million, respectively.

In fiscal 2006, 18,000 shares of restricted stock, which vest over one year, were granted to our non-employee
directors. We will recognize a total of $0.3 million in compensation expense ($0.2 million and $0.1 million in fiscal
2006 and 2007, respectively) in connection with these shares. Additionally, a combined 580,500 shares of restricted
-;tock were granted to certain employees in fiscal 2006. One-third of these shares have a performance condition and

semce coridition and two thirds of the shares have a market condmon and servnce condition. The performance
- |f condmon Wl“ be met upon the uchlevemem of any one of the followmg three criteria: :

. Achlevemem of Credit Agreement Debt to EBITDA (as defined in the Company’s Senior Credn Facility)
i ratio of 4.4 or lower for any trailing 12 months during the service period. .

¢« Reduction of net debt as of March 31, 2005 pro forma for the Gulf States” acquisition by $180 million by
September 30 2007 as adjusted for any subsequent acquisitions or dispositions of busmesses

* Ani mcredse in dlIU{Cd earnings per share, adjusted 10 exciude restructurmg costs, by 15% or more in fiscal
2006 or 2007 over fiscal 2005. "
The market'condmon will be met upon achievement of the following stock price appreciation goals as
measured by the’average New York Stock Exchange closing price for any ten consecutive trading days durmg the
serwce period:

= The condition will be met with respect to one third of the award if the Company achleves a stock prlce of
$18 per share within the vesting period. :

* The condition wil! be met with respect to one third of the award if the Company achieves a slock prlce of
5 $20 per share within the vesting period.

+ The eondmon will be met with respect to one third of the award if the Compdny achieves a stock price of
$22 per share within the vesung period.

The service vesting condition for both'the sharcs with a performance and service condition and a market and
service condition is such that one third of each award will vest at the end of years three, four and five. The shares will
not be deemed issued and will not have voting or dividend rights until the relevant performance or market conditions
have been met. Once the relevant performance or market conditions have been met, the shares will be decemed issued
and will have voting and dividend rights as of that time, but they will be held by the Company and be subject to
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forfeiture if the service conditions are not met. Expense is recognized on the shares granted with a performance
condition and service condition over the explicit service period because it is probable the performance condition
will be satisfied. The shares issued with a performance condition were satisfied subsequent to the end of the fiscal
year because the increase in diluted earnings per share, adjusted to exclude restructuring costs, by 15% or more in
fiscal 2006 over fiscal 2005. We also achieved the Credit Agreement Debt to EBITDA target. Expense is recognized
on the shares granted with a market condition and service condition over the requisite service period which is based
on the longer of the derived service period or explicit service period. Two of the three market conditions were
achieved in fiscal 2006 because the $18 and $20 share price hurdles were met. The 451,503 shares whose
performance and market conditions were met are included in the computation of diluted earnings per share in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, “Earnings per Share” {“SFAS 128”).
. Subsequent to year end, the third market condition of $22 per share was achieved. The fiscal 2006 grants that
contained a market condition and service condition were valued using a binomial model. The significant
assumptions used in valuing these grants were: an expected volatility of 38%, expected dividends of 2. 57% a
risk free rate of 4.95%, and forfeitures of 7.62%. We will recognize a total of $7.9 million in compensation expense
($0.9 million in fiscal 2006, $2.0 million in fiscal 2007, $2.1 million in fiscal 2008, $1.7 million in f'scal 2009,
$0.9 million in fiscal 2010, and $0.3 million in fiscal 2011) in connection with these shares.

There was approximately $9.5 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested restricted
shares as of September 30, 2006 that will be recognized over a weighted average remaining vesting period of
2.86 years. We have restricted shares outstanding granted in fiscal 2002, 2003, 2004, and 2005, each of which vests
upon completion of required service in one third increments on the third, fourth and fifth anniversary of the grant
date. The grants are subject to earlier vesting upon satisfaction of certain earnings improvement criteria speqiﬁc 10
each award in one third increments on the first, second and third anniversary of the grant date. The measurement
date for early vesting of all of these grants is March 31 of the respective year. None of the early vesting periods for
fiscal 2003, 2004, 2005, or 2006 grants have been satisfied, ‘

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

) Under the Amended and Restated 1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Plan’), shares of Commeon Stock

are reserved for purchase by substantially all of our qualifying employees. In January 2004, our board of directors
amended the Plan to allow for the purchase of an additional 1,000,000 shares, bringing the total authorized to a
maximum of 3,320,000 shares of Common Stock. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006, employees
purchased approximately 316,000 shares under the Plan. We recognized $0.6 million expense relating to the Plan
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006 related to the 15% discount on the purchase price allowed to
employees. As of September 30, 2006, approximately 259,000 shares of Common Stock remained available for
purchase under the Plan.

Note 16. Business Interruption and Other Insurance Recoveries

During fiscal 2006, we had a mechanical failure of the white liquor clarifier at our bleached paperboard mill
and a flood at another mill. We received $4.3 million of insurance proceeds, after $3.9 million of deductibles, for
$1.5 million of property damage claims and $2.8 million of business interruption claims. The proceeds from the
property damage claims were used to return certain equipment to its original condition, perform plant clean-up, and
replace other equipment that was damaged in the two events mentioned above. The majority of these recoveries are
reflected in the line item cost of goods sold on our consolidated statements of income. .

Note 17. Related Party Transactions

J. Hyatt Brown, a director of our company, is chairman, chief executive officer and a shareholder of Brown &
Brown, Inc., the insurance agency that brokers a portion of the insurance for our company. During fiscal 2006, 2003,
and 2004, we paid Brown & Brown, Inc. approximately $0.3 million, $0.3 million, and $0.4 million, respectively,
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. “for property and casualty insurance services provided by Brown & Brown, Inc. and by other third parties. Third

pames paid Brown & Brown, Inc. approximately $0.2 million, $0.2 million, and $0.2 million, respectively, for

\ ‘commissions on premiums for insurance purchased by us. For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2006, 2005, and

2004, such payments to Brown & Brown, Inc., inclusive of fees for services and commissions paid, totaled
approxlmdtely $0.5 million, $0.5 million, and $0.6 million, respeclwe]y Total payments for insurance premiums
and fees invoiced through Brown & Brown, Inc. (including amounts not ultimately retained by Brown & Brown,
Inc.) were approximately $4.7 million, $4.8 million, and $4.6 million, in fiscal 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

John W. Spiegel, a director of our company, was vice chairman and chief financial officer of SunTrust Banks,
lnc until August 2004, Mr. Spiegel continued to serve as a non-executive Vice Chairman of SunTrust Bank Holding

.Company, a subsidiary of SunTrust Banks, Inc. (a non-executive position)’ through March 31, 2005. We made

payments o, and had other transactions with, SunTrust Banks, Inc. and its subsidiaries during fiscal 2004.

. Durmg fiscal 2004, we maintained a revolving credit delllly (in which SunTrust Banks, Inc. has a 22.92%
share) under which SunTrust Bank. Atlanta, a wholly owned subsidiary of SunTrust Banks, Inc., served as
agent. We had aggregaté borrowing availability thereinder of $75.0:million through June 2005. As of
September 30, 2004, we had no borrowmgs outsmndmg thereunder.

. D\unng fiscal 2004, we entered into derivative transactions with SunTrust Capital Markets. At the end of
fiscal 2004, we had no derivative transactions in place with SunTrust Capital Markets. :

. -A‘( September 30, 2004, we were a party with SunTrust Banks, Inc. to a letter of credit agreement relating to
indu's:trial development revenue bonds issued on our behalf and relating to aspects of our business. We
discontinued this arrangement in June 2005 when we entered into our new credit facility.

¢ SunTrust Banks, Inc., through one of its subsidiaries, Trusco Capital Management, Inc., managed some of
the assets in our defined benefit plar, which totaled approximately $65.0 million as of September 30, 2004,

» SunTrust Banks, Inc. and its subsidiaries have performed other banking and financial consulting services for
us in fiscal 2004. Our aggregate payments to SunTrust Banks, Inc. and its subsidiaries for these services,
together with all of the other services described above in this section. did not exceed 1% of our gross
revenues during fiscal 2004, or 1% of SunTrust Banks’ gross revenues during its fiscal year ended

December 31, 2003.

Note 18. Commitments and Contingencies

Capital Additions

Estimated costs for future purchases of fixed assets that we are obligated to purchase as of September 30, 2006,
total approximately $11.5 million.

Environmental and Other Matters

We are subject to various federal, state; local and foreign environmental laws and regulations, including,

~ among others, CERCLA, the Clean Air Act (as amended in 1990), the Clean Water Act, the Resource Conservation
* and Recovery Act and the Toxic Substances Control Act. These environmental regulatory programs are primarily
. administered by the US Environmental Protection Agency. In addition, some states in which we operate have
~ adopted equivalent ‘'or more stringent environmental laws and regulations or have enacted their own parallel

" environmental programs, which are enforced through various state adminisirative agencies.

We believe that future compliance with these environmental laws and regulations will not have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. However, our compliance and

" remediation costs could increase materially. In addition, we cannot currently assess with certainty the impact that .
" the future emissions standards and enforcement practices associated with changes to regulations promulgated under -
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the Clean Air Act will have on our operations or capital expenditure requirements.. However, we believe that any:
impact or capital expenditures wnll not have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial
- condition or cash flows.

We have been identified as a potentially responsible party (“PRP”) at 10 active “superfund” sites pursvant to
Superfund legislation. Based upon currently available information and the opinions of our environmental com-
pliance managers and general counsel, although there can be no assurance, we have reached the following
conclusmns with respect to these ten snes

* With respect to each of two sites, whlle we have been 1dem|ﬁed asa PRP our records reflect no ev1dence that
we are associated with the site. Accordingly, if we are considered to be a PRP;we believe that we- should be-
categorized as an unproven PRP.

» With respect to each of eight sites, we preliminarily determined that, while we may be associated with the
site and while it is probable that we have incurred a liability with respect to the site, one of the following
conclusions was applicable:

* With respect to each of six sites, we determined while it was not estimable, the potential liability was
reasonably likely to be a de minimis amount and immaterial.

* With respect to one site, we have preliminarily determined the potential liability was best reflected by a
range of reasonably possible liabilities, all of which we expect 1o be de minimis and immaterial.

+ With respect to one site, we have preliminarily determined that it is probable that we have incurred a
liability with respect to this site. The status of the site is unknown, pending further investigation.

In addition to the above mentioned sites, four of our current or former locations are being investigated under
various state regulations. These investigations may lead to remediation costs; however, we believe any such costs, if
any, would be insignificant. Additional information on the four sites follows: :

+ Contamination was discovered at the time of the GSPP Acquisition at two sites we acquired. We did not
assume any environmental liabilities as part of the acquisition and we believe that we have strong defenses
under applicable laws with respect to any pre-closing environmental contamination.

* One of these sites is one of our former locations that is involved in a clean-up under the state hazardous waste
sites program. Investigations of a few areas of concern are continuing.

= It is belteved that the contamination discovered at one of the sites was due to an oil release by a previbus
owner. The previous owner is obligated to indemnify us for any contamination caused by the oil release.

Except as stated above, we can make no assessment of our potential liability, if any, with respect to any site.
Further, there can be no assurance that we will not be required to conduct some remediation in the future at any of
these sites and that the remediation will not have a material adverse cffect on our results of operations, financial
condition or cash flows. We believe that we can assert claims for indemnification pursuant to existing rights we have
under settiement and purchase agreements in connection with certain of these sites. There can be no assurance that
we will be successful with respect to any claim regarding these indemnification rights or that, if we are successful,
any amounts paid pursuant to the indemnification rights will be sufficient to cover all costs and expenses.

Guarantees
We have made the following guarantees as of September 30, 2006:

* We have 2 49% owunership interest in Seven Hills. The partners guarantee funding of net losses in proportion
to their share of ownership.
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» We lease certain manufacturing and warehousing facilities and equipment under various operating leases."A
substantial number of these leases require us to indemnify the lessor in the event that additional taxes are
assessed due to'achange in the tax law. We are unable to estimate our maximum exposure under these leases
because it is dependent on changes in the tax law: - e

- -“'.. - . e -
TR HANRAR S y

Over the past s everal years we have disposed of assets and/or subsidiaries and have assumed liabilities -

pursuant to asset and stock purchase agreements. These agreements contain various representations and warranties
relating Lo matters such as title to assets; accuracy of financial statements; legal proceedings, contracts; employee
benefit plans; comphance with environmental law; patent and trademark infringement; taxes; and products as well

‘as various covenants. These agreemems may also provide spec1ﬁc indemnities for breaches of representations,

warranties, or covenants and may contain specific indemnification provisions. These indemnification provisions
address a variety of potential losses, including, among others, losses relaled to llabllmes other than Lhose assumed
by the biiyer and liabilities under environmental laws. These mdemmﬁcat:on provnsnons may be affected by various
conditions and external factors. Many of the indemnification provisions issued or modified before December 31,

2002 have explred either by operation of law or as a result of the terms of the agreernent We have not tecorded any
lldblllty for the mdcmmﬁcahom issued or modified before December 31, 2002, and are not aware of any claims or
other- 1nfonmnon that would give rise 10 material payments under such indemnities. Our specified. maximum
aggregate potential liability on an undiscounted basis is approximately $7.8 million, other than with respect to
certain specified liabilities, including liabilities relating to title, taxes, and certain environmental matters, with
respect 1o which: there may be no limitation. We estimate the fair value of our aggregate liability for outstandmg
indemnities entered into after December 31, 2002, including the indemnities described above with respect to which
there are no limitations; to be apprommdte]y $0 1 million. Accordingly, we have recorded a hablllly for that amount’

o
i A

Insurance Placed w:!h Kemper

During fiscal 1985 through 2002; Kempcr [nsumnce Compames/Lumbermens ‘Mutual prov1ded us- wnh
workers’ compensation insurance, auto lldblhty insurance and general liability i insurance. Kemper has made pubilc
statements that they are uncertain that they will be able to pay al! of their claims liabilities in the future. At present,

based on public comments made by Kemper we believe it is reasonably possible they will not be able to pay some or

all of the future liabilitiés associated with our open and reopened claims. However, we cannot reasonab]y estimate .

the amount that Kemper may be unable to pay Additionally, we cannot reasonably estimate the impact of state
guarantee funds and any facultative and treaty reinsurance that may be available to pay such liabilities. If Kemper is
ultimately unable to pay such liabilities; we believe the range of our liability is between approxlmately $0 and
$2 million, and-we are unable to estimate the liability more specifically because of the factors described above.
There can be no assurance that any associated liabilities we may ultimately incur will not be material to our results
of operations, financial condition or cash flows, ' ' ' '

Note Receivable

We have a note payable to and a note receivable from an obligor who has filed for Chapter 11 bankrupicy

protection. We have offset these notes on our consolidated balance sheet for the period ending September 30, 2006.

Based on the terms of the note, we do not believe that it is probable a loss will be incurred. H we ultimately do suffer -

a loss, we believe the loss could range from $0 to $3 million.

Joint Venture Obtiou

Seven Hills commenced operations on March 29, 2001. Our partner has the option to sell us its interest in

-

Seven Hills, at a formula price, effective on the sixth or any subsequent anniversary of the commencement date by

providing notice to purchase their interest no later than two years prior to the anniversary of the commencement date
on which such transaction is to occur. No notification has been received to date. At September 30, 2006, we estimate
this contingent obligation to purchase their interest (based on the current formula) to be approximately $8.1 million
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which woutd result in a current purchase pnce of less than 40% of our joint venture panner s current book net equity
investment.' .
‘ ~: Note 19. Segment Information

We revised our segment disclosures to separately present a new Corrugated segment previously included in the
Merchandising Display segment. The financial statements presented have been reclassified to reflect this revision.

We report four business segments. The Packaging Products segment consists of facilities that produce folding

ot cartonis and interior packaging. The Paperboard segment consists of facilities that manufacture paperboard,
w,_ . corrugated medium;:laminated paperboard products, and facilities that collect recovered paper. The Merchandising
Displays segment consists of facilities that produce displays. The Corrugated segment consists of facilities that

produce corrugated packagmg ‘and sheet stock. Our Paperboard segment consists of our paperboard and recycled
g fiber operating segments. Our Packaging Products segment consists of our Folding Carton and Interior Packaging
operating segments. These operating segments are aggregated because they have similar: economic characteristics,
products and services, production processes, type and class of customers, and distribution methods.

i« Certain operations included in the Packaging Products segment are located in Canada, Mexico, Chile and
Argentina. Our foreign operations had segment income of $10.6 million, $7.5 million, and $10.8 million for fiscal
years ended. September. 30,: 2006, 2003, and 2004, respectively. For fiscal 2006, foreign operations represented
‘approxxmately 8.9%, 8. 3% and 11.6% of 1otal net sales to unaffiliated customers, segment income from operations
.and total identifiable assets, respectively. For fiscal 2003, foreign operations represented approximately 9.8%. 8.7%
‘and. 1 1:9%.0f total net sales to unaffiliated customers, segment income from operations and total identifiable assets,
respectively. For fiscal 2004, foreign operations represented approximately 10.0%, 13.1% and 15.2% of total net
sales to unaffiliated customers, segment income from operations and total identifiable assets, respectively. As of
& 'September 30, 2006, 2005, and 2004, we had foreign long-lived assets of $85.8 mllhon $84.6 million, and

$83 3:million, respectively.

: We evaluate performance and allocate resources based, in part, on profit or loss from operations before income
taxes, interest and other items. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described
above in “Note 1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”. We account for !

“intersegment sales at prices that approximate market prices. For segment reporting purposes, we include our equity
in income (loss) from our unconsolidated joint venture, as well as our investment in the joint venture, in the results
for the Paperboard segment.

Following is a tabulation of business segment informaltion for each of thepast three fiscal years (in millions):
Years Ended September 30,

2006 2005 2004
Net sales (aggregate): C
Packaging Products. .. .. ... ottt $1,267.8 $ 9940 $ 908.1
Paperboard . ... .. ... L 819.7 6154 5399
Merchandising Displays .......................... 233.2 226.3 237.8
Corrugated . .. ..ot 135.7 118.5 89.9
8 0 $2,456.4 $19542 31,7757
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Years Ended September 30,

2006 - . 2005 2004
Less net sales (intersegment):
:+ ‘Packaging Products. . ... .. I A Lee.. 800293 345 35
_“Paperboard 11 ..o L b e B o 2989 2023 01768,
Merchandising Dlsp!ays ............................... 0.1 0.2 0.4
Corrugated . ... ... e 16.4 14.8 13.7 .
Total . e $ 3183 § 2207 § 1944
Net sales (unaffiliated customers):
Packaging Products. . .. ....... ... ... ... ..., $1,264.9 § 990.6 % 904.6
Paperboard . . ©. ot 520.8 413.1 363.1
Merchandlsmg Displays ........ . 2331 . 2261 .- 2374
Corrugated . .' U P 1193 1037 - 76.2.
Tot_al R T P $2,138.1 " $1,733.5 $1;581.3 . .
seément indbtilé; o . , . Ll
Packaging“Prbdums ............... P . % 450 $  334,°$ 380
Paperboard 11 .. 0. ... ... U e 622 31.6 15.7
Merchandising Displays . ...... S 16.4 17.6 240
Corrugated . ... ... ... . e 4.0 . 35 5.1
127.6 86.1 82.8
Restructuring and other costs, net . . ... ........... ... ...... (7.8). - (1.9 (32.7
Non-allocated eXpenses. . . ... oo vt i T (208 (17.8} (12.5)
INETESt EXPENSE L v\ v v e e i e e (55.6) (36.60) (23.6)
Interest and other income (expense) ................. e 1.6 0.5 ©.n
Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries. . ............. ... (6.4) 4.8 ~ (34)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes ... ... ... '$ 386 $§ 199 § 105
Identifiable assets:
Packaging Prbducts ................................... $ 6621 3 6746 $ 5186
Paperboard .. . . ... e e e e 886.3 901.0 498.9
Merchandising Displays .. .........vrrirnnnnn . 158.0 133.0 145.5
Corrugated . .. ... ... 42.7 423 489
Assetsheld forsale. . ... .. .. ..o il R 4.0 34 1.5
COMPOTALE . . . )ttt e e e e e e o 30.9 44.1 70.4
Total ..o e $1,784.0 51,7984 §$1,283.8
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Years Ended September 30,

2006 2005 2004
Goodwill .
Packaging Products. .. ... ... ... . $ 845 $§ 812 § 646
Paperboard . . . ... ... .. 243.4 240.9 2037
Merchandising Displays .. .. .. e 28.7 28.8 28.8
Corrugated . . ........ ..t i i e — — —
Total ...... el 3566 % 3509 $ 297.1
Depreciation and amortization: e |
Packaging Products. . . ... ... ... ... .. . $ 427 $ 375 § 33.1
Paperboard . .. .. .. ... .. 47.6 323 281
Merchandising Displays . ........ ... .. ... ... . ... ..... 6.9 70 6.3
Corrugated .. ... ... ... 39 4.0 3.4
COMPOTALE . . . .o e e e e e . 3.2 3.2 3.3
Total ..o e $ 1043 $ 840 3 742
Capital expenditures:
Packaging Products. .. ... ... . .. $ 275 § 263 $ 368
Paperboard . ... ... ... ... ... ... 29.3. 194 16.6
Merchandising Displays ....... e e e ‘5.0 5.6 5.1
Cormugated ... ..., ... . . e 1.8 1.1 1.4
Cotporate . .. ... e 1.0 1.9 0.9
Total oo e e e e $ 646 $ 543 § 6038

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006 are as follows

{in millions);

Balance as of October 1, 2004, .. . .,

Goodwill acquired. .............. )

Translation adjustment. .. ... ......

Balance as of September 30, 2005 . ..
Goodwill acquired . ..............

Impairment loss. .. ............ X
Translation adjustment. ... ... .....

Balance as of September 30,

2006 . .
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Packaging Paperboard Displays Corrugated Total
$64.6 $203.7 $28.8 $ — 82971
13.8 37.2 — — 51.0
2.8 — — — 2.8
$81.2 $240.9 $28.8 $— . 83509
1.8 25 — — 43
— — (0.1) — (0.1)

, 1.5 — — — 1.5
$84.5 $2434  $28.7 . $— $356.6
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First ~ Second Third | . Fourth

v % Quarter’ " Quarter  Quarter  Quarter
' . _‘ v ‘ (In millions, except per share data)
UNetsales ...t Tl Sl $490.4 $529.7 0 $548.3778569.7.
Grossprofit. ... .o T T %96 T 892 920 10837
Restructuring and other costs,met . ................. Lo s 2.7 0.6
Income (loss) before income taxes. . . ... ............. (12.1) 8.4 12.0 30.3
Net income (Jloss) (a) . . ... ... .. ... . . . .. .. (9.0) 52 11.0 21.5
Basic earnings (loss) per share . .. ... ... ... ........ (0.25) 0.15 0.30 0.59
I;)mill_;ted ealjniqgs (loss) pershare. . .................. (0.25) 0.14 0.30 0.57
oo ' . First Second Third Fourth
2005 . Quarter Quarter  Quarter  Quarter
(In millions, except per share data)
Netsales ... $385.8  $394.4 4246  $5287
. Gross profit ... . ... e 55.0 584 719 89.0
' Reslruclurmg and olher costs, net ... ... R PP 05 2.7 . 0.8 3.5
Income before income taxes . .. ............. [ LT 04N 97 8.1
Net income (b). ..?.‘ ................ [ 05 02 12.0 49
Basic edmmgs petshare . ....... ... ... ... ... ... ... 0.01 0.01 0.34 0.14
Diluted eamings per share. ... ........ e e 0.01 0.01 0.33 0.14

(a} Inthe. Ihll'd quaner of fiscal 2006 we recorded a $3.5 million benefit primarily die to $1.2 million of research
~ and development [ax credns related to prior years, and a $1.1 mitlion tax benefit for a reduction in deferréd tax
liabilities due pnmarlly to recently enacted lower income tax rates in Canada. In the fourth quarter of fiscal
2006, we recorded a state tax benefit of $2.4 million which related primarily to a change in our state effective

tax rate from approximately 4% to 3%. '

(b) In the third quartér of fiscal 2005 we recordéd a $4.6 million benefit resulting from the resolution of historical

federal and slate'mx deductions that we had previously reserved,

We computed Lhe interim earnings per common and common equivalent share amounts as if each quarter was a

discrete period. As a result the sum of the basic and diluted earnings per share by quarter will not necessarily total
' the annual basic'and dnluted earnings per share. We had net losses from continuing operations in the first quarter of

fiscal 2006. In applymg the treasury stock method for that period. the assumed net exercise of options and restricted
awards were excluded, as the effect would have been antidilutive. Options and restricted stock awards for 3.9 million
and 0.5 million shares of Common Stock, respectively, were excluded because their effect was antidilutive. If we did
not have a loss in the ‘period, approximately 0.6 million shares of dilutive stock options and restricted stock awards
would have been included in the denominator in the first quarter of fiscal 2006.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of .
Rock-Tenn Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Rock-Tenn Cempany as of September 30,
2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended September 30, 2006. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule
listed in the index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of Rock-Tenn
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain- reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes exammmg, on ‘a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material r_esﬁects,
the consolidated financial position of Rock-Tenn Company at September 30, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2006, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all
material respects the mformanon set forth therein.

As discussed in “Note I5. Shareholders’ Equity” 10 the Consolidated Financial Slatemenls in 2006, the
Company adopted the expense recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounlmg Standards (“SFAS™)
No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Paymenl”

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accountmg Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of Rock-Tenn Company’s internal control over financial reporting as .of
September 30, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated November 17, 2006,
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

, : - ;énm«:tfm;w

Atlanta, Georgia
November 17, 2006 .
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1. . REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGIS FERED- PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
; L ’ ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING )
The Board of Dlrectore and Shareholders of
Rock Tenn Company

" We have audited management’s assessment, included in the Internal Control Over Financial Reporting:s sectlon
of the accompanying Reporl of Management on Responsibility for Financial Information and for Establlshmg .and
Mz.umammg Adequate Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that Rock-Tenn Company maintairied effective
internal control over finhncial reporting as of September 30, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Com-
mission (the COSO criteria). Rock-Tenn Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal
contrel over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting. Our responsibility is to cxpress an opinion on management's assessment and an opinion on the
effectiveness of Rock-Tenn Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United Stales). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all matertal respects. Qur audit
included obtaining an understanding of intemnal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonablc basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed 1o provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with' generally accepted accounting, pnncnpleﬁ A company’s internal-control over ﬁnanc;al reportmg
includes. those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to Lrhe maintenance of records that, in reasonable detall
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dxsposmonf; of the assets of the company, (2) provxde reasonable

assurance that transactions dre recorded as necessary to pefmit preparation of financial statements in accordance |

with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3)-provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection’of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company s
assets lhdl could have a matenial-effect on the fmancrdl statements. '

an 4

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over ﬁnancm] reportmg may not- prevent , or delect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effecnveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in condmons or that the degree of comphance wuh lhe
policies or procedures may deteriorate. e . . 7

Pl . f

In our opinion, management s assessment that Rock-Tenn Company maintained effectwe 1ntemal contro[ over' .

financial reporting as of September 30, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO, cntena

" Also, in our opinion, Rock-Tenn Company maintained, in all material respects, effective mternal conlrol over
~ financial reporting as of September 30, 2006, based on the COSO criteria.

<

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company.Accounting Oversight | Board

(United S[ales) the consolidated balance sheets of Rock-Tenn Company as of September 30, 2006 and 2005, and :

the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended September 30, 2006, and our report dated November 17, 2006, expressed an unqualified opmlon

thereon, .
Sanet ¥ g LLP

S

Atlanta, Georgia
November 17, 2006
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ROCK-TENN COMPANY

REPORT OF MANAGEMENT ON RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND
FOR ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING ADEQUATE INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
' FINANCIAL REPORTING 1

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

-

" The management of Rock-Tenn Company is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the Consolidated
Financidl Statements appearing in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. The financial statements were prepared in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles appropriate in the circumstances and, accordingly,
include certain amounts based on our best judgments and estimates. Financial information in this Annual Report on
Form IO-KI is consistent with that in the financial statements.

. Intemal Control Over Financial Reporting

ﬁ’ T
Management of our company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over

financial reporting as such term is defined in Rule 13a- 1 5(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange
Act”). Our company’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide rcasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statemenis. Qur
internal control over financial reporting is supported by a program of internal audits and appropriate reviews by
management, written policies and guidelines, careful selection and training of qualified personnel and a written
Code of Business Conduct adopted by our company’s Board of Directors that is applicable to all officers and
employees of our Company and subsidiaries, as well as a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for the Board of
Directors that is applicable to all company Directors:

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements and even when determined to be effective, can only provide reasonable assurance with respect to
financial statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or lhat the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may delerlorale

Management assessed the effectiveness of Rock-Tenn Company s internal control over financial reporting as
of September 30, 2006. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control — Integrated Framework.
The scope of our efforts to comply with the Section 404 Rules of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act with respect to fiscal 2006
included alt of our operations. Based on our assessment, management believes that the Company maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2006.

The Company’s independent auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm,
.are appointed by the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors. Ernst & Young LLP has audited and reported on
the Consolidated Financial Statements of Rock-Tenn Company and subsidiaries, and has issued an attestation report
on management’s assessmeﬁl of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. The reports of the independent registered
public accounting fitm are contained in this Annual Report.
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Audit Committee Responsibility

The Audit Commitee of our Board of Directors, composed solely of directors who are independent in
accordance with the requirements of the New York Stock Exchange listing standards, the Exchange Act and the
Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines, meets with the independent auditors, management and internal
auditors periodically to discuss internal control over financial reporting and auditing and financial reporting
matters. The Audit Committee reviews with the independent auditors the scope and results of the audit effort. The
Audit Committee also meets periodically with the independent auditors and the chief internal auditor without
management present to ensure that the independent auditors and the chief inferrial auditor have free access to the
Audit Committee. Qur Audit Committee’s Report can be found in our proxy statement for the annual meeting of our
shareholders in January 2007.

" IAMES A. RUBRIGHT, o _
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

STEVEN -C. VOORHEES,
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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em 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable — there were no changes in and disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial
disclosure.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and other procedures that are designed with the objective of ensuring the
following:

+ that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act ,
recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC*EfFuléé?’ﬁnHmM
forms; and ;

« that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer (“CEQ") and our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

We have performed an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls
and procedures as of September 30, 2006, under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our CEO and CFO. Based on that evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of September 30, 2006, to provide reasonable assurance that material
information relating to our company and our consolidated subsidiaries was made known to them by others within
those entities before or during the period in which this annual report was being prepared. - :

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls
and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the
desired control objectives, as ours are designed to do. Management also noted that the design of any system of
controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and that there can be no
assurance that any such design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions,
regardless of how remote. Management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit
relationship of possible controls and procedures.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The report called for by Item 308{a) of Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to Report of
Management on Responsibility for Financial Statements and Maintaining Adequate Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting, included in Part 11, Item 8 of this report.

The attestation report called for by Item 308(b) of Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to
Autestation Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Management’s Assessment of Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting, included in Part 11, Item 8 of this report. '

Management has evaluated, with the participation of our CEO and CFQ, changes in our internal controls over
financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended September 30, 2006.
In connection with that evaluation, we have determined that there has been no change in internal control over
financial reporting during the fourth quarter that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.

There have been-no changes to our internal control over financial reporting that occurred since October 1,
2006, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, cur internal control over financial
reporting. : .

88




CEO and CFO Certifications

Our CEO and.CFO have filed with the SEC the certifications reqilired by Section 302 _df the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002 aS'E)ghibils 31.1 and 31.2 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, on February 14, 2006, our
CEO certified to the New York Stock Exchange that he was not aware of any violation by the Company of the NYSE

* corporate governance listing standards as in effect on February 14, 2006. The foregoing certification was

unqualified.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.

PART 111

Item 10, DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The sections under the heading “Election of Directors” entitled “Nominees for Election — Term Expiring
2010, “Incumbent Directors — Term Expiring 2008, “Incumbent Directors — Term Expiring 2009,” “Com-
mittees of the Board of Directors — Audit Comumittee,” and “Codes of Business Conduct and Ethics — Code of
Ethical Conduct for Chief Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers,” and under the heading “Executive
Officers” entitled “Identification of Executive Off cers” in the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of |
Shareholders to be held January 26, 2007 are incorporated herein by reference for information on the directors of the

 Registrant. The section under the heading “Additional Information” entitled “Section 16{a) Beneficial Ownership

Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on January 26,
2007, which will be filed on or before December 31, 2006, is also incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The section under the heading “Election of Directors” entitled “Compensation of Directors” and the sections
under the heading “Executive Compensation” entitled “Summary Compensation Table,” “Option Grants Table,”
“Aggregated Options Table,” “Retirement Benefit Plans” and “Employment Agreement with James A.
Rubright” and the information under the headings “Report on Executive Compensation” and “Stock Price
Performance Graph” in the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on January 26,
2007, which will be filed on or before December 31, 2006, are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information under the heading “Common Stock Ownership by Management and Principal Sharehold-
ers” and the section under the heading “Executive Compensation” entitled “Equity ‘Compensation Plan Infor-
mation” in the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on January 26, 2007, which will
be filed on or before December 31, 2006, are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

. The information under the heading “Certain Transactions” in the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held on January 26, 2007, which will be filed on or before December 31, 2006, is incorporated
herein by reference.

-!tem 14. . PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The sections under the heading “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” entitled “Fees” and
“Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Services by the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in the
Proxy Stﬁicmc_nt for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on January 26, 2007, which will be filed on or
before December 31, 2006, is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) 1. Financial Statements. .

The following consolidated financial statements of our company and our consolidated subsidiaries and the
Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are included in Part 11, Item 8 of this report:

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 _
and2004. ... ... .. e g - 38
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2006 and 2005 . . ... ... .. .. ... 30
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended September 30,
2006, 2005 and 2004 . . . . ... 40
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended September 30, 2006, \
2005 and 2004 . . . e e s 4]
Noltes to Consolidated Financial Statements . . ... ... oo i 43
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ... ... .............. 84
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm On Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting .. . ... .. .. ... . . i i, [ 8BS
" Report of Management on Responsibility for Financial Information and for
Establishing and Maintaining Adequate Internal Control over Financial :
REPOTTNE . .. i 86

2. Financial Statement Schedule of Rock-Tenn Company.
The following financial statement schedule is included in Part IV of this report:
Schedule 11 — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or not required. -

3. Exhibits.

See separate Exhibit Index attached hereto and incorporated herein.

(b) See Item 15(a)(3) and separﬁte Exhibit Index attached hereto and incorporated herein.

(c) Not applicable,
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SIGNATURES

. Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1 5(d} of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has
duly caused this report o be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ROCK-TENN COMPANY

Dated: November 22, 2006 By: /i JAMES A. RUBRIGHT
James A. Rubright
Chairman of the Bourd and
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this R'epoﬁ has been si'gned below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:.

Signature Title Date
fs! JAMES A. RUBRIGHT Director, Chairman of the Board November 22, 2006
" James A. Rubright ~and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

s/ 'STEVEN C. VOORHEES Executive Vice President and - November 22, 2006
Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial Officer)

~ Steven C. Voorhees

/s/  A. STEPHEN MEADOWS Chief Accounting Officer November 22, 2006
A. Stephen Meadows (Principal Accounting Officer)
fs/  STEPHEN G. ANDERSON Director November 22, 2006
Stephen G. Anderson
s/ J. HYATT BROWN Director November 22, 2006
J. Hyatt Brown
/st ROBERT B. CURREY Director November 22, 2006
Robert B. Currey
/sf RUSSELL M. CURREY Director November 22, 2006
Russell M. Currey
/s/ G. STEPHEN FELKER Director November 22, 2006
G. Stephen Felker
/s/ LAWRENCE L. GELLERSTEDT, III Director November 22, 2006
Lawrence L. Gellerstedt, 111
fs/  JOHN D. HOPKINS Director November 22, 2006
John D. Hopkins
/s/  JAMES W. JOHNSON ' Director November 22, 2006

James W. Johnson

/s/  JOHN W. SPIEGEL Director November 22, 2006
John W. Spiegel

/s/  JAMES E. YOUNG Director November 22, 2006
James E. Young
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits

3] — Restated and Amended Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No, 33-73312).

3.2 — Anicles of Amendment o the Registrant’s Restated and Amended Articles of - Incorporation
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Registrant’s Annua[ Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended September 30, 2000).

3.3 — Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2003), i

}_ 4,1 — Credit Agreement daled as of June 6, 2005, among the Registrant; Rock- Tenn Company of Canada;¢
Wachovia Bank, National Association and Bank of America, N.A., acting through its Canada branch, as+

the lenders; Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, a division of SunTrust
Capital Markets, Inc., and Banc of America Securities, as the joint book runners; Wachovia Capital

* Markets, LLC and SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, a division of SunTrust Capital Markets, Inc., as the
joint lead arrangers; SunTrust Bank, as syndication agent; Bank of America, N.A., as documentation
agent; and the following subsidiaries of Rock-Tenn Company. as guarantors: Rock-Tenn Converting
Company, Waldorf Corporation, PCPC, Inc., Rock-Tenn Company, Mill Division, LLC, Rock-Tenn
Packaging and Paperboard, LLC, Rock-Tenn Mill Company, LLC, Rock-Tenn Shared Services, LLC,
Rock-Tenn Services Inc., Alliance Display, LLC, Rock-Tenn Packaging Company, Rock-Tenn
Company of Texas, Rock-Tenn Partition Company, Rock-Tenn Real Estate, LLC, Ling Industries
Inc., 9124-1232 Quebec Inc., Groupe Cartem Wilco Inc., Wilco Inc., and Ling Quebec Inc. (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2005).

4.2 — The Registrant agrees to furnish to the Securities and Exchange Commission, upon request, a copy of any
instrument defining the rights of holders of long-term debt of the Registrant and all of its consolidated
subsidiaries and unconsolidated subsidiaries for which fi nancnal statements are required to be filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission.

43 — Indenture between Rock-Tenn Company and SunTrust Bank, as successor trustee to Trust Company
Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Reglstram ] Reglslmllon Stalemenl on Form 8-3,
File No. 33-93934).

*10.1 — Rock-Tenn Company 1993 Employee Stock Option Plan and Amendment Number One to the Rock-
Tenn Company 1993 Employee Stock Optien Plan {incorporated by reference to Exhibits 99.1 and 99.2,
respectively, to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-77237).

|

‘ *10.2 — Rock-Tenn Company Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan Effective as of October 1, 1994
| (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
‘ year ended September 30, 2000).
|
|
|

*10.3 — 2000 Incentive Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement for
the 2001 Annual Meeting of Shareholders filed with the SEC on December 18, 2000).

*10.4 — 1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan as Amended and Restated (incorporatéd by reference to
Exhibit 99.3 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-77237), as
amended by Amendment No. One to 1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
September 30, 2003), and as further amended by Amendment No. Two to 1993 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2003), and as further amended by Amendment No. Three
to 1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004).

*10.5 — Rock-Tenn Company Annual Executive Bonus Program (incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s
definitive Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of Shareholders filed with the SEC on
December 19, 2001). ’

*10.6 — Rock-Tenn Company Supplemental Retirement Savings Plan as Effective as of May 15, 2003

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Registration -Statement on Form S-8,
File No. 333-104870).




Exhibit

Number : - Descripiion of Exhibits

*10.7 — Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Rock-Tenn Converting Company and James

L. Einstein, dated as of February 21, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the Reglstrant s

Annual Report on Form 10-K for lhe year ended September 30, 2003).

*10.8 — 2004 Incentive Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10:1 to the Registrant’s Current Report
on*Fo;m 10-K filed with the SEC on February 3, 2005).

~ *10)9. — 2005- Shareholder Value Creation Incentivé Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the

Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarier ended June 30, 2005).

10.10 — Amended and Restated Credit and Security Agreement dated as of October 26, 2005 among Rock-Tenn
Financial, Inc., as Borrower, Rock-Tenn Converting Company, as Servicer, the Liquidity Banks from
time to time party hereto, SunTrust Capital Markets, Inc., as TPF Agent and a Co-Agent and Wachovia
Bank, National Assoctation, as Blue Ridge Agent, a Co-Agent and Administrative Agent (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
December 31, 2005).

13.11 — Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement dated as of October 26, 2005 among Rock-Tenn
Company, as Parent, Rock-Tenn Company of Texas, Rock-Tenn Converting Company, Rock-Tenn Mill
Company, LLC, Rock-Tenn Packaging and Paperboard, LI.C, PCPC, Inc. and Waldorf Corporation, as

Originators, and Rock-Tenn Financial, Inc., as Buyer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the

Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2005).
*10.12 — Amendment to Rock-Tenn Company Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan Effective as of

November 11, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report -

on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2005).

*10.13 — Amended and Restated Rock-Tenn Company Supplemental Retirement Savings Plan Effective as of

January 1, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
,  Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2005).

*10.14 — Employment Agreemenl between Rock-Tenn Company and James A. Rubright, dated as of February 6,
2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended March 31, 2006).

10,15 — Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit and Security Agreement dated as of October 25, 2006
among Rock-Tenn Financial, Inc., as Borrower, Rock-Tenn Converting Company, as Servicer, Variable
Funding Capital Company I.L.C, as assignee of Blue Ridge Asset Funding Corporation, Three Pillars
Funding LLC and SunTrust Bank as liquidity provider to TPF, SunTrust Capital Markets, Inc., as agent
for the TPF Group, and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as liquidity provider to VFCC, agent for
the VFCC Group and Administrative Agent.

12— Statement re: Computation of Ratio of Earnings 1o Fixed Charges.
2t — Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
. 23— Consent of Emst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm,
" 31.1 — Certification Accompanying Periodic Report Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002, executed by James A. Rubright, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Rock-Tenn
Company.

. 31.2 — Certification Accompanying Periodic Report Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002, executed by Steven C. Voorhees, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Rock-
Tenn Company.

Additional Exhibits.

In accordance with SEC Release No. 33-8238, Exhibit 32.1 is to be treated as “accompanying” this report

. rather than “filed” as part of the report.

32.1 - — Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursvant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, executed by James A. Rubright, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
of Rock-Tenn Company, and by Steven C. Voorhees, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of Rock-Tenn Company.

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SCHEDULE 11
ROCK-TENN COMPANY

September 30, 2006
(In millions) .
' Ba_]unce: at Charged to Balance at
Beginning Costs and . End of
Description , ~of Period .©  Expenses Other  Deductions Period
Year ended September 30, 2006: o
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts, Returns and S SR -~ )
Allowances, and Discounts. . ............. $5.1 - $24.7° N $—
Restructuring and Other Reserve for Fac1llty ’
Closures and Consolidation . ......0....... 1.6 2.4 — (1.9 21
Deferred Tax Assets — Valuation Allowance. . . 1.7 1.8 — — 3.5
Year ended September 30, 2005: x
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts, Returns and - S .
Allowances, and Discounts ... ............ $6.4 $18.6. $0.9 $(20.8) v $5.1
. Restructuring and Other Reserve for Facility ,
Closures and Conselidation ............... 1.2 2.6 — 2.2y -~ 1.6
_ Deferred Tax Assets — Valuation Allowance . . . . 1.5 0.2 — — . L
Year ended September 30 2004: '
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts, Returns and !
Allowances, and Discounts .. ............. §5.5 $19.4 $— $(18.5) $6.4
Restructuring and Other Reserve for Facrhly ;
Closures and Consolidation .. ............. 0.2 - 34 — (2.4) L2
"Deferred Tax. Assets — Valuation Allowance . . . . 35 2.0 — — 1.5
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION ACCOMPAN?ING PERIODIC REPORT'
PURSUANT TO SECT!ON 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, James A. Rubnght Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer cerufy that
I. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rock-Tenn Company,

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; '

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information intluded in this report,
fmrly present in all matérial respects the financial condition, results of operallons and cash ﬂows of the registrant as
of, and for; the periods presenled in this report; :

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have;

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entilies, pamcularly during the period in
which this report is bemg prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over ﬁnancnal reporting, or caused such mtemal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles; )

{c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter {the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the reg:stram s internal
control over financial reporting; and

1

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors {or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/st JAMES A. RUBRIGHT
James A. Rubright

Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

L)

Date: November 22, 2006

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 302, or other document authenticating, acknowl]-
edging, or,otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written
statement required by Section 302, has been provided to Rock-Tenn Company and will be retained by Rock-Tenn
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.




EXHIBIT 31.2

- CERTIFICATION ACCOMi’ANYING PERIODIC REPORT

* PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
"OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Steven C. Voorhees, Executive Vice Premdem ancl Chief Financial Ofﬁcer certify that:
. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rock-Tenn Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state

a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in tight of the circumstances under Wthh such statements

were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report, .. L

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial mformatlon included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e} and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

‘(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known 10 us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared,

{b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal controi over financial
réporting 1o be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and' the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

{c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)' Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s intemnal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

: (a)‘ All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b} Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Is/  StEveEN C. VOORHEES

Steven C. Voorhees
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
Date: November 22, 2006

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 302, or other document authenticating, acknowl-

edging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written

statement required-by Section 302, has been provided to Rock-Tenn Company and will be retained by Rock-Tenn
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.




-Appendix A

L1

Non-GAAP Measures

We have included in the Annual Report financial ineasures that are not prepared in accordance with GAAP.

* Any analysis of non-GAAP financial measures should be used only in conjunction with results presented in

accordance with GAAP. Below, we define the non-GAAP financial measure, provide a reconciliation of the non-
GAAP measure to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP, and
discuss the reasons that we believe this information is useful to management and may be useful to investors.

Net Debt (as defined)

We have defined the non-GAAP measure “Net Debt” to include the aggregate debt obligations reflected in our
balance sheet, less the hedge adjustments resulting from terminated and existing fair value interest rate derivatives
or swaps, the balance of our cash and cash equivalents, and certain other investments that we consider to be readily
available 1o satisfy these debt obligations.

Our management uses Net Debt, along with other factors, o evaluate our financial condition. We believe that
Net Debt is an appropriate supplemental measure of financial condition because it provides a more complete
understanding of our financial condition before the impact of our decisions regarding the appropriate use of cash
and liquid investments. Net'Debt is not intended to be a substitute for GAAP financial measures and should not be
used as such. Set forth below is a reconciliation of Net Debt to the most directly comparable GAAP measures,
Current Portion of Debt and Total Long-Term Debt, (in millions):

beptember 30, March 31, September 30,

2006 2006 2005
Current Portion of Debt . ... ...................... %408 $928  § 7
Total Long-Term Debt ... .. .0 ... ... . ... ........ 7653 773.3 908.0
' 806.1 866.1 915.1

Less: Hedge Adjustments Resulting From Terminated Fair
Value Interest Rate Derivatives or Swaps. . .......... (10.4) (11.4) (12.3)

Less: Hedge Adjustments Resulting From Existing Fair
Value Interest Rate Derivatives or Swaps. .. ...... ... — — —

795.7 854.7 902.8
Less: Cash and Cash Equivalents ... ........ ... ..... 6.9 (8.1) (26.8)
Less: Investment in Marketable Securities. . . ... ....... —_ — —
NetDebt. .. ... . ... ... . . $788.8 $846.6 $876.0

Credit Agreement EBITDA and Total Funded Debt

“Credit Agreement EBITDA” is calculated in accordance with the definition contained in the Company’s
Senior Credit Facility. Credit Agreement EBITDA is generally defined as Consolidated Net Income plus:
consolidated interest expense, income taxes of the consolidated companies determined in accordance with GAAP,
depreciation and amortization expense of the consolidated companies determined in accordance with GAAP,
certain non-cash and cash charges incurred, expenses associated with the write up of inventory acquired in the GSPP
acquisition to fair market value as required by SFAS 141, charges taken resulting from the impact of changes to
accounting rules related to the expensing of stock options and pro forma GSPP EBITDA calculated giving pro
forma effect to the acquisition calculated in accordance with the methodology applied by the Company in its
financial statements filed with the SEC.

*“Total Funded Debt” is calculated in accordance with the definition contained in the Company’s Senior
Credit Facility. Total Funded Debt is generally defined as aggregate debt obligations reflected in our balance sheet,
less the hedge adjustments resulting {rom terminated and existing fair value interest rate derivatives or swaps, plus
additional outstanding letters of credit not already reflected in debt.
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Our management vses Credit Agreement EBITDA and Total Funded Debt to evaluate compliance with our
debt covenants and borrowing capacity available under its Senior Credit Facility. Management believes that
investors also use such measures to evaluate our compliance with cur debt covenants and available borrowing
capacity. Borrowing capacity is dependent upon, in addition to other measures, the “Credit Agreement Debt/ .
EBITDA ratio” or the “Leverage Ratio,” which is defined as Total Funded Debt-divided by Credit Agreement
. EBITDA.-As of September 30, 2006 and 2005, the Company’s Leverage Ratio was 3.94 times and 4.39 times,
respectively, which.compares to a. maximum Leverage Ratto under the Senior Credit Facility of 4.5 times. Credit
Agreement EBITDA and Total Funded Debt are not intended (o be substitutes for GAAP financial measures and
should not be used as such.

Set forth below is a reconciliation of Credit Agreement EBITDA to net income {in millions):

Twelve Months Twelve Months
Ended Ended
September 30, 2006 September 30, 2005

NetIncome. . ........... . e $ 28.7 $176
Interest Expense and Other Income .. .................. 54.0 36.6
Income Taxes . .......... ... .. ... ivinnn.. e 9.9 L 2.3 &
Depreciation and Amortization ................... L 102:9 - 832 4
Additional Permitted Charges ... ... ... e S 9.9 75 d
_Pro Forma GSPP EBITDA (10/1/04 — 6/05/05) . . ... .... .. i __60.7

Credit Agreement EBITDA . ......................... $205.4 $207.9

vy

GSPP EBITDA Reconciliation

Set forth below is a reconciliation of GSPP EBITDA reconciliation (in millions):

Pro Forma

10/1/04-06/05/05

GSPP EBITDA
Net INcome . .. .. e e $16.7
Interest Expense and Other Income ... ... .. e —
Income Taxes . . .. ... . e 8.4
Depreciation and Amortization. . . .. ... .ot e e e 26.5
Additional Permitted Charges. .. . ... ... .. i e 0.1
Permitted Pro Forma Adjustments . ........... ... ... ... ... ... ... . _ 90
Credit' Agreement EBITDA . ... .. ... .. ... .. ... i $60.7
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-'~--£F0tal Furided Debt
cod

" Set forth below is a reconciliation of Total Funded Debt to the most directly comparable GAAP measures,

Current Portion of Debt and Total Long-Term Debt (in millions):
September 30, 2006

September 30, 2005

Current Portionof Debt. . . ... ... ... .. ... ............ $ 40.8
Total Long-Term Debt. . . ... ... ... .. ... ... ... ....... 765.3
806.1
Less: Hedge Adjustments Resulting From Terminated Fair .
Value Interest Rate Derivatives or Swaps . ... ... ....... (10.4)
795.7
Plus: Letters of Credit. . ... ... ... ... .. . ... . . . ... .. 13.2
Total Funded Debt . ... ... ... .. $808.9

A-3
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